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PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Tuesday, October 10, 2023 
9:00 a.m. or shortly thereafter 

Lihu'e Civic Center, Moikeha Building 
Meeting Room 2A-2B 

4444 Rice Street, Lihu'e, Kaua'i, Hawai'i 

A. CALL TO ORDER
·23 SEP 27 A 7 :45

8. ROLL CALL

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

D. MINUTES of the meeting(s) of the Planning Commission

1. July 11, 2023.

E. RECEIPT OF ITEMS FOR THE RECORD

F. HEARINGS AND PUBLIC COMMENT

1. Continued Agency Hearing

a. None for this Meeting.

2. New Agency Hearing

a. AMENDMENT TO SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-83-4), CLASS IV

ZONING PERMIT Z-IV-83-27, and USE PERMIT U-83-17 to allow a modification to

Condition No. 24 that would allow permanent use of the outdoor dining expansion area

on a parcel situated on the makai side of Lawa'i Road, commonly known as The Beach

House Restaurant, further identified as 5022 Lawa'i Road, Tax Map Key: 2-6-005:011,

containing a total area of 34,900 square feet = IP2 {OBA. THE BEACH HOUSE

RESTAURANT).

1. Email (8/29/2023) from Erica Dunn, General Manager, The Beach House

transmitting the Semi-annual Report on Decibel Readings for all Special Events

Held on the Lawn of the Beach House.

2. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

b. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-1) to allow construction of a

new single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the

along the mauka side of Kuhio Highway in Wainiha, situated at its intersection with

Makamae Place, and further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-8-012:027, containing an

area of approximately 10,492 square feet= MICHAEL SCHEIDLER.

1. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.
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c. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-2) to allow reconstruction of a

new single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the

along the makai side of Weke Road in Hanalei Town, situated approximately 350 feet

east of its intersection with Maiolo Road, and further identified as 5252 Weke Road, Tax

Map Key: (4) 5 5-002:007, containing an area of approximately 54,667 square feet= HALE

KAUAI TRUST.

1. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

d. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-3) to allow construction of a

new comfort station and associated site improvements within the Ha'ena State Park in

Ha'ena, along the makai side of Kuhio Highway, further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-

9-008:001 and containing a total area of 50.38 acres= STATE OF HAWAII, DEPARTMENT

OF LAND & NATURAL RESOURCES.

1. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

2. Transmittal of Agency Comments to Planning Commission.

3. Continued Public Hearing

a. None for this Meeting.

4. New Public Hearing

a. None for this Meeting.

G. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Status Reports

a. None for this Meeting.

2. Director's Report for Project(s) Scheduled for Agency Hearing

a. None for this Meeting.

3. Class Ill Zoning Permits

a. None for this Meeting.

H. GENERAL BUSINESS MATTERS

1. Applicant's request to amend Condition No. 1 of Class IV Zoning Permit Z-IV-2020-7 and Use

Permit U-2020-6 to allow construction of an additional farmworker housing unit on a parcel

situated on the makai side of Koolau Road in Moloaa, situated approximately ½-mile east of its

intersection with Kuhio Highway and further identified as 6020 Koolau Road, Tax Map key: 4-9-

009:012, CPR Unit 71 and affecting an area approximately 5.225 acres of a larger parcel= JOSEPH

SCHWARTZ.

a. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.
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J. COMMUNICATION

1. None for this meeting.

K. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. Subdivision Committee Report

L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS (For Action)

1. None for this Meeting.

M. NEW BUSINESS (For Action)

1. AMENDMENT TO SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U}-83-4), CLASS IV ZONING
PERMIT Z-IV-83-27, and USE PERMIT U-83-17 to allow a modification to Condition No. 24 that
would allow permanent use of the outdoor dining expansion area on a parcel situated on the
makai side of Lawa'i Road, com.mo_nly known as The Beach House Restaurant, further identified
as 5022 Lawa'i Road, Tax Map Key: 2-6-005:011, containing a total area of 34,900 square feet=
lP2 (OBA. THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT).

a. Email (8/29/2023) from Erica Dunn, General Manager, The Beach House transmitting the
Semi-annual Report on Decibel Readings for all Special Events Held on the Lawn of the
Beach House.

b. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

2. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-1) to allow construction of a new
single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the along the
mauka side of Kuhio Highway in Wainiha, situated at its intersection with Makamae Place, and
further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-8-012:027, containing an area of approximately 10,492
square feet= MICHAEL SCHEIDLER.

a. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

3. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-2) to allow reconstruction of a new
single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the along the
makai side of Weke Road in Hana lei Town, situated approximately 350 feet east of its intersection
with Maiolo Road, and further identified as 5252 Weke Road, Tax Map Key: (4) 5 5-002:007,
containing an area of approximately 54,667 square feet= HALE KAUAI TRUST.

a. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.

4. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-3) to allow construction of a new
comfort station and associated site improvements within the Ha'ena State Park in Ha'ena, along
the makai side of Kuhio Highway, further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-9-008:001 and
containing a total area of 50.38 acres= STATE OF HAWAII, DEPARTMENT OF LAND & NATURAL

RESOURCES.

a. Director's Report Pertaining to this Matter.
b. Transmittal of Agency Comments to Planning Commission.
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N. EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes Sections 92-4 and 92-5(a)(4), the purpose of this executive session 
is to consult with the County's legal counsel on questions, issues, status, and procedural matters. This 
consultation involves consideration of the powers, duties, privileges, immunities, and/or liabilities of the 
Commission and the County as they relate to the following matters: 

1. AMENDMENT TO SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-83-4), CLASS IV ZONING
PERMIT Z-IV-83-27, and USE PERMIT U-83-17 to allow a modification to Condition No. 24 that
would allow permanent use of the outdoor dining expansion area on a parcel situated on the
makai side of Lawa'i Road, commonly known as The Beach House Restaurant, further identified
as 5022 Lawa'i Road, Tax Map Key: 2-6-005:011, containing a total area of 34,900 square feet=
IP2 (DBA. THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT).

2. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-1) to allow construction of a new
single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the along the
mauka side of Kuhio Highway in Wainiha, situated at its intersection with Makamae Place, and
further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-8-012:027, containing an area of approximately 10,492
square feet= MICHAEL SCHEIDLER.

3. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-2) to allow reconstruction of a new
single-family dwelling unit and associated improvements on a parcel situated at the along the
makai side of Weke Road in Hana lei Town, situated approximately 350 feet east of its intersection
with Maiolo Road, and further identified as 5252 Weke Road, Tax Map Key: (4) 5 5-002:007,
containing an area of approximately 54,667 square feet= HALE KAUAI TRUST.

4. SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA USE PERMIT (SMA(U)-2024-3) to allow construction of a new
comfort station and associated site improvements within the Ha'ena State Pa·rk in Ha'ena, along
the makai side of Kuhio Highway, further identified as Tax Map Key: (4) 5-9-008:001 and
containing a total area of 50.38 acres= STATE OF HAWAII, DEPARTMENT OF LAND & NATURAL

RESOURCES.

5. Applicant's request to amend Condition to amend Condition No. 1 of Class IV Zoning Permit Z-IV-
2020-7 and Use Permit U-2020-6 to allow construction of an additional farmworker housing unit
on a parcel situated on the makai side of Koolau Road in Moloaa, situated approximately ½-mile
east of its intersection with Kuhio Highway and further identified as 6020 Koolau Road, Tax Map
key: 4-9-009:012, CPR Unit 71 and affecting an area approximately 5.225 acres of a larger parcel
= JOSEPH SCHWARTZ.

N. ANNOUNCEMENTS

1. Topics for Future Meetings.

The following regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., or
shortly thereafter, on October 24, 2023. The Planning Commission anticipates this meeting to
be held in-person at the Lihu'e Civic Center, Moikeha Building, Meeting Room 2A-2B, 4444 Rice
Street, Lihu'e, Kaua'i, Hawai'iThe Commission will announce its intended meeting method via an
agenda electronically posted at least six days prior to the meeting date.

0. ADJOURNMENT
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DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING 

KA'AINA HULL, DIRECTOR

JODI A. HIGUCHI SAYEGUSA, DEPUTY DIRECTOR

DEREK S.K. KAWAKAMI, MAYOR 

MICHAELA. DAHILIG, MANAGING DIRECTOR 

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA (SMA) Minor Determinations 

Date (Action) SMA Minor Permit Location (TMK) Activity/ structure 

number 

Approved SMA(M)-2024-3 Princeville to Waikoko, Mile Construction/New sidewalks, 

(9.11.2023) post 0.0 to Mile Post 4.5 of raised crosswalks, crosswalk 

KOhi6 Highway. alert lighting, guardrails, and 

other associated 

improvements. 
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Pursuant to Section 8-27.8 (6) of the Kaua'i County Code (1987), as amended, the following shoreline setback 

determinations by the Director are disclosed for purposes of public notification. 

October 10, 2023 

SHORELINE SETBACK DETERMINATIONS 

Application Name of Applicant(s) Property I.D. Location Development/Reasons 

No. (Tax Map Key) 

SSD-2024-15 County of Kauai, DPW (4) 4-1-003:044 Kapa'a Repair and renovations 

installing new emergency 

generator, flood proofing, 

and repairing of existing 

buildings./ Required setback 

88 feet. The project is 

located approximately 433 

feet from evidenced 

shoreline. 

SSD-2024-16 Naeun Marx (4) 4-3-002:013 0074 Kapa'a Repair-Replacement of glass 

sliding door/ Cost of work 

are considered not to be 

substantial per DPW letter 

dated 3.16.2023. 

SSD-2024-17 Kathleen M. Betor-Barnes (4) 4-3-002:013 0183 Kapa'a Repair-Replacement of glass 

sliding door/ Cost of work 

are considered not to be 

substantial per DPW letter 

dated 2.28.2023. 

SSD-2024-18 Feryat Hiaasen- Steven (4) 2-6-012:004 0002 K6Ioa Renovation of kitchen and 

Newman bathroom./ Cost of work are 

considered not to be 

substantial per DPW letter 

dated 5.16.2022. 
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KAUA`I PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

July 11, 2023 
DRAFT 

The regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the County of Kaua'i was called to order by Vice     
Chair Apisa at 10:46 a.m. - Webcast Link:  https://www.kauai.gov/Webcast-Meetings 

The following Commissioners were present: 

       Ms. Donna Apisa 
            Ms. Glenda Nogami Streufert 

        Mr. Jerry Ornellas  
          Ms. Lori Otsuka 

Excused or Absent 

          Mr. Gerald Ako             
          Ms. Helen Cox 
      Mr. Francis DeGracia 

The following staff members were present: Planning Department – Director Ka'aina Hull, Deputy 
Director Jodi Higuchi Sayegusa, Staff Planner Dale Cua, Romio Idica, Kenny Estes, Shelea Koga, and 
Planning Secretary Shanlee Jimenez; Planning Staff Kristen Romuar-Cabico, Office of the County 
Attorney – Deputy County Attorney Laura Barzilai, Office of Boards and Commissions – Support Clerk 
Lisa Oyama. 

Discussion of the meeting, in effect, ensued: 

CALL TO ORDER 

Vice Chair Donna Apisa: Call the meeting to order.  

Planning Director Ka'aina Hull: Good morning, Madam Chair, and members of the Commission. Roll 
call, Commissioner Streufert? 

Commissioner Glenda Streufert: Here. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioners Otsuka? 

Commissioner Lori Otsuka: Here. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Ornellas? 

Commissioner Jerry Ornellas: Here. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Cox, Commissioner Ako, and Commissioner DeGracia are excused. Chair 
Apisa? 

D.1.
October 10, 2023

https://www.kauai.gov/Webcast-Meetings
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Commissioner Donna Apisa: Here. 

Mr. Hull: You have a quorum, Madam Chair. Next, up would be the approval of the agenda. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Vice Chair Apisa: We require an amendment to the agenda, to take J. Subdivision Committee Report after 
E. Receipt of Items for the Record. May I please have a motion to amend?

Ms. Streufert: I move to amend the agenda as stated. 

Ms. Otsuka: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: All in favor. Voice vote please. Aye (unanimous voice vote). Motion carried. 4:0.  

MINUTES of the meeting(s) of the Planning Commission 

Vice Chair Apisa: We have minutes of the April 11, 2023, meeting. Do we have a motion for approval? 

Mr. Ornellas: Move for approval. 

Ms. Streufert: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: All in favor? Voice vote. Aye (unanimous voice vote). Minutes are approved for the 
April 11, 2023, meeting. 4:0. There are no Receipt of Items for the record.  

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Vice Chair Apisa: Item J. Subdivision Committee Report, the Subdivision Committee Report is as 
follows; with regard to Item J.1.a. S-2021-7, 5425 Pa'u A Laka, your committee refers to the full 
commission the consideration of the Friends of Māhā'ulepū and Save Koloa's Petition to Intervene and 
after the petition is disposed of further request your approval or dismissal of the Committee’s motion to 
defer this item if the deferral remains relevant. Item No. 2, with regard to J.1.b. S-2022-6, Kukui'ula 
Development Company, LLC., and MP Kaua'i HH Development Fund, LLC., the Committee passed a 
motion to grant deferral, pending a legal opinion of the Office of the County Attorney, and No. 3., with 
regard to J.1.b.1., BBCP Kukui'ula Development, LLC., the Committee passed a motion to grant a 
Preliminary Subdivision Map Approval. I now asked for a motion to approve the Subdivision Committee 
Report. 

Ms. Streufert: Madam Chair, can I ask a question?  

Vice Chair Apisa: Yes, please. 

Ms. Streufert: Does this mean that they would be both together? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Three of them. 

Ms. Streufert: In one motion. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Yes, this would be a motion to approve the entire Subdivision Committee Report. 

Ms. Streufert: I move to accept the Subdivision Committee Report. 



3 

Vice Chair Apisa: To approve it. 

Ms. Streufert: To approve it. 

Ms. Otsuka: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Any discussion on it? All in favor. Voice vote, I believe would be appropriate. We have 
a motion, so all in favor. Aye (unanimous voice vote). Motion carried. 4:0. The Subdivision Committee 
Report is approved. 

HEARINGS AND PUBLIC COMMENT 

Continued Agency Hearing 

CLASS IV ZONING PERMIT (Z-IV-2023-9) and USE PERMIT (U-2023-6) to allow 
installation of security fencing, wastewater and associated site improvements at the base 
yard facility in Lihue, situated along the western side of Wehe Road and immediately 
adjacent to the County Department of Water, further identified as 4398 Pua Loke Street, 
Tax Map Key: (4) 3-8-005:002 and containing a total area of 7.319 acres = State of 
Hawai'i, Department of Land & Natural Resources (DLNR), Division of Forestry 
and Wildlife (DOFAW). [Director's Report Received 3/28/2023; deferred 4/11/2023]. 

Mr. Hull: This is the Agency Hearing. No one signed up to testify on this agenda item. If anyone would 
like to testify on this agenda item, please approach the microphone. 

Ms. Bridget Hammerquist: Excuse me Ka'aina, we couldn’t understand any of that. 

Mr. Hull: This is the Agency Hearing for the Department of Land and Natural Resources base yard in 
Līhu'e. If anyone would like to testify on this agenda item, please approach the microphone. Hearing 
none, the Departments recommendation ultimately is to, and we’ll hear it later on in the agenda, is to keep 
this agency hearing open, pending Public Works and the Housing Agency's comments we receive. 
(Inaudible) Department would recommend deferring this agenda item, for up to 90 days.  

Deputy County Attorney Laura Barzilai: The motion can be received now. 

Mr. Hull: Yes. 

Ms. Otsuka: Is it like a 2-parter? I (inaudible) say, keep the Agency Hearing open, and defer? 

Mr. Hull: The Department is recommending a motion be made for deferral to keep the Agency Hearing 
open, up to 90 days. 

Ms. Otsuka: Motion to defer and keep Agency Hearing open for 90 days on CLASS IV ZONING 
PERMIT (Z-IV-2023-9) and USE PERMIT (U-2023-6). 

Mr. Ornellas: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Do we need clarification that it’s up to 90 days. It doesn’t have to be exact. 

Mr. Hull: Yeah, it would be up to 90 days or unless the comments are received ahead of time. But I think 
that was implicit and (inaudible) the Department would interpret, should we get comments ahead of time. 
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Vice Chair Apisa: So, that was the intent of the motion that it’s up to 90 days. Is that correct? 

Ms. Otsuka: Yes, up to 90 days. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Alright. Thank you. We have a second. 

Ms. Otsuka: Yes. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Ornellas seconded the motion. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We have a motion on the floor. Is there any discussion? Hearing none, I would like to 
take a roll call vote.  

Mr. Hull: Roll call, Madam Chair. Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Ornellas? 

Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioners Cox, Ako, and DeGracia are excused. Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Motion passes, Madam Chair. 4:0. Next, we have New Agency Hearing. 

New Agency Hearing 

AMENDMENT TO CLASS IV ZONING PERMIT (Z-IV-2006-27), USE PERMIT (U-
2006-26), and PROJECT DEVELOPMENT USE PERMIT PDU-2006-25 to allow a 
modification to Condition No. 26 relating to drainage requirement for a development 
situated on the western side of Kiahuna Plantation Drive in Po'ipu, situated at the Pau A 
Laka Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive intersection and further identified as 5425 Pau A 
Laka Street, Tax Map Key: 2-8-014:032, and containing a total area of 27.886 acres = 
MERIDIAN PACIFIC (formerly Kiahuna Poipu Golf Resort, LLC.) 

Mr. Hull: For this we do have a, 2 Petitions for Intervention. We’re going to take public testimony before 
I turn it over to the Chair, and the County Attorney to go through the process of the intervention request. 
So, at this time…Randall, I can’t read the last name. 

Ms. Otsuka: Oh, Francisco. Randall Francisco. 

Mr. Hull: Randall Francisco? 

Woman from public audience: I think he left. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I think he left already. 
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Mr. Hull: Next, we have Bonnie Bator. If you could state your name for the record. Three minutes for 
testimony. 

Ms. Bonnie Bator: Bonnie Bator. Been here, last 50 years. I oppose this, we oppose this for common 
sense (inaudible). Guess you guys don’t understand that concept. You only understand money. We’re for 
the record, auwē, no ho'i e. What about the keiki, what about the Hawaiians, the kānaka maoli? What 
about the working-class people? Go get that money! Woo-hoo!  

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up Elizabeth Okinaka. 

Ms. Elizabeth Okinaka: Aloha, Commission. Elizabeth Okinaka for the record. I’d like to opposition 
against this development. Once again, I would like to bring forward the fact that I have been on site and 
have personally witnessed this developer, desecrate culturally significant sites. There are three burial 
mounds that were present on this property. There was an ongoing lawsuit that has had to do with this 
development, and it's been an ongoing issue with the Planning Commission. Before any of this came 
forward, I contacted Ka'aina, Jody, and I came forward with my concerns and it's been an ongoing issue. 
Once again, this developer is trying to bypass the drainage, they’ve tried to bypass a traffic plan and 
before that they bypassed their biological and or archaeological, and I say bypass because there may be a 
full archaeological survey on record, but I will testify to the fact that that was never completed, it's not 
legitimate. That property was inaccessible, and I was on site when Missy Kamai conducted her field 
survey. She told me she saw the remnants of a heiau. She saw the burial mounds and she saw the spring. 
She told me that the property would have to be cleared by hand and have a full archeological team do a 
survey. That never happened. The micro blasting happened before they ever had hired a biologist and they 
submitted a draft biological report in which the Public Works gave them a grading permit. So, I asked you 
guys to please think. These conditions have not been met here and they're not being met and they're 
continually coming forward asking for these extensions because they will never meet these conditions. 
They can never meet their biological condition because they've destroyed critical habitat for two 
endangered species. Kōloa cave ecosystem is one of the ten most endangered cave ecosystems in the 
world. This cave that is directly behind this property, is feet away. There's another cave that is directly 
feet from this property. I ask you guys to please realize that this developer is continuing to desecrate a 
place of worship and a burial site. Chief Palikua is buried here. We came forward and we registered his 
burial. The developer walked the property with me, and he told me that the caves were nothing and he 
didn't care and that the caves on Kaua'i were nothing compared to the ones on the Big Island where he 
was from. These are the developers that are coming here and laughing at our cultural resources. Kōloa 
field system produce so much food that 60,000 barrels of sweet potato were shipped to feed gold miners 
in California. These fields sped generations of family. There is still spring water, there are still cultural 
resources and still burial sites on this property, and I ask you to please stop letting these billionaires 
bypass these conditions. Mahalo. 

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up Ricky Cassiday. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I would just like to remind everybody that we're taking testimony now on the petition 
to intervene. 

Mr. Ricky Cassiday: Is it the intervention or is it… 

Mr. Hull: No, this…sorry for the confusion. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Sorry, I withdraw my comment. 

Mr. Hull: Ricky, your time to speak would be now. 
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Vice Chair Apisa: Yeah, sorry. Thank you. 

Mr. Ricky Cassiday: And explain again what I’m testifying on, please. 

Mr. Hull: This is the Agency Hearing for the request to amend Condition No. 26 of the subject permits. 

Mr. Cassiday: So, it has to do with the drainage? 

Mr. Hull: The drainage condition. 

Mr. Cassiday: Oh. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Yeah, this is not the petition to intervene at this time. 

Mr. Cassiday: Okay. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Cassiday: Aloha, my name is Ricky Cassiday, Paul Richard Kaunahoakalani Cassiday Jr. I am a self-
employed market researcher, who has worked with, over the 20 years any number of public, private 
agencies, including the County of Kaua'i, which was very grateful when I showed that the rental rates 
here were much higher than what HUD in Washington thought, and it resulted in benefit to the county 
where they raise the HUD approved rates. Affordable housing is, I'm sorry, a passion, when Mauna Kea 
just said what he had to say, I will relate my, to his remarks. If you guys want affordable housing, you 
have to get into the political process, but I’m here to speak about draining. I do know about drainage in 
the sense that, my great grandmother has the Ka Loko Reservoir and aquifer, and the family is taking care 
of it, to some extent for a long time. To my mind to the issue here, of getting somebody do a drainage 
study, it's a good thing, it's better information. I don't (inaudible) opposition or favoritism with stopping 
the development, I just looked straight ahead. Having said that, I did a economic and fiscal benefit study. 
I've done it many, many times in my life and I wanna note that if this project goes forward, it could 
contribute on an annual basis over 1.5%, of the county's operating budget and that can help a lot of 
homeless, that can sustain a lot of families, and that will disappear if it doesn't go forward. It's not unique 
to this project. There's other projects you need to use your discretion as to whether it's appropriate given 
the circumstances, and the rest of it. I thank you for your time and your service because it is not easy. If 
you have any questions, I'm happy to answer them. I should mention yes, in those 30 years, well 15 years 
ago I worked for Gary Pinkston at the recommendation of Gentry Homes, which did a thousand homes 
one year and we produced 300 of them as affordable. I see my time is up, sorry. 

Mr. Hull: Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up, Stephanie Iona. 

Unknown woman from public audience: (Inaudible). 

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up, Tristen Daniel. If you can state your name for the record and you have 
three minutes for testimony. 

Ms. Tristan Daniel: Tristan Daniel. Thank you, guys, again, for listening to testimony. I just want to, 
seeing different developments in my past. We all know the drainage is very important. I think all of us 
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have seen the travesty that comes from not paying attention to where the drainage goes. Ka Loko Dam 
was really a sad state of affair. The reservoirs that I walked, with the Knudsen Trust there was a very, 
very big concern with those, and I was actually one of the ones on the top of the list to call, if there were 
going to be any problems or extra rain. It's my understanding that there is no drainage. I can't remember 
what it's called right now, but it sounds like it's going into the heiau, which is a no-no. So, I really think 
that everybody should look and see where the drainage is going, who it's gonna affect as it rolls, and who 
it could devastate. And again, I did walk these properties, (inaudible) the Knudsen Trust. I did see all that 
everyone was talking about. There was a site plan that showed the cultural spaces, it was in the trust 
(inaudible), and it was at one point with Coldwell Banker. I actually pulled some of my old files when I 
was working with Coldwell Banker to see if I can go back through and find, because the trust was actually 
shocked that Coldwell Banker had documents that even the trust didn't have. So, and I was the main 
person that worked with the trust during that time. So, I'm going back through my records to see what I 
might have, to submit. But, in the meantime, I do want everyone to know that it's very important to 
understand there's been devastation to cultural sites and the lava tubes, there's things that have happened 
in California and possibly here, sink holes, development happening over places like this that later it 
crumbles in, so, all of these things need to be taken into account. Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up, Leilani Kaleiohi. I can’t quite read the last name, but Leilani. If you 
could state your name again, for the record and you have three minutes for testimony. 

Ms. Leilani Kaleiohi: Leilani Kalilimoku Kaleiohi. I am a descendant of Kalalau Valley and with relating 
to this drainage here, and seeing what damage has already been done to that area, affects this drainage 
perspective, because…have you been there and have you seen the pounding on the earth to make it flat 
enough for (inaudible) or whatever to stand up. All the explosion that destroyed everything all around. 
And you think this thing is just gonna be working real well. They're working with a whole different, a 
whole different layout then it was before. Including the desecration of our cultural site, the complete 
desecration of our cultural site. You know, I am concerned for folks that maybe making all this money to 
go in this kind of place, but I cannot guarantee that would, how they went about to do this, the pounding 
and pounding of the earth that, desecrated and broke our burials there, and killing, yes, it did kill many of 
the indigenous species that was there, and how we can continue to move forward with even further 
discretion without further investigation, because this kind of drainage can collapse a building, for sure. As 
we’ve seen in other places around the world, and so, that is my perspective on this, aside from the fact 
that I’m still really pissed off (inaudible) destroys so much of our kūpuna burials in that area, just by 
doing that pounding every day, every hour. That’s exactly how it felt that pounding in our hearts. And 
you know, affordable housing, hey great, but I’ve been waiting till October to get into affordable housing. 
Thank you for those who tried to do something preliminary, but it's not working. They are all above HUD 
level, and I'm HUD level. I have no place to go. Mahalo. 

Mr. Hull: Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: Net, we have signed up, Malia Chun. Malia Chun? Next, we have signed up, Bridget 
Hammerquist. 

Ms. Bridget Hammerquist: Good morning, Bridget Hammerquist from Kōloa, Kaua'I, and I don't know 
that people realize that at some point in time in the past, this particular lower half of 2-8-14;32 was the 
sponge for this development, it accepted and received waters from the Wainani Development in the form 
of actually rather large concrete culverts, that are this big  around and, those culverts carry water from 
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Wainani, from the extra run off from concrete of that development. They carry water from the golf course 
and a little bit from the adjacent Kiahuna Golf Village properties, and the culverts run across the 
Pinkston/Meridian Pacific parcel, and they have a large culvert in the lower southeast portion, and it 
carries water under Kiahuna Plantation Drive and lets it out adjacent to Hapa Trail. There isn't any culvert 
under the Po'ipū Road, and I saw it in the agenda packet, a letter from, Mr. Hull and Mr. Cua, suggesting 
that not only should the drainage issue be just put before the Public Works, but that it should be limited to 
mauka of Po'ipū Road. Well, water's not gonna stop running, or draining when it gets to the road because 
the road is down slope, and then down slope of that, the way the road itself slopes, it slopes right toward 
Kāneiolouma. I live there, I go there, I drive, and I walk, and I’ve walked Hapa Trail a number of times, 
and I don't think that trail is supposed to handle water. I know that when they talked about it being their 
wash road, it was a royal Hawaiian pathway, but SHPD stopped them, from doing that, and it's definitely 
something that should be kept in the Planning Department because I think it should be something that we 
get to have looked at ourselves and comment on, and I think there's, we took the deposition of (inaudible)  
in Public Works and Paul Togioka, and Paul explained that he's not trained in Civil Engineering, he could 
check boxes but he can’t really determine what’s happening in the drainage plan and I think there are a 
number of the Public Works Civil Engineers that no longer work in our Public Works, so I think to rely 
on just one agency, I think it should be reviewed by the State Historic Preservation Division when it's 
done, when it's finalized, the report, the drainage report. it should be comprehensive, it shouldn't 
piecemeal mauka of Po'ipū Road. It should include all of the sloped areas to the ocean because… 

Mr. Hull: Three minutes, Ms. Hammerquist. If you can wrap up your testimony. 

Ms. Hammerquist: Yes. This site was represented in Mr. Hull’s report to be one mile from Kāneiolouma. 
I walked it, it’s a quarter of a mile away. It's not one mile away. And the ocean is right there. And then the 
last year and a half that I have swam regularly in Waiohai Bay, after the blasting started, I can personally 
attest to the fact that that water lost clarity and I've heard many regular swimmers that have talked about 
how Po'ipū and Waiohai are much cloudier than they used to be. Thank you for your consideration, but 
please keep this open for public review. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: Next, we have signed up, Bianca Isaki. 

Ms. Isaki: (Inaudible) petition. 

Mr. Hull: And then we have Ryan Hurley. 

Mr. Ryan Hurley: I will as well. 

Mr. Hull: That’s all we have signed up. Is there anybody that did not previously speak on this agenda item 
and would like to testify, if so, please approach the microphone. 

Ms. Terrie Hayes: Aloha Commissioners, Terrie Hayes for the record. Thank you again for at least 
hearing this. We need, and I request that you allow the petition to intervene as there's been much, much 
work done and many conditions that were not met. Bottom line, things should have happened, that didn't 
happen prior to this exploitation of a permit that, where it happened from, who dropped the ball initially, 
hard to say, hard to say, but we know the ball has been dropped and we can feel it when they were 
exploding. We're some distance away. Again, Kāneiolouma is the low spot of the area. It is not a drainage 
basin. It is not meant to be a drainage basin. There was spring water that was coming up naturally from 
there. We would like to restore it. We are the stewards of that site. To restore that site is going to take 
fresh and clean water. No wastewater, no contaminated water. I believe I heard Mr. Cassiday say 
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something, he’d like to see a drainage plan, so would we. I mean, does anybody have one, anywhere, that 
anybody could look at, because it has to be considered. You must realize the wastewater treatment plant is 
makai his development. Kōloa Landing is makai his development, so are we. You can't just have a 
drainage plan that ends on Po'ipū Road, that's ridiculous. Water seeks the lowest spot, that's what it does. 
Po'ipū Beach is truly a (inaudible). We've created a (inaudible) that inhibits water from going to the 
ocean. There was natural percolation that used to occur, but we have cemented over it, we've asphalted 
over it, we've done all sorts of things to disrupt what used to happen. And everybody wants to try to point 
the finger. oh, well, we've had this approval for such a long time, yeah, we approve that we're doing the 
wrong things is what's happening? Please come and observe our street any day in a rainfall, and that's 
what's gonna happen here. The Waiohai parking lot is not a detention basin, but it is, it acts as one 
because it was improperly filled with asphalt that was able to have sands sink into it and now with the 
heat it's a bowl, it's a bowl that holds water When it was high, like it has been many times, what do they 
want to do? They wanted to come out and pump that water out of Waiohai parking lot into Kāneiolouma. 
That cannot happen, so instead, it got taken up to Māhā'ulepū and we know what happened up there. This 
business of passing it over, pushing it away, taking the waste and moving it here in there or attempting to 
push… 

Mr. Hull: Three minutes, Ma’am, can you wrap up your testimony. 

Ms. Hayes: …water upstream. I understand, but this, somehow this concept you're not catching here. We 
want to see a drainage plan and need to see a drainage plan. There were things that we're done on this site 
that should never have been done. We request that you let the Petitioners intervene and deny this 
application until such time. Thank you very much. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: We don’t have anyone else signed up, but if anybody who has not testified on this agenda item 
would like to testify, please approach the microphone. If you could state your name for the record and you 
have three minutes for testimony. 

Ms. Puanani Rogers: Puanani Rogers. Born and raised in the ahupua'a of Keālia on this island, on this 
beautiful island. I wanna apologize, perhaps for the outburst for the outburst that I had earlier. I do try to 
let aloha proceed everything I say because that is my mantra, always, but I must admit that it’s because of 
what is happening here. That we are so angry and outraged. So, I'm gonna reiterate what I said earlier, I 
wanna stop any development going on in Po'ipū at the moment. It should have been stopped years ago 
when it first started. The destruction that has been done on that place is irreparable. We cannot bring back 
anything now that they have destroyed, and that's very, very hurtful, and sad for us. We that love our 
'aina, that respect it, not as a commodity, but as part of our living treasure. Our 'aina is our waiwai. I 
implore you to please, do all your best, that you take care of our concerns. We tired of having to repeat 
ourselves all the time too. Sometimes we feel that coming here is just the waste of our time because 
nothing ever occurs about what we say. You just decide it's like a done deal every time we come here. So, 
please this time, do what is right. Make the corrections of the wrongs, all the wrongs that have been in 
there. Do not permit any more destruction of the place there, do not grant any more further permits for 
anything happening in Kōloa. Do not permit them to do it anymore. Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you for your aloha. I respect your testimony. 

Mr. Hull: If anybody else wants to testify on this agenda item, please approach the microphone. If you 
could state your name again for the record. 

Male from public audience: Say again. 

http://www.ulukau.org/elib/cgi-bin/library?a=redirect&d=D0.3&rurl=/elib/collect/pepn/index/assoc/D0.dir/doc97.pdf
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Mr. Hull: If you could state your name again for the record, and you have three minutes for testimony. 

Mr. Andrew Cabebe: Cabebe. Andrew, first name. As usual we have a complaint. We know what needs to 
be done with these people that you work for. What has happened to this island? Can you tell me what 
happened to island, and how you going fix what you did? Tell us. Can we do it today, right now? Can we 
turn it all around? We pray for a huli today. We want everything to huli, change. What was, should be 
made better. You cannot let what's going on, go on without doing what needs to be done before you do it. 
There's a lot of work that needs to be done out there before they get started. Everything is already ruined. 
Ruined. We cannot even eat the animals off our land. Like our bodies, they all polluted. All our fish in the 
ponds, all wasted. I'm talking about all fishponds that we known for. Not only on land, but in the water. 
We looking at the demise of our land here, of Kaua'i. Every place is hurting. Where do we fix the wrong 
when do we fix the wrong, how do we fix the wrong? There's a lot of work that needs to be done before 
this, before anything else happen out in Po'ipū or anywhere in the island of Hawai'i. I came from a time 
when the food was abundant, and I watched it all disappear. Our ocean, where’s that fish that used to 
surround the whole island. Now we get only one boat catching that fish.  

Mr. Hull: Three minutes. Sir, if you could wrap up your testimony. 

Mr. Cabebe: You guys know what we should be done before anything else happens. Do it. Don't let 
anything go without fixing what needs to be done first.  

Mr. Hull: Thank you for your testimony. 

Mr. Cabebe: Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Mr. Hull: Is there anyone else who has previously not testified on this agenda item, that would like to 
testify. If so, please approach the microphone. 

Unknown woman from public audience: Can I add on (inaudible)? 

Mr. Hull: One time. 

Ms. Rogers: You cannot go again? 

Mr. Hull: Seeing none. 

Ms. Okinaka: I didn’t know it was directly for drainage, so if I could just add on. 

Mr. Hull: It’s at your discretion, Chair. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We will make an exception and accept your second testimony. Again, just to remind 
everybody it is a request to modify Condition No. 26 relating to the drainage requirement. 

Ms. Elizabethe Okinaka: Yes. Mahalo, Commissioner. I’d like to speak directly on the drainage. So just 
for some background info, I think you guys should realize that there's a deep, deep, deep history with this 
development. This isn’t the first developer that’s bought it. This property has been bought, planned to be 
developed multiple times and every single project has failed. Those past projects failed because they 
knew they couldn't meet a drainage plan. They knew they could never meet of those other plans, which 
the same developer has bypassed. So, I hope you guys realize that even the County Council at one point, 
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owned this same property. There's a deep, deep back history. There was a County Council resolution that 
was passed in 1978, and the County Council bought it, they pulled out because they realized it wouldn't 
be able to be used for housing. This property was originally a part of the Greater Wainani Development. 
Wainani is a subdivision that directly abuts this property. Originally this was gonna be Phase 2. That 
development also failed, and they only went through with the Phase 1. So, like others have stated, I have 
personally been on that property, I've been on that property in heavy, heavy, heavy rain, and I've seen the 
drainage down there. There are multiple culverts on that property that run directly from the existing 
subdivision. Missy Kamai, who is a representative for (inaudible) Cultural Surveys Hawai'i, she spoke to 
me on the site that day when she conducted her survey and she said, this is the drainage lot for not only 
the golf course and for Wainani Subdivision, and she thought it was insane that they were trying to build 
there because she said herself, it would be completely underwater. On top of the existing drainage issues 
again, like others stated Hapa Trail, which is a historical site was simply marked as a wash away for this 
developer. They do not see the significance in these cultural sites. They would simply try to wash away a 
historic trail. SHPD had to correct them and say you guys cannot do that. And we all know like others 
have stated that, in Po'ipū and Kōloa, when there's a heavy, heavy rain where does it end up, Po'ipū Beach 
parking lot, we've all seen it. It's a giant pond because that's what it was, it was a historic fishpond that 
was cemented and destroyed. So, when this developer is trying to come forward and say that they're 
gonna do this study, and that it's only gonna affect this portion, that water is not going to follow some 
imaginary line that this billionaire creates. The water is going to float to the lowest point and it's going to 
flow into Kāneiolouma Heiau, which is a historical site and a place of worship. This developer has 
already desecrated one sacred site and I ask you not to let them desecrate another.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. 

Ms. Rogers: Thank you, Liz. 

Mr. Hull: Is there anyone who has not previously testified on this agenda item that would like to testify? 
Seeing none, Chair I’ll turn it over to you for the Petition concerning intervention. 

Vice Chair Apisa: At this time, I will continue to read the notice, 

1. Director’s Report Pertaining to this Matter.

2. In the matter of Applications for (1) Preliminary Subdivision Extension Requests for;
Subdivision Application No. S-2021-7 5425 Pau A Laka, LLC., of a proposed 2-lot Consolidation
and Resubdivision into 4-lots; and (2) Amendment to Class IV Zoning Permit (Z-IV-2006-27),
Use Permit (U-2006-26), and Project Development Use Permit (PDU-2006-25) for modification
to Condition No. 26 relating to drainage requirements for a development situation at the Pau A
Laka Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive, 5424 Pau A Laka Street, Tax Map Key: 2-8-014:032,
containing a total area 27.886 acres, Petitioners Friends of Māhā'ulepū and Save Koloa’s
Petition to Intervene and, Alternatively for Denial of Applications.

3. In the matter of Application of Elko II, LLC., for and Amendment to Class IV Zoning Permit
(Z-IV-2006-27), Use Permit (U-2006-26), and Project Development Use Permit (PDU-2006-25)
to allow a modification to Condition No. 26 relating to drainage requirement for a development
situated on the western side of Kiahuna Plantation Drive in Po'ipū, situated at Pau A Laka
Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive intersection and further identified as 5425 Pau A Laka Street,
Tax Map Key: 2-8-014:032, containing a total area of 27.886, Pacific Resource Partnership’s
Petition to Intervene.



12 

Vice Chair Apisa: We will now address the two petitions to intervene listed on the agenda. Before 
deliberation action, we will accept argument from all parties. Parties or their attorneys will have 
10 minutes each for argument, followed by three minutes rebuttal. Starting with Pacific Resource 
Partnership, followed by Save Kōloa, and finally Meridian Pacific for a longer argument. 

Ms. Barzilai: And, Chair, we also have Deputy County Attorney, Hugo Cabrera for the County here with 
us today. If the attorneys would like to approach.  

Vice Chair Apisa: First, we’ll start with Pacific Resource, 10-minutes, and Laura will time. 

Rep for Pacific Resource Partnership: Thank you. Good morning, Madam Chair, and commissioners. I'm 
not gonna (inaudible) the points that are made and… 

Ms. Barzilai: I'm so sorry would you please state your (inaudible). 

Ms. Abby Holden: Oh, yeah, of course. Abby Holden for Pacific Resource Partnership, Chris Delaney 
who’s with me in the audience as well, for Pacific Resource Partnership. As I was saying, I’m not going 
to (inaudible) the points that we made in our petition. The points are set forth therein and clearly that 
indicate that pursuant to Commission Rule 1-4-4, PRP is mandated under the rules, shall be admitted as a 
party intervener and that a contested case shall be held on the request to amend Condition 26. There's two 
significant reasons why the amendment to Condition 26, needs to be further evaluated, under allowing 
intervention by one or more parties, I think the parties have different interests here, and certainly raised 
different points in that petition, so there's no concern about repeating, different party issues. The first 
reason that the amendment to Condition 26 mandates intervention is that it's insufficient to address 
potential drainage issues as I think has been mentioned today. The request to amend Condition 26 would 
take it out of this public forum and all the people who have comments on drainage and important 
information to be had, and we'll move that over to the Department of Public Works, and that would be 
insufficient because it doesn't allow this public nature to take place. The second, main point as to why 
amendment to Condition 26 is inappropriate and requires intervention in a contested case is based on the 
age of the permit and the now proposed use of county lands, which requires, may require a supplemental 
EIS. Because the lands changed hands, now there's a proposed use of county lands, and we’re talking 
about the land that is held by the county for the heiau, and that’s pursuant to HRS 344-5. We raise a 
number of other issues in our petition that also need to be addressed. I think based on the comments today 
and the laws applying to this amendment to specific Condition 26, that's what mandates intervention in 
this case. If you have any questions or I’ll reserve my time. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, we might take questions at the end. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We’ll take questions at the end. 

Ms. Holden: Okay. 

Vice Chair Apisa: So, that concludes your presentation for now? 

Ms. Holden: Yes. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Next, would be, Save Kōloa, 10-minute presentation. 

Ms. Bianca Isaki: Good morning, Chair and Commissioners. I'm Bianca Isaki with Bryan Hurley here. 
We’re actually on behalf of both Save Kōloa and Friends of Māhā'ulepū who are both petitioners. We’re 
joined by Bridget Hammerquist and Liz Okinaka, who are client representatives here. So, the 
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intervention, the purpose of it is both to assist the commission and its decision making and then also to 
protect property rights. And here our clients do have property rights. Constitutional rights are considered 
probably right here. Specifically, traditional, and cultural practices protected under Article 12 Section 7 of 
the Constitution and Article 11, Section 9, also of the Constitution, protects the right to a clean and 
healthful environment as defined by Hawai'i Revised Statues 205. Now Hawai'i Revised Statues 205 
that’s a land use statue, that’s very relevant here, it’s relevant to the Land Use Commission conditions on 
the permit, it's also relevant to your zoning and use permits that implement some of the Land Use 
Commission Conditions. So, since 1978 there's been a Land Use Condition 7, that one requires a 
comprehensive archaeological and biological survey, and a certification by qualified archaeologists and 
biologist prior to actual work. This is important because, even by their own admission, Meridian Pacific, 
MPL Co., all the developers, I’ll just call them the developers, their certifications came in May 9th and 
12th, 2022, we don't agree that those are viable certifications, and we can hash that out at an intervention. 
But the main thing is that, I mean, at least back to December 2020, I mean, Liz Okinawa, other people 
have seen them doing actual work, grading, and knocking down heiau, knocking down structures, 
knocking down or clearing vegetation that's really important for these critically endangered species, that 
are found nowhere else in the world. When people say that, oh there’s actual critical habitat on this 
specific parcel, well, Fish and Wildlife Services were not allowed to survey that parcel, and when you 
look at the critical habitat that's designated, it's (inaudible) size of the parcel, not more than maybe 15 feet 
away on one side. So, we would say that one issue, and this comes back to our right to a clean and 
healthful environment to protect that. What should have happened was there should have been the survey 
to see what's there before grading happened and which happened at least in December 2020. And instead 
of later on coming in and doing a survey say, for the, for the listed species was May 7th and 8th, 2022, so 
after the clearing happens they come in and, she does this basically is a 5 page report, and says, no, no, we 
didn't see anything, based on some other reports that I read and a pedestrian survey, but he didn't, how 
could he do a survey before actual work happened in May 2022, when the grading and everything started 
in December 2020. So, that's one of the main issues here, that applies to our petition to intervene was both 
on the drainage and the subdivision and we've also simultaneously filed a petition for revocation of the 
permits. No one's asking you to go back in time, but it does, but it's not like if you violate a Land Use 
Commission condition and your permits, that you just get to go on as if nothing else happened. There's 
still nēnē, there’s Newell Shearwaters that do inhabit the property when there’s water, and there’s other 
things there to save. So, there is still things this commission can do, and this is one of the points doing an 
entire intervention. I also want to draw your attention to that, there’s a 2003 agreement when the prior 
developer, that you know, got inherited into the current developer and the county, they signed this 
agreement as a settlement regarding these Land Use Commission conditions, and also your ordinances 
that people have mentioned, what they agreed was, okay, they're gonna split it up and this is how they're 
gonna do it, and three times in that agreement they said, we are going to apply Condition 7, this one I'm 
talking about archaeological biological resources, we’re going to apply it in our subdivision and our 
permits, and when it was in the zoning and use permit it was referenced but it wasn't enforced. It wasn't in 
your subdivision permits, so that one is an issue, and because you said that the county said that they were 
going to do it, then didn't put in the permits, you guys have an opportunity now. The subdivision permit is 
void, and so now you can look at the condition and figure out how to really implement what you’re what 
you're supposed to do that the land use commission required. Same thing with the zoning and use, we’re 
asking for a revocation and an enforcement, including on this Condition 26. And what was raised before 
too, by other testifiers is that we don’t wanna do mudslinging, but the same County Attorney, Laurel Loo, 
which signed that 2003 agreement, parceling out conditions for the developer, now works for the 
developer, and this is important for you guys to know because it's an ethical conflict unless you wave it, 
but there's also, there's a trust in government issue here because if county employees can make negotiate 
deals with the county and then work for the other side and wave that every time, that’s a concern. So, we 
just want, as a concern for this proceeding because we don't want to be ethically compromised. We've 
never seen a fully signed, a fully executed waiver from the county. I’ll move on to the drainage, which I 
know is the main thing here. So, the main thing here is that it's the drainage, it's an issue, everyone's 
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talked about it, but one issue specifically for, Kāneiolouma, and unfortunately, Rupert Rowe had to leave, 
he’s the po'o of Kāneiolouma. If you, one of the plans that they have for this parcel for their drainage is to 
blast a whole bunch of detention basins. Some of them going down 13 feet deep, and then, but if you do 
that, you're going to intercept and they already have, because they started blasting, you're gonna intercept 
the underground flows that go to Kāneiolouma. There are (inaudible) and springs by the near shore, it's 
important for fisheries, it’s important for the fishponds, they have well. So, in this drainage plan, another 
reason how we want to intercept this or intervene in it, is because we don't want them to do this huge 
blasting of detention basins that cut off those very important public trust resource underground flows. I’m 
sure this commission’s very, you know, schooled in public trust resources in terms of water, and that is 
one of them. So, the other issue, and this is also sort of referenced, is like you can't forget that the 
developer assumed this land with this condition, like if it if they didn't want to be want to have to do 
drainage planning for land that they don't own, then they should have worked something out with the 
developer before, or the other landowners, not taking that permit condition, but then it's also like you can't 
it's not that you can't do planning for land you don't own, I mean the county does that all the time. So, and 
there's no evidence that Kāneiolouma has rejected any kind of information assistance or agreement, so 
that’s an issue there. Sorry. Maybe the last thing I'll raise is, there's under the charter, there's no authority 
for the Planning Commission to delegate their zoning powers to another department, to the Department of 
Public Works, and actually we only knew about this because we're going off of the public notice and then 
we've learned about it later, so not all of this is in our petition, but we did put in there, the charter 
allocates powers and you can't trade them around without having a specific authority to do so, so, since 
there isn’t one, you actually can't do that as suggested by the developer. It also a practical matter doesn't 
make sense because three of their engineers from the Department of Public Works have left, Jason 
Kakimoto, Bryan Weinand, and Dustin Moises. So, let’s see…Oh, and also one more thing we'll say 
about their drainage plan because we did get to look at that, we got some of that, the drainage plan just for 
the parcel. That in itself also needs further scrutiny because they show these 13-foot-deep drainage basins, 
but then when we look at their geotechnical borings, like when we drill down, there’s springs there at 5.8 
feet, so, if you did a 13-foot basin, but then the water springing up at 5.8 feet, those basins are not gonna 
work like they say they would. Oh, finally, one thing about the staff report, and I'm gonna quote it, as 
different areas within the moana rezoned area are developed, Department of Public Works would be able 
to determine the cumulative impacts of these developments and whether it could lead to detrimental 
effects to the parcel containing the heiau. So, this again, I think Terry Hayes mentioned cart before the 
horse. This is the kind of non-planning that keeps happening cause if you allow the construction and then 
find out that there's impact, you’ve restricted the planning options of kind of outcomes can or that are 
possible. It's not always possible to correct something after you let it happen. So, and I'll just mention that 
in Maui we work with some communities who have worked out agreements with developers to do what 
they call Keyline Permaculture Design and that's a technique… 

Ms. Barzilai: Ten minutes, Chair. 

Ms. Isaki: …that uses the natural topography to reduce (inaudible) runoff preventing erosion and that kind 
of thing, but that has happened before the development.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Are you wrapping it up? 

Ms. Isaki: Oh, I'm sorry. 

Vice Chair Apisa: You had ten minutes. 

Ms. Isaki: Yeah, okay. So just to close, we have information. We want to challenge the developer’s 
representations and we want to develop a resolution that does not compromise the resources. Thank you. 
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Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. Next, we will have Meridian Pacific, and up to 20 minutes, if needed for 
Meridian Pacific. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, I’m going to recommend that we take the applicant. 

Ms. Laurel Loo: Good morning. Laurel Loo on behalf of Meridian Pacific. I'm not gonna take anywhere 
near 20 minutes. I just wanted to be here to ask your questions and to clarify a few misconceptions. As to 
the drainage, Meridian, it's not asking to not do drainage studies. We're asking that it be limited to lands 
we own, which is the same condition that every other developer in the area has been passed with. As for 
the intervention, Meridian Pacific points out that the intervention rules require an intervention or an 
intervenor to not render the proceedings inefficient, as we know from the Sea Cliff contested case 
hearings, those are approaching two years with no final resolution. We don't think that a two-year 
contested case hearing is efficient in this matter, so as a result, I've offered Ms. Isaki this morning the 
opportunity to go to a mediation so we could discuss all these in mediation, which I think would be 
quicker and allow more parties to participate. We’ll also make that available to PRP if they wanna avail 
themselves of that. Just a couple of more points. Commissioners, the ethical conflict that Ms. Isaki raised, 
had been briefed and argued in Fifth Circuit Court, Judge Watanabe ruled there was no ethical conflict, 
she looked at the paperwork, county was involved in those arguments as well. Also, Meridian Pacific has 
been sued by the two parties here who have filed for intervention, Save Kōloa and Friends of Māhā'ulepū. 
Last week Judge Watanabe signed an order which found that Meridian Pacific is compliant with 
Condition 7, which Ms. Isaki was complaining about, and the county had adhered to State and Federal 
statutes. The judge also stated the plaintiff’s likelihood of prevailing on the merits is futile. So, the judge 
has been briefed, we've had arguments. we’ve had depositions, we've had hearings on Save Kōloa and 
Friends of Māhā'ulepū’s arguments against the project, which Judge Watanabe has just stated are futile. 
So, we argue that an intervention, that could take two years of contested case hearing on matters where 
Meridian Pacific is simply asking for an amendment that it be only required to do drainage on lands it 
owns, would be inefficient if it's gonna take two years to solve a simple legal question as to whether the 
county could actually force a developer to do drainage plans for a whole region as opposed to lands it 
owns, when the county has never done that before. So, the futility, despite Judge Watanabe's phrasing of 
the futility of plaintiff’s claims, Meridian Pacific acknowledges that this is a big development. We're 
offering to enter into mediation with the parties, and we're offering also to pay for studies on how 
drainage will affect or could affect Kāneiolouma Heiau, which is not on property that we own, and which 
may not be done in the new future if this developer were not willing to pay for it. So, I'm available for any 
questions that you have.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Do the commissioners have any questions of the applicant? We will hear from the 
county and then we’ll take questions from all parties. 

Mr. Hugo Cabrera: Good morning, Chair, Commission members. Hugo Cabrera, Deputy County Attorney 
for the County of Kaua'i, Planning Department. The Department does not take a position with respect to 
either of the (inaudible) to intervene. Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Open now for any questions from any of the Commissioners.  

Unknown Male from public audience: Chair, I think we get a rebuttal, I believe. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Okay, I was going to ask questions, and then a three-minute rebuttal, but I’m not 
hearing any questions, so… 

Ms. Barzilai: You should take the rebuttal first. 
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Vice Chair Apisa: Let’s take the rebuttal and then we’ll go back to questions. Thank you. So, that would 
be three minutes from each party. Starting in the same order, Pacific Resource. 

Ms. Holden: Thank you, Madam Chair and Commissioners. Abby Holden for PRP. I frankly just didn't 
hear any response to the concerns that we have related to the insufficiency of the drainage plan and the 
potential use of lands owned by the county, if there's water that's going to enter those county lands, it’s a 
use of county lands and it triggers a supplemental EIS. I do not believe that there's been any EIS done for 
this property since the 70’s, and I think we can all acknowledge that there's been a lot of changes since 
then. And I just, the offer of mediation is fine, and maybe that's something, you know, that we can do on 
(inaudible) tracks, but to the extent that intervention is mandated when the elements are met, which they 
have been here as set forth in our briefing, then a contested case hearing must be held, shall be held. And, 
you know, I think that this idea that somehow that there's gonna be a contested case, which is gonna last 
for two years, is not a fair representation of, you know, how this process could and should proceed. You 
know, that would be an argument against any intervention which is clearly provided for under the rules 
and is within the spirit of our laws and regulations that govern our regulatory. If no questions, that’s all I 
have. 

Vice Chair Apisa: So, you’re suggesting that it go to contested case hearing or you’re… 

Ms. Holden: Yes. 

Vice Chair Apisa: …foreseeing that that’s what will happen. 

Ms. Holden: I mean, the intervention with request for contested case hearing, but I don’t think there’s any 
suggestions that this particular case would take two years or that, you know, somehow the suggestion that 
there's some other contested case hearing that has taken two years somehow would render a contested 
case hearing. We are mandated by rule here inefficient and not permitted. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you.  

Ms. Holden: Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Save Kōloa and Friends of Māhā'ulepū combined. 

Ms. Isaki: Yes. Thank you. Bianca Isaki and Ryan Hurley again. Just briefly, again, like the previous 
attorney was saying, two years is not really, there’s delegated to a hearings officer probably won't take 
two years because a lot of the legal issues, a lot of this is actual legal issues. And we raise that also in our 
petition for revocation goes first to the Planning Director, so the Planning Director would then prepare a 
report and then bring it back to you, for your review. So, one another thing that might be the quickest way 
of dealing with this is to revoke the permits under our petition to revoke the permits. We, I also want to 
respond to the comment about the Judge Watanabe ruling that was a preliminary injunction so there's a 
different standard applied to that as opposed to your preponderance at the evidence standard which would 
be applied in a contested case, we’re not deprived of the ability to get a contested case or intervention in 
that, and there's no like, preclusion of our ability to, because it’s not a final, final judgment and we could 
probably appeal that. So yeah, that's all I really have to say.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. The rebuttal from Meridian Pacific. 

Ms. Loo: Thank you. Madam Chair. Just a suggestion that, if the Planning Commission could set 
parameters on the holding of contested case hearing to be completed within a reasonable time, I would 
suggest 90 days, that would take away a lot of our objections. Then I would argue that that would not be 
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inefficient, but as we have seen in the Green Case, it's been limping along, and there have been weeks 
passing without any hearings because the hearings officer is not located on Kaua'i, so if there’s a way to 
speed up that process, that would probably assist everybody.  
Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you. I've heard earlier up to two years, and now I’m hearing 90 days. Is there a 
middle of the road anywhere. 

Ms. Loo: The Green contested case hearing was set in either August or September of 2021, so we’re 
coming up on two years without a final decision on that, so, that’s my…that’s a single-family residence, 
so I’m guessing it takes the, the new norm is two years for contested case hearings. I’m suggesting that 90 
days, giving the hearings officer 90 days to come to a recommendation would be more appropriate. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, you can suggest it, but it is under the discretion of Boards & Commissions. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Yes, thank you. 

Ms. Loo: Thank you. 

Ms. Barzilai: At this time, Chair, if you are ready to make a decision or if you wish to enter into executive 
session. 

Ms. Streufert: Can I ask a couple questions? 

Ms. Barzilai: Okay. 

Ms. Streufert: Apparently Meridian has offered mediation. Is that something that is acceptable to the 
Friends of Māhā'ulepū, as well as to… 

Ms. Isaki: Thank you for your question, Commissioner. Frankly, we've had a lot of discussions with this 
developer and mediation can be expensive and just lengthen the proceedings. So, unless there is 
something, we will definitely entertain a settlement offer because maybe they can change the project… 

Ms. Streufert: A settlement offer as opposed to a mediation? 

Ms. Isaki: As opposed to having to pay a professional mediator and take a month, take time schedule and 
stuff. So, yeah, we would do that but not a mediation. 

Ms. Streufert: So, the answer is, no? 

Ms. Isaki: No. Thank you. 

Ms. Streufert: Okay. I have an additional question for you. At one point or at the beginning of this 
(inaudible) most of your justification for intervening is based upon the requirement or the need for a clean 
and healthful environment, how is that clearly distinguishable from that of the general public. 

Ms. Isaki: There's a lot of case law that is said that even if you're defending the rights of the public or 
public interest, it doesn’t mean that you are deprived of your right to also have a contested case, this is 
like the Akau vs. Olohana court case, and in any case this would distinguish the general public is that, the 
people in, they're from Kōloa, they actually, some of them have testified already, they use the actual 
parking lots, and the (inaudible) resources many of our supporters, and some of our officers do know of 
iwi and do practices on an near the parcel, so they are definitely, distinguishable from the general public 
and those rights are protected under Chapter 205, by this constitutional provision, because it's clean, the 
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right to clean and helpful environment as defined by laws defining environmental quality, one of those 
laws being the land use law and that land use law being that permit both the land commission conditions 
and the permits that you have and those conditions are protecting our rights. So, that’s that. 
Ms. Streufert: So, that is a requirement or a necessity for the general public also. 

Ms. Isaki: Yes. 

Ms. Streufert: For this particular (inaudible), so that doesn't distinguish it from the general public. 

Ms. Isaki: And those rights are also protected, but also the specific practices, are also protected under both 
that provision and Article 12 Section 7 for kānaka maoli traditional customary practices. Yeah, it’s a lot of 
thoughts. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I see further question formulating. 

Ms. Streufert: To the county attorney, if I could. I presume it’s to the county attorney, I’m not sure 
(inaudible). 

Mr. Cabrera: Deputy County Attorney, just a reminder that I'm here on behalf of the Planning Department. 

Ms. Streufert: Correct. 

Ms. Barzilai: I think what DCA is referring to is that any advice to the commission would be provided in 
executive session, Commissioner. 

Ms. Streufert: Okay. 

Mr. Cabrera: Yes, we have separate lawyers. 

Ms. Streufert: I’m sorry. 

Mr. Cabrera: Okay, thanks. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Are there any other questions from the commissioners? 

Ms. Streufert: Could I ask the developer a question, please? I just have a question on, there’s different 
parcels of this area, and you've got a lot of them, and they are all adjoining areas. There are at least three, 
as I read it. The water drainage is not an issue of only a particular portion of this but of the combined, and 
I can understand why the developer would want to take responsibility for that portion that they own, cause  
as an owner, you would want to have only responsibility for what you have, but at some point in time 
when all these, when these three developments are put together and there may be a cumulative effect, 
drainage effect that may not be dependent upon any particular one of these units, but rather an interaction 
of them. Who becomes responsible for the cumulative damage? Or not damage, but cumulative effect. 
Sorry, it’s not damage. 

Ms. Loo: That’s probably a question that the Department of Public Works and Planning have considered, 
and I know in our interaction with them, we’ve worked with both departments to consider those kinds of 
questions. The problem is the larger parcel was owned by one entity at the time, which was placed on 
which was placed on all of these requirements, which is why are offering to also in addition to what we 
feel is our legal requirement to do drainage studies on our own land, to do it for the heiau, which is not on 
our land, as a additional piece of information for the county to consider. I mean, I think it would be great 
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if all the landowners in the area could band together and do a master plan but requiring them would be a 
legal mess, you know requiring one developer to do work on another person's land base a question of 
whether they would even grant the right to enter upon the land and do the work. So, that’s probably a 
more complicated question that probably a drainage person and engineer would be better able to answer. 

Ms. Streufert: Okay. The reason for asking is because if one were to look at it from my perspective and 
I'm not a lawyer or anything like that but, if I'm looking at it and I'm seeing three different parcels which 
were at one point, one, and they all drain together or have some drainage, common drainage, so I’m 
taking care of one, you’re taking care of two, you’re taking care of three, now all of a sudden does the last 
person to develop it, have (inaudible) responsible for the entire thing, is the question. 

Ms. Loo: Maybe there’s still one or more parcels left undeveloped. 

Ms. Streufert: Thank you. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Any further questions? Are we ready for a motion or would the Commission like to go 
to executive session? 

Ms. Streufert: Could we go into executive session please? 

Vice Chair Apisa: I would need a motion for that. 

Ms. Streufert: I move to go into executive session. 

Ms. Otsuka: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: A roll call vote please. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Ornellas? 

Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Motion carries and now I would need you to read the notice please, Chair. 4:0. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Read the notice to go executive session. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes Sections 92-4 and 92-5(a)(4), the purpose of this executive 
session is to consult with the County's legal counsel on questions, issues, status and procedural 
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matters. This consultation involves consideration of the powers, duties, privileges, immunities, and/or 
liabilities of the Commission and the County as they relate to the following matters: 

AMENDMENT TO CLASS IV ZONING PERMIT (Z-IV-2006-27), USE PERMIT (U-2006-26), and 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT USE PERMIT PDU-2006-25 to allow a modification to Condition No. 26 
relating to drainage requirement for a development situated on the western side of Kiahuna 
Plantation Drive in Po'ipu, situated at the Pau A Laka Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive intersection 
and further identified as 5425 Pau A Laka Street, Tax Map Key: 2-8-014:032, and containing a 
total area of 27.886 acres = MERIDIAN PACIFIC (formerly Kiahuna Poipu Golf Resort, LLC.) 

a. In the Matter of Applications for (1) Preliminary subdivision extension request for application
no. S-021-7, 5425 Pa'u A Laka, LLC for proposed 2-lot consolidation and resubdivision into 4-
lots; and (2) Amendment to Class IV Zoning Permit (Z-IV-2006-27), Use Permit (U-2006-26),
and Project Development Use Permit (PDU-2006-25) for modification to Condition No. 26
relating to drainage requirements for a development situation at the Pau a Laka Street/Kiahuna
Plantation Drive, 5425 Pau A Laka Street, Tax Map Key: 2-8-014: 032, and containing a total
area 27.886 acres, Petitioners Friends of Mahaulepu and Save Koloa's Petition to Intervene
and, Alternatively for Denial of Applications.

b. In the Matter of Application of MP Elko _II, LLC, for an Amendment to Class IV Zoning Permit
(Z-IV-2006-27), Use Permit (U-2006-26), and Project Development Use Permit (PDU-2006-25)
to allow a modification to Condition No. 26 relating to drainage requirement for a development
situated on the western side of Kiahuna Plantation Drive in Po'ipu, situated at the Pau A Laka
Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive intersection and further identified as 5425 Pau A Laka Street, Tax
Map Key: 2-8-014: 032, and containing a total area of 27.886 acres, Pacific Resource
Partnership's Petition to Intervene.

Ms. Barzilai: How much time do you anticipate, Chair? We apologize, but this room is wired for sound 
and recording. So, we're very sorry that we have to ask everyone to step out of the room. We can't go 
elsewhere because of the recording option. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I would think… 

Ms. Barzilai: We apologize, but I would say, 20-30. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I would think 20-30. 

Commission went into Executive Session at 12:07 p.m. 
   Commission returned to Open Session at 1:14 p.m. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We’ll reconvene our general session. I would like to initiate, initially start by opening it 
up for deliberation for the Commissioners. Any discussion?  

Ms. Streufert: I think it’s note-worthy that so many people came here to discuss this because these are 
issues that transcend this because these aren't issues that transcend just this particular thing, but the fact is, 
we are only looking at the motions that we have, or the issue that we have at hand, which is the 
intervention and the modification of Condition 26, it’s not, unfortunately it doesn’t include homelessness 
or anything like that, which are very, very close to all of our hearts but we are looking at these two 
particular things right now, but thank you to everybody who came and we did hear, we did listen to all of 
your testimony and know how much time and effort it took and how heartfelt it all was, but that’s my 
view. 
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Mr. Ornellas: Whenever we, this primarily has to do with drainage, and whenever we talk about water, 
it’s a very complex subject, so in this case we’re dealing with what’s been described as storm runoff, but 
there are other issue involved as well. We have two kinds of water, surface water and ground water, and 
both of those impact the area in question, especially the archaeological area, so please bear with us, this is 
a complex issue as you all know. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Any further discussion from the Commissioners?  

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, you’d be ready now for a motion to take action.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Thank you everyone for coming and giving their input. 

Ms. Streufert: I move to grant the Resource Partnerships Petition to Intervene and refer as a contested 
case to the Office of Boards & Commissions for assignment to a hearings officer. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Do we have a second? 

Ms. Otsuka: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Any discussion on the motion on the floor? I would like a roll call vote, please. 

Ms. Barzilai: I can do that, Chair. Commissioner Ornellas? 

Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Motion carries. 4:0. 

Vice Chair Apisa: I then would like to have a motion regarding the Friends of Māhā'ulepū.  

Ms. Streufert: I move to grant in part in-part, and deny in-part, Friends of Māhā'ulepū/Save Kōloa’s 
Petition to Intervene and refer as a contested case to the Office of Boards & Commissions for assignment 
to a hearings officer. 

Mr. Ornellas: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We have a motion on the floor. Do we need clarification? 

Ms. Otsuka: About the 60 days. 

Vice Chair Apisa: That will come later. 
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Ms. Barzilai: Chair, I think we’re going to address that. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Oh, okay. We have a motion on the floor to grant in-part and deny in-part the Friends 
of Māhā'ulepū/Save Kōloa’s Petition to Intervene and refer as a contested case to the Office of Boards & 
Commissions for assignment to a hearings officer. I’d like to have a roll call, please. 

Ms. Barzilai: Roll call, Madam Chair. Commissioner Ornellas? 

Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Motion carries. 4:0. 

Vice Chair Apisa: The Petition of Friends of Māhā'ulepū and Save Kōloa is denied in-part with regard to 
all issues related to Subdivision Application No. S-2021-7, 5425 Pau A Laka, LLC’s extension request to 
file final subdivision map. Sufficiency of standing is not reached regarding this request. Intervention is 
limited to an application for tentative subdivision approval, which in the matter of S-2021-7 was approved 
by the Commission on August 10, 2021. The motion to defer S-2021-7 to a future agenda pending a legal 
opinion from the Office of County Attorney passed by the Subdivision Committee, is hereby approved, 
and ratified by the Commission. Remainder of the Friends of Māhā'ulepū and the Pacific Resource 
Partnership Petition regarding Meridian Pacific’s Class IV Zoning PDU and Use Permits will be referred 
as a contested case to the Office of Boards & Commissions for assignment to a hearings officer. Parties 
are deemed to have standing to proceed. The referral shall include the following limiting instructions to 
the hearing officer. Manner is referred to educate Petitioner's claims only where the evidence 
demonstrates a clear nexus between the claim and the proposed amendment to Condition No. 26. The 
proposed amendment reads as follows: Prior to building permit approval, the applicant shall submit a 
master drainage plan for its land mauka of Po'ipū Road, rezoned under Moana Corporation Ordinance No. 
PM-31-79, for the Department of Public Works Engineering Division’s review and approval, including 
any possible storm water effect on Kāneiolouma Heiau. Any other practitioners’ claims related to the 
unrelated to the proposed amendment to Condition No. 26 or any other extraneous issues raised, shall not 
be considered during the contested case. The Commission at the discretion of Boards & Commissions., 
request that to the extent possible at the discretion of the Boards & Commissions, that this contested case 
commence within 60 days. Parties are strongly encouraged to enter into mediation. A written decision in 
order of the Commission will follow. Going back to our agenda. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, it might be an appropriate time to take lunch for the Commission at this time, now 
that you’ve rendered your decision. 

Vice Chair Apisa: That’s a good suggestion. Okay with the Commissioners we take a lunch break at this 
time. 
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Ms. Streufert: Yes. 

Vice Chair Apisa: 30 minutes should be plenty of time. We’ll adjourn for a 30-minute lunch break. 

Commission went into a lunch break at 1:22 p.m. 
Commission reconvened from lunch at 2:07 p.m. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Call the Open Meeting back to order. We left off at Continue Public Hearing. We have 
none for this meeting. New Public Hearing, we have none for this meeting. Consent Calendar Status 
Report, again none for this meeting, and Director’s Report for Project(s) Scheduled for Agency Hearing, 
none for this meeting. So, going into General Business Matters. 

GENERAL BUSINESS MATTERS 

In the Matter of the Petition to revoke: (1) Land Use Commission District Boundary 
Amendment under Decision and Order A76-418, as amended August 5, 1997; and (2) 
Class IV Zoning Permit (Z-IV-2006-27), Use Permit (U-2006-26), and Project 
Development Use Permit (PDU-2006-25) for a development situated at the Pau A Laka 
Street/Kiahuna Plantation Drive, 5425 Pau A Laka Street,. Tax Map Key: 2-8-014: 032, 
and containing a total area of 27.886 acres, Petitioners Friends of Mahaulepu and save 
Koloa's Petition for to Intervene and, Alternatively for Denial of Applications. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair, there’s no one present, but is there anyone outside who would like to testify? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Do I go out there and ask? 

Ms. Barzilai: No, there is no one outside waiting to testify. 

Vice Chair Apisa: There is no one here to testify. Since there is no one here to testify. With regard to 
Friends of Māhā'ulepū/Save Kōloa’s Petition for revocation of permits, in accordance with Commission 
Rules 1-12-5, this petition should be referred to the Planning Director to issue his report in accordance 
with the rule, and to render his report consistent with the Fifth Circuit Court's findings of fact, conclusions 
of law and order, and denying with prejudice. E Ola Kākou Hawai'i, motion for preliminary injunction. In 
the matter of E Ola Kākou Hawai'i et al. vs. County of Kaua'i 5425 Pau A Laka, LLC., Kaua'i Hale Inc., 
Kauanoe O Kōloa et al., Civil No. 5CCV-22-0000036, filed with Fifth Circuit Court on July 7th, 2023. 
Commissioners is there a need for any discussion. Or if not, I’m ready for a motion to refer the Petition to 
the Planning Director. Is there any need for discussion on this? 

Ms. Otsuka: Not from me. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Then I’m ready for a motion to refer this to the Planning Director. 

Ms. Otsuka: Chair, I'd like to make a motion. To refer the Petition to the Planning Director to generate a 
report. 

Vice Chair Apisa & Ms. Streufert: Both seconded. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We have a motion on the floor. Any discussion? Hearing none. We’ll take a roll call, 
please. 

Ms. Barzilai: Yes, Madam Chair. Commissioner Ornellas? 
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Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Ms. Barzilai: Motion carries, Chair. 4:0. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Communications, we have none for this meeting. Unfinished Business, there is none. 
Are you back for New Business? 

Mr. Hull: I’m back for New Business. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Alright, Ka'aina will take it over for New Business. 

Mr. Hull: Thanks, Chair. We have Agenda Item L. 

NEW BUSINESS 

CLASS IV ZONING PERMIT (Z-IV-2023-9) and USE PERMIT (U-2023-6) to allow 
installation of security fencing, wastewater and associated site improvements at the base 
yard facility in Lihue, situated along the western side of Wehe Road and immediately 
adjacent to the County Department of Water, further identified as 4398 Pua Loke Street, 
Tax Map Key: (4) 3-8-005:002 and containing a total area of 7.319 acres = State of 
Hawai'i, Department of Land & Natural Resources (DLNR), Division of Forestry 
and Wildlife (DOFAW). (Director's Report Received 3/28/2023; deferred 4/11/2023). 

Mr. Hull: I’ll turn it over…well, let me first ask, is there any public testimony on this item? We don't have 
anybody signed up. Anybody here that would like to testify on this agenda item? Seeing none, I’ll turn it 
over to our staff for a brief report. 

Staff Planner Shelea Koga: Hi. Good afternoon, commissioners. 

Ms. Koga read the Summary, Project Data, Project Description and Use, Additional Findings, 
Preliminary Evaluation, and Preliminary Conclusion sections of the Director’s Report for the 
record (on file with the Planning Department). 

Mr. Hull: What that’s saying is that during the Agency Hearing we’re recommending that this be deferred 
up to 90 days to afford the two agencies, Public Works, and the Housing Agency a little more time to 
comment on the application. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Any discussion on this? 

Ms. Streufert: Do you know if there’s a reason why it they haven’t been able to comment? 
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Mr. Hull: I’m not sure about the delay, quite honestly. I know that, in particular Public Works had some 
issues because they're unawares of the desire of this development to tap in to their… 

Ms. Streufert: Water? 

Mr. Hull: Sewage pump line, I believe, and to kind of (inaudible) that put further, but aside from that 
I…Shelea did reach out them multiple times before this meeting. I’m kinda giving them a, “say now or 
forever hold your peace communication,” subsequent to this.  

Vice Chair Apisa: Are we ready for a motion? 

Ms. Streufert: I move to defer this matter for a 90-day period until such time as comments are received 
from these agencies. 

Ms. Otsuka: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: We have a motion on the floor. Any discussion? Hearing none, roll call vote, please. 

Mr. Hull: Roll call, Madam Chair. Commissioner Streufert? 

Ms. Streufert: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Otsuka? 

Ms. Otsuka: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Ornellas? 

Mr. Ornellas: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Commissioner Cox, Ako, and DeGracia are excused. Chair Apisa? 

Vice Chair Apisa: Aye. 

Mr. Hull: Motion passes, Madam Chair. 4:0. With that, we have no further agenda items.  

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Topics for Future Meetings 

Mr. Hull: We do have a handful of subdivisions coming up at the August 8th meeting. We also have the 
Waimea Gymnasium proposal, and I believe a residential development on the eastside. Other than that, 
are there any other things that the Commission would like the Department to bring forward or brief the 
Commission now, we can definitely work with you folks individually, and with that, I’ll announce the 
next meeting, unless there’s any questions. Okay, then the following regularly scheduled Planning 
Commission meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., or shortly thereafter, on August 8, 2023. The Planning 
Commission anticipates this meeting to be held in-person at the Lihu'e Civic Center, Office of Boards and 
Commissions, 4444 Rice Street, Suite 300, Lihu'e, Kaua'i, Hawai'i. The Commission will announce its 
intended meeting method via an agenda electronically posted at least six days prior to the meeting date. 
With that we’re ready for adjournment, Chair. 

Vice Chair Apisa: Ready for adjournment. 
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Ms. Otsuka: Motion to adjourn. 

Mr. Ornellas: Second. 

Vice Chair Apisa: All in favor. Voice vote. Aye (unanimous voice vote). Motion is approved. 4:0. 
Meeting is adjourned.  

Vice Chair Apisa adjourned the meeting at 2:17 p.m. 

             Respectfully submitted by: 

      _________________________ 

               Lisa Oyama, 
    Commission Support Clerk 

(  ) Approved as circulated (date of meeting approved). 

(  ) Approved as amended. See minutes of ______________ meeting. 
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Kauai County Planning Commission 
Chair Francis DeGracia 
Attn: Ka'aina Hull, Planning Director 
Via hand delivery 

July 03, 2023 

COUNTY OF !<t,UAJ

·23 Jur� 33 P 1 :21

PL/i,NH1NG DEPT.

Re: Class IV Zoning Permit Z-IV-1983-27 (Ame'ndment) 
Use Permit U-1983-17 (Amendment) 
Special Management Area Use Permit SMA (U)-1983-4 (Amendment) 
Tax Map Key: (4) 2-6-005:011 
Koloa, Kauai 
IP2 LLC dba The Beach House Restaurant 

Dear Chair DeGracia and Planning Commissioners: 

This firm represents the above-referenced applicant (The Beach House) and 
refers your attention to the April 12, 2022 Planning Commission approval of the use of 
an outdoor tent and furniture fixtures under certain conditions. The terms of the April 
2022 approval will expire on October 11, 2023 and we are writing to request permanent 
use of the activities under the same terms and conditions. 

The original purpose of the request was to accommodate outdoor dining in the 
wake of the Corona virus pandemic. The outdoor dining became hugely successful. 
While outdoor dining on the lawn was always popular, the use of the tent allowed the 
Beach House to accommodate parties, mostly weddings, in all weather. 

The Beach House has complied with all conditions of the April 2022 approval. 
Only in one instance did we have a complaint, and that was because the music ended 
five minutes late one night. It was the first time a live band was playing an event, and 
no live band has since been used. The violation was resolved with the one-time vendor 
and will not reoccur. 

In keeping with condition 22 of the permit, we are submitting as Exhibit "A" a 
redacted list of all events along with the recorded decibel readings for last year. This is 
to respond to concerns about noise levels. The same exhibit also satisfies condition 23 
of the permit, which limits the outdoor events to 20 per month. The busiest month was 
July 2022, which had 19 events. We also attach as Exhibit "B" to show the bookings for 
this year and again they are within the parameters of the permit, being fewer than 20 
events per month. 

Honolulu Office: P. 0. Box 2800 • Honolulu, Hawai'i 96803-2800 Kaua·1 Office: 4463 Pahe'e St., Suite 208• Lihu"e, Hawaii 96766 
Five Waterfront Plaza, 4th Floor• 500 Ala Moana Boulevard • Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 Telephone: (808) 632-2267 • Fax: (808) 524-8293 
Telephone: (808) 529-7300 • Fax: (808) 524-8293 

F.2.a./M.1.
October 10, 2023



Kauai County Planning Commission 
Chair Francis DeGracia 
Attn: Ka'aina Hull, Planning Director 
July 03, 2023 
Page2 

Semi-annual reports have been forwarded to your department periodically, 
pursuant to condition 25 of the permit. 

Enclosures 

cc: Sara Hill 
Erica Dunn 

Sincerely yours, 
McCorriston Miller Mukai MacKinnon 

Laurel Loo 
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Beach House Events Decibel Measurements Event Date 

P. Wedding 1/5/23 

8-EWedding 1/11/23 

KG Automotive Dinner 1/24/23 

Mayo Clinic Dinner 2/1/23 

H-PWedding 2/3/23 

F-GWedding 2/11/23 

Aqua T erra Dinner 2/16/23 

M-FWedding 2/18/23 

H-GWedding 2/19/23 

Y-NWedding 2/23/23 

Kuhio Shores Owners Meeting 3/5/23 

K-S Rehearsal dinner 3/16/23 

E-TWedding 3/27/23 

H-SWedding 3/31/23 

H-MWedding 4/5/23 

8-S Wedding 4/8/23 

C-NWedding 4/14/23 

N-SWedding 4/15/23 

8-L Wedding 4/21/23 

M-J Wedding 4/22/23 

G-WWedding 4/28/23 

J-LWedding 5/6/23 

L-DWedding 5/11/23 

G-GWedding 5/20/23 

H-KWedding 5/26/23 

8-WWedding 6/3/23 

Exhibit "A" 

Decibel Reading 

68.2 

69.1 

68.9 

69.2 

69.6 

69.9 

69.8 

69.9 

68.5 

68.9 

68.1 

69.8 

69.8 

69.9 

68.9 

69.9 

69.8 

69.8 

69.7 

67.2 

69.9 

69.9 

69.7 

69.8 

69.9 
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Beach House Events 2023 

Event Name 

P Welcome Dinner 
K G  Automotive Dinner 

IAPMO I Board of Director Farewell Dinner 
Mayo Oinic Dinner 
H·PWedding 
F-G Wedding
Aqua Terra Dinner
M·FWedding
H·G Wedding + fl NEW DATE (org 4/29/23)
Y·Ni Wedding
Kuhio S hores I S unset & Cocktalls
B·K Wedding I XCLD 
K·S Rehearsal Dinner {SB}
E·T Wedding {SB}
H·S Wedding {LG}
H·M Wedding {LG}
B·S Wedding {LG} +
C·N Wedding
N· SWedding +
B·L Wedding +
M·J Wedding +
*G·W Wedding I 091522
*MCA I Vertafore Everest Club - moved 4/4/23
J·L Wedding
L·D Wedding
G·G Wedding +
H·K Wedding +
B-GWedding
C·CWedding
S -PWedding
C-L Wedding +
A·G Wedding
N·CWedding
W-J Wedding +
G·G Wedding
H·C Wedding +
N·K Wedding
*C Wedding I original date 071722
K·D Wedding
M·P Wedding
M·M Wedding +
P·LWedding
S ·G Wedding
R-W Wedding
R·C Wedding +
K·M Wedding
W· AWedding
H· N Wedding
G·Q Wedding
C·R Wedding {SB}
D·N Wedding {SB}
L·H Wedding {SB}
R·G Wedding {SB}
H·S Wedding {SB}
T·W Wedding {SB}
H·WWedding
B-S Wedding
L-D Wedding
O'C·P Wedding
C G- F Wedding

Date 

1/5/23 
1/24/23 

1/25/23 
2/1/23 
2/3/23 
2/11/23 

2/16/23 
2/18/23 
2/19/23 
2/23/23 
3/5/23 
3/7/23 
3/16/23 
3/27/23 
3/31/23 
4/5/23 
4/8/23 
4/14/23 
4/15/23 

4/21/23 
4/22/23 
4/28/23 
5/1/23 
5/6/23 
5/11/23 
5/20/23 
5/26/23 
6/3/23 
6/10/23 
6/16/23 
6/17/23 
6/18/23 
6/24/23 
6/29/23 
7/1/23 
7/7/23 
7/15/23 
7/17/23 
7/22/23 
7/29/23 
8/4/23 
8/11/23 
8/12/23 
8/18/23 
8/19/23 
8/26/23 
9/2/23 
9/3/23 
9/23/23 
9/30/23 
10/1/23 
10/4/23 
10/7/23 
10/13/23 
10/14/23 
10/21/23 
10/28/23 
11/3/23 
11/18/23 
12/31/23 

Exhibit "B" 



Romio ldica 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Attachments: 

Planning Department 
Wednesday, August 30, 2023 7:49 AM 
Romie ldica 
FW: Beach House - Special Event Decibel Readings 
BH Decibel Readings 2023.pdf 

From: Erica Dunn <erica@thebeachhousekauai.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2023 5:21 PM 

To: Planning Department <planningdepartment@kauai.gov> 
Cc: Sara Hill <sara@hcrestaurants.com>; Tiffany Lee <tiffany@thebeachhousekauai.com> 
Subject: Beach House - Special Event Decibel Readings 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the County of Kauai. Do not click links or open attachments even if the 
sender is known to you unless it is something you were expecting. 

Aloha, 

Attached please find the semi-annual report on decibel readings for all special events held on the lawn of the Beach 
House. This document includes all 2023 events year to date. Ma halo! 

Aloha, 

Erica Dunn 
General Manager 
The Beach House 
(808),742-1424 
www.the-beach-house.com 

IHI::. 

U'EttC[' T: L�) ::,L •L," "Ii 

I,..!: ..-,r: T!� r:-lH_ ... �_.., t_;c,., �:JI.� 

On Mon, Mar 6, 2023 at 1:39 PM Erica Dunn <erica@thebeachhousekauai.com> wrote: 

Aloha, 

Attached please find the semi-annual report on decibel readings for all special events held on the lawn of the Beach 
House from 9/8/22-12/31-22 and also from 1/1/23-3/5/23. Feel free to contact me if you have any questions. Ma halo 
nui! 

Aloha, 

Erica Dunn 
General Manager 
The Beach House 
(808) 742-1424

1 

F.2.a.1./M.1.a
OCT 1 o 2023 



On Fri, Sep 9, 2022 at 4:24 PM Erica Dunn <erica@thebeachhousekauai.com> wrote: 

I Aloha, 

Attached please find the decibel readings for all special events at the Beach House during the last six months. These 
meter readings were taken during the dancing portion of the events (usually around 8:00-8:30pm). Feel free to 
contact me if you have any questions. Have a great weekend! Maha lo! 

Aloha, 

Erica Dunn 
General Manager 
The Beach House 
(808) 742-1424
www.the-beach-house.com

I HI.: 

f:'i)·I·� EJ.Cr.,,.� Q; __.,j_•'h C 

r-{c�X}S·E 
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Beach House Events Decibel Measureme Event Date 

Powers Wedding 1/5/23 

Beykirch-Egan Wedding 1/11/23 

Decibel 

Reading 

68.2 

69.1 

Ken Garff Automotive Dinner 1/24/23 I 68.9 

Mayo Clinic Dinner 2/1/23 69.2 

Hines-Pennington Wedding 2/3/23 69.6 

Fard-Gomez Wedding 2/11/23 69.9 

Aqua Terra Dinner 2/16/23 69.8 

Moore-Faddoul Wedding 2/18/23 69.9 

Hewitt-Geodecke Wedding 2/19/23 68.5 

Yefimov-Noviski Wedding 2/23/23 68.9 

Kuhio Shores Owners Meeting 3/5/23 68.1 

Kundysek-Solari Rehearsal dinner 3/16/23 69.8 

Edwards-Takanti Wedding 3/27/23 69.8 

Holloway-Stompro Wedding 3/31/23 69.9 

Hamel-Makusen Wedding 4/5/23 68.9 

Bowman-Solak Wedding 4/8/23 69.9 

Crawley-Nethery Wedding 4/14/23 69.8 

Navarra-Seigel Wedding 4/15/23 69.8 

Baumann-Ianeve Wedding 4/21/23 69.7 

Mendoza-Jiminez Wedding 4/22/23 67.2 

Gombert-Whitney Wedding 4/28/23 69.9 

Jacinto-Longino Wedding 5/6/23 69.9 

Large-Desmond Wedding 5/11/23 69.7 

Gardner-Gonyea Wedding 5/20/23 69.8 

Halliwell-Kiedinger Wedding 5/26/23 69.9 

Borcherding-Gali Wedding 6/3/23 69.6 

Camba-Choi Wedding 6/10/23 69.8 

Sune-Peck Wedding 6/16/23 69.8 

Cano-Lowe Wedding 6/17/23 69.9 

Andres-Guirao Wedding 6/18/23 69.9 



Noel-Cullison Wedding 6/24/23 69.9 

Wells-Jones Wedding 6/29/23 69.9 

Guila-Guzman Wedding 7/1/23 69.8 

Hsu Wedding 7/7/23 69.8 

Nguyen-Kwok Wedding 7/15/2023 69.8 

Cairns-Broward Wedding 7/17/2023 68.7 

Kaufman-Dinsmore Wedding 7/22/2023 69.7 

Mayer-Packer Wedding 7/29/23 69.9 

Modlin-Mattson Wedding 8/4/23 69.9 

Wildman Group Dinner 8/9/23 69.7 

Phung-Liaw Wedding 8/11/23 69.9 

Schwalm-Green Wedding 8/12/23 69.8 

Ruble-Wiggins Wedding 8/18/23 69.9 

Retula-Cubillo Wedding 8/19/23 69.8 

Komatsu-Mensch Wedding 8/26/23 69.8 



DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING 

KA'AINA HULL, DIRECTOR

JODI A. HIGUCHI SAVEGUSA, DEPUTY DIRECTOR

I. SUMMARY

Action Required by 
Planning Commission: 

Permit Application Nos. 

Name of Applicant(s) 

II. PERMIT INFORMATION

� Use Permit 

D Project Development Use 
Permit 

D Variance Permit 

D Special Permit 

D Zoning Permit Class 

Div 

D111 

� Special Management Area 
Permit 

�Use 

D Minor 

D Zoning Amendment 

D General Plan Amendment 

D State Land Use District 
Amendment 

DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

DEREK S.K. KAWAKAMI, MAYOR 

REIKO MATSUYAMA, MANAGING DIRECTOR 

Consideration of an amendment to Condition No. 24 that would allow 
permanent use of an outdoor area for dining and special event 
activities on the parcel. 

Class IV Zoning Permit Z-IV-1983-27 (Amendment #2) 
Use Permit U-1983-17 (Amendment #2) 
Special Management Area Use Permit SMA(U)-1983-4 (Amendment 
#2) 

IP2 LLC DBA THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT 

PERMITS REQUIRED 

Pursuant to Section 205A of the Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
and the Special Management Area Rules and Regulations of the 
County of Kaua'i, the change in intensity of use of land, including 
but not limited to the division or subdivision of land; which 
constitutes "Development". Therefore, an SMA Use Permit is 
required as defined in Section 7 .3 of the SMA Rules. 

AMENDMENTS 

F.2.a.2./M.1.b.
OCT 10 2023 



Date of Receipt of Completed Application: August 17, 2023 

Date of Director's Report: September 22, 2023 

Date of Public Hearing: October 10, 2023 

Deadline Date for PC to Take Action (GOTH

Ill. PROJECT DATA 

Day): December 9, 2023 

PROJECT INFORAMTION 

Parcel Location: The project is located on the makai portion of Lawa'i Road adjacent to the 

Lawa'i Beach Resort. 

Tax Map Key(s): (4) 2-6-005:011 I Area: I 0.8012 acres

ZONING & DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Zoning: Commercial Neighborhood (C-N)/ Open (O) 

State Land Use District: Urban (U) 

General Plan Designation: Natural 

Height Limit: 40 feet 

Max. Land Coverage: Commercial Neighborhood (C-N): 80% max. 

Open (0): 10% maximum 

Parking Requirement: N/A 

Front Setback: 10 feet 

Rear Setback: Five (5) feet or½ the wall plate height or whichever is 

greater 

Side Setback: Five (5) feet or½ the wall plate height or whichever is 

greater 

Community Plan Area: South Kaua'i Community Plan 

Community Plan Land Use Designation: N/A 

Deviations or Variances Requested: N/A 

IV. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Section 8.0, 9.0, and 10.0 of the This report is being transmitted to the Applicant and 

Special Management Area Rules Planning Commission in order to satisfy the requirements of 

and Regulations: Sections 8.0, 9.0, and 10.0 of the Special Management Area 
Rules and Regulations. The application was received on 
August 17, 2023 and the Applicant, through its authorized 

agent, was notified accordingly of the Planning 

Department's intent to commence permit processing. 

Public Hearing Date: October 10, 2023 

21Page 
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During the height of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, safety protocols such as safe social 

distancing had become a challenge for the applicant in order to allow in-door dining and hold 

special events on the subject parcel. As a result in 2021, the applicant applied for a Special 

Management Area Emergency Permit (SMA (E)-2022-1 that expanded the dining area of the 

restaurant onto the makai lawn area with a temporary tent and temporary furniture fixtures. 

Then on April 12, 2022, the applicant submitted an amendment to the existing Class IV Zoning 

Permit Z-IV-1983-27, Use Permit U-1983-17, and Special Management Area Use Permit SMA(U)-

1983-4 that would allow the outdoor dining and conduct special event activities in perpetuity. 

However, due to public comments concerning the frequency of events and associated noise 

impacts, the Planning Commission granted temporary approval of a time period of 18 months 

from the date of approval (See Exhibit "A" Letters of Approval.) 

As noted in the approval letter, Condition No. 24 reads: 

"24. Approval of the outdoor lawn area for restaurant and event purposes shall be for a 

temporary time period of 18 months from the date of approval. The applicant may 

request an extension of this outdoor lawn restaurant use and event entitlement from 

the Planning Commission. If an extension request is made, the publication and 

neighboring property notification requirements established under Chapter 8-3.1 of 

the Kaua'i County Code and Section 9 of the Planning Commission's Special 

Management Area Rules and Regulations shall be met prior to the respective public 

hearing. " 

V. APPLICANT'S REASONS/JUSTIFICATION

Please refer to the application.

VI. PRELIMINARY EVALUATION

Based on the circumstances involving this development, the Applicant's request to amend

Condition No. 24 that would allow permanent use of the outdoor area for dining and special

events are justified and no problems are foreseen in granting the Applicant's request. As noted

above, the use of the outdoor has not resulted in detrimental impacts to the surrounding area and

proves to be compatible provided that the operations are conducted during the time specified in

the permits.

It is also noted that within the 18 month time span since operations were approved, the applicant

received only one complaint due to music performed by a live band ending 5 minutes over time

allotted for events to end. The applicant resolved this complaint by prohibiting live bands to be

played at events.

VII. PRELMINARY RECOMMENDATION

Z-IV-1983-27, U-1983-17, SMA(U)-1983-4; Director's Report

IP2 LLC DBA THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT

September 22, 2023
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The Planning Department recommends that Condition No. 24 be eliminated in it's entirety. 

Based on the foregoing evaluation, it is hereby recommended that the amendment to Class IV 

Zoning Permit Z-IV-1983-27, Use Permit U-1983-17, and Special Management Area Use Permit 

SMA(U)-1983-4 be APPROVED with the following conditions: 

NOTE: Material to be deleted in brackets & strikethrough, and new material is underlined. 

1. The applicant shall establish & record with the Bureau of Conveyances a floating 5-foot-wide

lateral easement along the shoreline for public access purposes and shall provide proper

signage.

2. The applicant shall provide 3 additional parking stalls for a total of 54 stalls, and shall screen

the parking areas from Lawa'i Beach Road. In addition, a portion of public parking area (9

stalls) shall be retained at the site immediately across from the proposed restaurant as

indicated on Exhibit "A".

3. The additional 33 parking stalls for Phase I of Lawa'i Beach Villas shall be provided prior to

issuance of the occupancy permit for the restaurant and shops.

4. The public parking, shower and restroom facilities shall remain at the site on Exhibit "A" and

shall be provided simultaneously with the completion of the proposed restaurant and shops.

That portion of the public parking to be relocated shall be provided at the time of completion

of Lawa'i Beach Villas Phase II.

5. A landscape plan shall be submitted for review and approval by the Planning Department prior

to applying for building permit.

6. Any major changes to building materials or design shall be subject to design review and

approval by this Commission.

7. The applicant shall meet Flood Ordinance No. 416 requirements and resolve driveway

entrance and width matters with the Public Works Department.

8. As recommended by the Water Department, the building permit shall not be granted until the

developer submits for review and approval, construction plans of the interior plumbing for the

proposed restaurant and of the appropriate backflow prevention device.

9. As recommended by the Department of Health:

a) The restaurant shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 1-A, Food Service and

Establishment Sanitation Code, Public Health Regulations, State of Hawai'i.

b) The restaurant shall be connected to the developer's wastewater treatment works.

41Page 
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c) Dust and soil erosion control measures shall be implemented during all stages of

development by the developer.

d) Due to the general nature of the application, we reserve the right to implement further

environmental restriction(s).

10. As required by the Fire Department, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the

Kaua'i County Fire Code including:

a) Installation of fire extinguishers.

b) Providing all weather driving surface roadways to the property.

c) Fire hydrants complying with Water Department standards are serviceable and within 250

feet of structure.

11. Hours of operation of the restaurant/bar shall not exceed 1:00 A.M.

12. The applicant is advised that prior to and/ or during construction and use, additional

government agency conditions may be imposed.

13. The proposed improvements under the 2022 amendments to the subject permits

shall be constructed as represented. Any changes to said development shall be

reviewed by the Planning Director to determine whether Planning Commission

review and approval is warranted.

14. The tent and furniture fixtures will be taken down as needed and not be left up for

more than a period of fourteen (14) consecutive days in duration during any three (3)

month period. The activities will cease no later than 9:30 p.m. nightly.

15. The Applicant is advised that the temporary tent placement and conduct of special

activities shall not impede use of the non-exclusive access easement to the shoreline

area.

16. The Applicant is advised that should any archaeological or historical resources be

discovered during ground disturbing/construction work, all work in the area of the

archaeological/historical findings shall immediately cease and the Applicant shall contact

the State Department of land and Natural Resources, Historic Preservation Division at (808}

692-8015 and the Planning Department at (808} 241-4050 to determine mitigation

measures.

17. In order to minimize adverse impacts on the Federally Listed Threatened Species, Newell's

Shearwater and other seabirds, if external lighting is to be used in connection with the

Z-IV-1983-27, U-1983-17, SMA(U)-1983-4; Director's Report
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proposed project, all external lighting shall be only of the following types: downward-facing, 

shielded lights. Spotlights aimed upward or spotlighting of structures shall be prohibited. 

18. The Applicant shall develop and utilize Best Management Practices (B.M.P's) during all

phases of development in order to minimize erosion, dust, and sedimentation impacts

of the project to abutting properties.

19. The Applicant shall resolve and comply with the applicable standards and requirements set

forth by the State Health Department, State Historic Preservation Division-DLNR, and the

County Departments of Public Works, Fire, Transportation, and Water.

20. To the extent possible within the confines of union requirements and applicable legal

prohibitions against discrimination in employment, the Applicant shall seek to hire

Kauai contractors if they are qualified and reasonably competitive with other contractors

and shall seek to employ residents of Kauai in temporary construction and permanent

resort-related jobs. It is recognized that the Applicant may have to employ non-Kauai

residents for particular skilled jobs where no qualified Kauai residents possesses such skills.

For the purposes of this condition, the Commission shall relieve the Applicant of this

requirement if the Applicant is subjected to anti-competitive restraints on trade or other

monopolistic practices.

21. The Planning Commission reserves the right to revise, add, or delete conditions of approval

in order to address or mitigate unforeseen impacts the project may, create, or to revoke the

permits through the proper procedures should conditions of approval not be complied with

or be violated.

22. Unless otherwise stated in the permit, once permit is issued, the Applicant must make

substantial progress, as determined by the Director, regarding the development or

activity within two (2) years, or the permit shall be deemed to have lapsed and be no

longer in effect.

23. The applicant shall have no more than twenty (20) outdoor events per month.

[24. Approval of the outdoor lawn area for restaurant and event purposes shall be for a 

temporary time period of 18 months from the date of approval. The applicant may request 

an extension of this outdoor la•Nn restaurant use and mmnt entitlement from the Planning 

Commission. If an extension request is made, the publication and neighboring property 

notification requirements established under Chapter 8 3.1 of the Kaua'i County Code and 

Section 9 of the Planning Commission's Special Management Area Rules and Regulations 

shall be met prior to the respective public hearing.] 

25. The applicant shall submit to the Planning Department a "Semi-Annual" report on monthly

events and decibel readings at each of those events.

Z-IV-1983-27, U-1983-17, SMA(U)-1983-4; Director's Report

IP2 LLC DBA THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT 

September 22, 2023 
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IP2 LLC DBA THE BEACH HOUSE RESTAURANT

September 22, 2023

ROMIG IDICA 
Planner 

Approved & Recommended to Commission: 

By��

=="• KA'AINA 5. ULL 

Date: ----'-1
-+-

/_rz,,L---+/_-zo_-z-_")_ 
I 
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EXHIBIT '' A'' 
(Original letters of approval) 



TONY T. KUNIMURA 
MI\YOR 

June 29, 198.3 

Mr. C. Poul Sand Hur, Sr, 
c/o Herman A. Hilson 

4273 Rice Street 
Lihue, Hawaii 96766 

COUNTY OF KAUAI 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

4280 RICE STREET 
LIHUE, KAUAI, HAWAII 96766 

Suhject: Specfal Mc:in:igement Area Use P?.nnit SMA(U)-83-4 
Use Permlt U-17-83 
Class IV Zonir.g Permit Z-IV-83-27 
TMK: 2-6-05:11 Kukuiu.la, Kau8i 

AVERY H. YOUN 
Pl.ANNING DIRECTOR 

TOM H. SHIGEMOTO 
DEPUTY PLANNING DIRECTOR 

TELEPHONE (808) 245-3919 

The Planning Commission at its meeting on June 22, 1983,. approved the 
subject permits to re-establish the 8each House Restaurent and shops within 
the Residential District at Kukuiula. Approval wos with the following 
conditions: 

J. The applicent s�all establish & record with the Bureau of
Conveyances a floating 5-foot wide lateral easem�nt along the
shoreline for public access purposes nnd shall provide proper
signage.

2. The applicant shF'lll provide 3 additional pnrking stalls for a totnl
of 54 stalls, and shall screen the parking areas from Lawal Beech
Roac;l. In addition, a portion of the public parking area (9 stalls)
shall be retained at the site immediately across from the proposed
restaurant as indic::tted on Exhibit 11A".

3. The additional 33 parking stalls for Phase I of Lawai Beach Vil fas
sha.11 be provined prior to issuance of the occupancy permit for the
restaurant and shops.



Mr. C, Paul Sandifur, Sr. 
Page 2 
June 29, .1983 

4. The publc parking, shower and restroom faclllties shall remain at
the site on ExhibH "A" and shsll b':! provided simultan�ously with
the completion of th� proposed resb:wrant and shops, That porUon
.of the public parking to be relocated sh3J.l be provided at the time
of completion of Lawa1 Beach Villas Phase rr.

5. A landscape plan shall be submitted for review and approval _by the
Planning Department prior to applying for building permit.

6. Any major changes to building rnateria ls or design shall be subje·ct
to design revie\t; and approval by this Commission.

7. The applicant shall meet Flood Ordin�mce No. 416 requirements, And
resolve driveway entrance an:J width matters with the Public Works
Department.

8. As·recommended by the Water Department, the buHding permit shall
not be granted .until the developer submits for review .and approval,
construction plans of tha interior plumbing for the proposed
restaurant and of the appropriate backflow prevention device.

9. As recommended by the Department of Health:

a) The restaurant shall conform to the requirements of Chapter
1-A, Food Service and Food Establishment Sanitation Code,
Public Health Regulations, State of Hawaii.

b) The restaurant shall be connected to the developer's wastewater
treatment works.

c) Dust and soil erosion control measures sha J1 be implemented
during all stages of development by the developer.

d) Due to the generr.11 nature of the applic8tion, we res8rve the
right to implement further environmental restriction(s}.

10. As required by the Fire Department, the applicant shall comply with
all requirements of th!? Kauai County Fire Code including:

a) Installation of fira extinguishers.



Mr. C. Paul Sandifur, Sr. 
Page 3 
J.ine 29, 1983

b) Providing all weather driving surfacP. roadways to the property.

c) Fire hydrants complying with Water Department standards are
serviceable and within 250 feet of structure.

. 11. Hours of operation of the restaurant/bar shall not exceed 1:00 A.M.

12. The applicant is advised that prior to and/or during construction
and use, additional g�vernment agency conditions may be imposed.
It shall be the �pplicnnt's responsibility to resolve tlDsc
conditions with the respective ;igency(les).

AVERY H. YOUN

Pl8nni ng • Director 

cc: Mayor 
Pub. Works Dept. 
vloter Dept. 
Health Dept. 
Fire Dept. 
Real Property D.tv. 
Sam Lee, DLNR 



PLANNING COMMISSION 

KAAINA S. HULL, CLERK OF COMMISION 

April 12, 2022 

McCorriston Miller Mukai MacKinnon LLP 

Laurel Loo 

4357 Rice Street Suite 102 

Lihu'e, Hawai'i 96766 

Subject: Class IV Zoning Permit Z-IV-1983-27 (Amendment) 

Use Permit U-1983-17 (Amendment) 

HELEN COX. CHAIR 

FRANCIS DEGRACIA. VICE CHAIR 

GERALD AKO, MEMBER 

DONNA APISA, MEMBER 

MELVIN CHIBA, MEMBER 

LORI OTSUKA, MEMBER 

Special Management Area Use Permit SMA(U)-1983-4 (Amendment) 

Tax Map Key: (4)-2-6-005:011 

Koloa, Kaua'i 

IP2 LLC dba The Beach House Restaurant 

Dear Ms. Loo, 

This letter memorializes the action taken by the Kaua'i Planning Commission effective April 12, 2022 

concerning approval of the above subject permits to allow the operation of outdoor dining and conduct 

special event activities on the parcel. The following conditions shall be added to the existing conditions 

of approvals for the subject permits: 

13. . The proposed improvements under the 2022 amendments to the subject permits

shall be constructed as represented. Any changes to said development shall be

reviewed by the Planning Director to determine whether Planning Commission

review and approval is warranted.

14. The tent and furniture fixtures will be taken down as needed and not be left up for

more than a period of fourteen (14) consecutive days In duration during any three (3)
month period. The activities will cease no later than 9:30 p.m. nightly.

15. The Applicant is advised that the temporary tent placement and conduct of special

activities shall not impede use of the non-exclusive access easement to the shoreline

area.

16. The Applicant is advised that should any archaeological or historical resources be
discovered during ground disturbing/construction work, all work in the area of the

archaeological/historical findings shall Immediately cease and the Applicant shall contact

the State Department of Land and Natural Resources, Historic Preservation Division at (808)

692-8015 and the Planning Department at (808) 241-4050 to determine mitigation

measures.

4444 Rice Street. Suite A473 • Lihu'e, Hawai'i 96766 • (808) 241-4050 (b} 
An Equal Opportunity Employer 
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Allow the operation of outdoor dining and conduct specfal event activities 
Z-IV-1983-27 (Amendment), U-1983-17 (Amendment), and SMA(U}-1983-4 (Amendment)
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17. In order to mlnTmize adverse Impacts on the Federally Listed Threatened Species, Newell's
Shearwater and other seabirds, If external lighting Is to be used in connection with the
proposed project, all external lighting shall be only of the following types: downward-facing,
shielded lights. Spotlights aimed upward or spotlighting of structures shall be prohibited.

18. The Applicant shall develop and utilize Best Management Practices (B.M.P's) during all
phases of development In order to minimize eroslon, dust, and sedimentation impacts
of the project to abutting properties.

19. The Applicant shall resolve and comply with the applicable standards and requirements set
forth by the State Health Department, State Historic Preservation Divlslon-DLNR, and the
County Departments of Public Works, Fire, Transportation, and Water.

20. To the extent possible within the confines of union requirements and applicable legal
prohibitions against discrimination in employment, the Applicant shall seek to hire
Kauai contractors if they are qualified and reasonably competitive with other contractors
and shall seek to employ residents of Kauai in temporary construction and permanent
resort-related Jobs. It is recognized that the Applicant may have to employ non-Kauai
residents for particular skilled jobs where no qualified Kauai residents possesses such skills.
For the purposes of this condition, the Commission shall relieve the Applicant of this
requirement ff the Applicant Is subjected to anti-competitive restraints on trade or other
monopolistic practices.

21. The Planning Commission reserves the right to revise, add, or delete conditions of approval
in order to address or mitigate unforeseen impacts the project may, create, or to revoke the
permits through the proper procedures should conditions of approval not be compiled with
or be violated.

22. Unless otherwise stated In the permit, once permit is Issued, the Applicant must make
substantial progress, as determined by the Director, regarding the development or
activity within two (2) years, or the permit shall be deemed to have lapsed and be no
longer In effect.

23. The applicant shall have no more than twenty (20) outdoor events per month.

24. Approval of the outdoor lawn area for restaurant and event purposes shall be for a
temporary time period of 18 months from the date of approval. The applicant may request
an extension of this outdoor lawn restaurant use and event entitlement from the Planning
Commission. If an extension request Is made, the publication and neighboring property
notification requirements established under Chapter 8�3.1 of the Kaua'i County Code and
Section 9 of the Planning Commission's Special Management Area Rules and Regulations
shall be met prior to the respective public hearing.





-I

BELLES GRAHAM LLP 

IAN K. JUNG 8626-0 
4334 Rice Street, Suite 202 
Lihue, Kauai, Hawaii 96766 
Telephone: (808) 245-2163 
Facsimile: (808) 245-3277 
Email: ikj@kauai-law.com 

Attorney for Applicants, 
MICHAEL SCHEIDLER, 
Trustee of Scheidler Family Trust 

BEFORE THE PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

OF THE 

COUNTY OF KAUAI 

In The Matter Of The Application ) 
) 

Of ) 
) 

MICHAEL SCHEIDLER, Trustee of the) 
Scheidler Family Trust, as amended, for) 
Special Management Area Use Permit for) 
property described as Lot 83-B-l, and further) 
identified by Kauai Tax Map Key No.) 
(4) 5-8-012:027. ) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_______________ ) 
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APPLICATION 

Comes now, MICHAEL SCHEIDLER, Trustee of the Scheidler Family Trust, as 

amended, Applicant in the above-captioned proceedings, by and through its undersigned attorney, 

and hereby submits the following Application: 

SECTION 1. APPLICANT/SUBJECT PROPERTY/OWNERS. 

1.1 Applicant. The Applicant is Michael Scheidler, Trustee of the Scheidler 

Family Trust, as amended ("Applicant"). The Applicant has authorized Ian K. Jung of Belles 

Graham LLP to file this Application pursuant to the Applicant's Authorization attached hereto as 

Exhibit "A". 

1.2 Subject Property. T�e property which is the subject matter of this 

Application is a Lot 83-B-1 of Wainiha Hui Lands, which contains 0.2409 acre, and is identified 

by Kauai Tax Map Key No. (4) 5-8-012:027 ("Subject Property"). A legal description of the 

Subject Property is contained in the Warranty Deed attached hereto as Exhibit "B". 

1.3 Ownership. The Applicant is the owner of the Subject Property, as shown 

in the Warranty Deed attached as Exhibit "B". 

SECTION 2. LOCATION LAND USE DESIGNATIONS OF PROPERTY. 

2.1 Location. The Subject Property is located in Wainiha, Kauai, Hawaii, and 

is shown on the Location Map attached hereto as Exhibit "C-1", on the Tax Map attached hereto 

as Exhibit "C-2", on the Real Property Tax Card attached hereto as Exhibit "C-3", and on the 

Google Earth Image attached hereto as Exhibit "C-4". 

2.2 Land Use Designations. The respective State Land Use Commission 

("SLUC"), Kauai General Plan, County of Kauai Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance ("CZO"), and 

other relevant land use designations for the Subject Property are described as follows: 

-5-
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a. SLUC. As shown on the Land Use District Boundary Map attached

as Exhibit "C-5", the Subject Property is located in the SLUC Urban District. The Subject Property 

has been located in the SLUC Urban District since the inception of the SLUC Districts. 

b. Kauai General Plan. As shown on the General Plan Map attached

as Exhibit "C-6", the Subject Property is located in the Kauai General Plan Residential Community 

Designation. The Subject Property maintained its Residential Community Designation in the 

Update to the Kauai General Plan (2018). 

c. CZO. As shown on the CZO Map attached as Exhibit "C-7", the

Subject Property is located in the CZO Residential (R-4) District. The Subject Property has been 

located in the CZO Residential (R-4) District since the adoption of the CZO. 

d. Development Plan Area. The Subject Property is located within the

North Shore Development Plan Area. The Subject Property has been located within the North 

Shore Development Plan Area since 1974 as adopted in Ordinance No. 239. 

e. Special Management Area. As shown on the Special Management

Area Map attached as Exhibit "C-8", all of the Subject Property is located within the 

Special Management Area ("SMA") of the County of Kauai. The Subject Property has been 

located within the SMA since the adoption of the SMA Rules (December 17, 1979). 

f. Shoreline/Shoreline Setback Area. The Subject Property is not

located along the Shoreline and all proposed improvements are within the delineated shoreline 

setback threshold area. The Applicant applied for a Shoreline Setback Determination for the 

improvements identified below, pursuant to the Shoreline Setback Ordinance of the County 

of Kauai (Ordinance No. 979), and codified in CZO Article 27. (See, Exhibit "D"). 

-6-
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g. Heritage Resources. As shown on the Heritage Resources Map

attached as Exhibit "C-9", the Subject Property is located within the Preserve Heritage Resources 

Designations (Updated to the Kauai General Plan, 2018). 

h. Violations. There are no known violations on the Subject Property

and it is currently vacant. 

2.3 Prior Land Use Permits. The Subject Property is subject to the following 

land use permits and conditions: 

a. Shoreline Setback Determination SSD-2022-28 (See, Exhibit "D").

SECTION 3. PAST, EXISTING AND PROPOSED USES OF SUBJECT PROPERTY. 

3.1 Past Uses. The Subject Property is currently vacant and past uses referenced 

in the Ka Pa' akai Analysis. 

3.2 Existing Structures. The Subject Property is currently vacant. 

3.3 Proposed Structures. The Applicant proposes a single-family dwelling unit 

as shown in Exhibits "E-1" and illustrated in Exhibit "E-2". The proposed single-family dwelling 

unit is a single-story structure designed in a modem Hawaiian plantation style of architecture. (See, 

Exhibits "E-1" and "E-2"). The single-family dwelling unit is 2,130 square feet of living area, 524 

square feet of lanai area, and 606 square feet of garage. 

In addition to the development of the Project pursuant to the Site Plan, the 

Applicant proposes to undertake the following new and/or related work that constitutes 

"Development" for the purposes of the SMA Rules and Regulations, as shown on the Site Plan 

(Exhibits "E-1" and "E-2"): (1) Single-family Dwelling Unit; (2) Outdoor Shower; (3) Driveway 

Improvements; (4) Drainage Improvements; (5) Landscaping; and, (6) related site utilities as 

shown on the enclosed Site Plan ( collectively referred to as "Project") (See, Exhibits "E-1" and 

"E-2"). 

-7-
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BELLES GRAHAM LLP 

IAN K. JUNG 8626-0 
3135 Akahi Street, #A 
Lihue, Kauai, Hawaii 967 66 
Telephone: (808) 245-2163 
Facsimile: (808) 245-3277 
Email: ikj@kauai-law.com 

Attorney for Applicant, 
HALE KAUAI TRUST 

BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE 

COUNTY OF KAUAI 

In The Matter Of The Application ) 
) 

Of ) 
) 

HALE KAUAI TRUST, Application for ) 
Special Management Area Use Permit ) 
(Reconstruction), for real property situated at ) 
Hanalei, Kauai, Hawaii, described as Lot 1-A,) 
Land Court Application 183 7 (Map 2), ) . 
identified by Kauai Tax Map Key No. ) 
(4) 5-5-002:007. ) 

) 

) 

) 

______________ 
) 
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• reduce or impose restrictions upon public access to tidal and submerged lands,
beaches, rivers or streams within the special management area; and

• adversely affect water quality, existing areas of open water free of visible
structures, existing and potential fisheries and fishing grounds, wildlife habitats,
estuarine sanctuaries or existing agricultural uses of land.

XI. PRELMINARY RECOMMENDATION

Based on the foregoing evaluation and conclusion, it is hereby recommended that the 
reconstruction of a the single-family residence, ADU Renovations, and renovations of the 
swimming pool and other associated stie improvements under Special Management Area Use 
Permit SMA(U)-2024-2 be approved with the following conditions: 

1. The proposed development shall be constructed as represented. Any changes to the
operation of the respective structure shall be reviewed by the County of Kaua'i,
Department of Planning to determine whether Planning Commission review and approval
is required.

2. In order to ensure that the project is compatibie with its surroundings and to minimize the
visual impact of the structures, the external color of the proposed dwelling shall be of
moderate to dark earth-tone color. The proposed color and landscape plan should be
submitted to the County of Kaua'i, Department of Planning for review and acceptance
prior to building permit submittal.

3. The applicant is advised that should any archaeological or historical resources be
discovered during ground disturbing/ construction work, all work in the area of the
archaeological/ historical findings shall immediately cease and the applicant shall contact
the State Department of Land and Natural Resources, Historic Preservation Division and
the County of Kaua'i, Department of Planning to determine mitigation measures.

4. In order to minimize adverse impacts on the Federally Listed Threatened Species, Newell's
Shearwater and other seabirds, if external lighting is to be used in connection with the
proposed project, all external lighting shall be only of the following types: downward
facing, shielded lights, spotlights aimed upward or spotlighting of structures shall be
prohibited.

5. The applicant shall develop and utilize Best Management Practices (B.M.P's) during all
phases of development in order to minimize erosion, dust, and sedimentation impacts of
the project to abutting properties.

6. The applicant shall resolve and comply with the applicable standards and requirements
set forth by the State Health Department, State Historic Preservation Division-DLNR,
Office of Hawaiian Affairs, and County Department of Public Works, Fire, Transportation,
and Water.

SMA(U)-2024-2; Director's Report 

Hale Kaua'i TR 

09.22.2023 
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1 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

1.1 PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Name: Hā‘ena State Park Comfort Station 
 
Location: Hā‘ena Ahupua‘a, Halele‘a Moku, Kaua‘i, Hawai‘i 
 Figure 1 shows the regional location map and surrounding uses. 

Address: Hā‘ena State Park 
 Kūhiō Highway  

Judicial District: Hanalei  

Tax Map Key: (4) 5-9-008:001 (portion) (Figure 2) 

Project Area: 0.75 acres (approximate area) 

Existing Use: Hā‘ena State Park Parking Lot 

Proposed Use: Construction of a new comfort station in the existing parking lot at 
Hā‘ena State Park (Park). The proposed comfort station will include 
men’s and women’s restrooms, an IWS system with a minimum R-2 
treatment, and rooftop solar system. A small washdown area (5’x5’) will 
also be located by the shuttle stop next to the existing drainage basin. All 
the improvements will be constructed in previously graded areas of the 
parking lot and the comfort station will be ADA accessible with new ADA 
parking stalls adjacent to the comfort station and an ADA-accessible path 
to the park entry.  

Land Use 
Designations:

  
 

State Land Use: Conservation (Figure 3) 

Conservation District Subzones: Resource Subzone (Figure 4) 

Kaua‘i General Plan: Parks and Recreation (Figure 5) 

North Shore Development Plan: Open (Figure 6) 

County Zoning: None  

Special Management Area 
(SMA): 

Within the SMA (Figure 7) 
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1.2 PROJECT CHECKLIST 

a. Pre-Application Meeting with the County Planning Department 
The Applicant (Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana) and its Agent (PBR HAWAII) met with the 
County of Kauaʻi (County) Planning Department staff for a pre-application meeting and 
informal interview of the Project on September 9, 2022. 

b. Completed Zoning Permit Application and Letters of Authorization 
Exhibit 1 contains a signed and completed County Zoning Permit Application. Exhibit 2 
includes an authorization letter for both Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana and PBR HAWAII 
from the government agency with control and management authority, the State of 
Hawaiʻi (State) Department of Land and Natural Resources (DLNR) Division of State Parks 
(State Parks). 

 
c. Completed SMA Assessment Form 

Exhibit 3 contains a signed and completed County Special Management Area (SMA) 
Permit Assessment Form. 
 

d. Project Description 
This document serves as the project description. 
 

e. Scaled Drawings 
Scaled civil engineering drawings are provided in Exhibit 4, including an existing site and 
demolition plan, site layout plan, grading plan, striping plan, and site details for the 
proposed civil improvements. It also includes the drawings for the proposed individual 
wastewater system (IWS). The plans include the required dimensions and circulation 
patterns, and distances from the nearest property line. Because this project is in the State 
Conservation District, there are no County zoning standards.  
 
Exhibit 5 includes the comfort station’s building plans and drawings including a site plan, 
floor plan, elevations detailing proposed finishes, existing and proposed grades, sections, 
structural plans, and a rendering that illustrates colors and materials. 
 
The scaled location map is provided in Figure 1 and the entire project site is located within 
the Special Management Area (SMA) boundary as shown in Figure 7. The Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) showing the 
flood hazard boundaries relative to the project site is provided in Figure 8. 
 

f. Fees 
A check for the required application fee of $1,476.46 is attached to the original 
application. 
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g. Certified Shoreline Survey 
Not applicable. According to written communications with County Planning Department 
staff on November 23, 2022, “The proposed Hā‘ena Comfort station is outside of the 500-
foot applicability of the Kaua‘i’s County Shoreline Ordinance Per sec 8-27-1…The site plan 
shows the development at 680 feet or more away from evidenced shoreline.” Exhibit 6 
contains the correspondence regarding the Shoreline Setback Determination.  
 

h. Photographs 
Site photographs keyed to an aerial view of the site are provided in Figure 9 showing 
access to the project site via Kūhiō Highway, uses on adjoining properties, and the 
adjacent parking area. The closest structure is the attendant shack along the highway. 
 

i. Environmental Impact Statement 
The Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Hāʻena State Park Master Plan (Final 
EIS) was accepted by Governor Ige on June 25, 2018. The proposed comfort station in the 
parking lot was included in the master plan but was moved east from its conceptual 
location in the plan due to the 
potential impacts to the loʻi and 
other sensitive cultural sites 
down-gradient of that location. 
See oblique aerial to the right, 
looking east with the loʻi in the 
foreground and the parking lot 
east of that in the middle 
background. The washdown 
area was contemplated to be 
located outside of the proposed 
comfort station, but since the 
comfort station was moved to the eastern side of the parking lot, the washdown station 
was left by the shuttle stop so that visitors could rinse off prior to boarding the shuttle or 
departing for their cars.  
 
The Final EIS is over 1,000 pages and can be downloaded at the following link: 
https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-06-23-KA-FEIS-Haena-State-
Park-Master-Plan.pdf 
 
The Governor’s acceptance of the Final EIS can be found at the following link: 
https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-07-08-KA-FEIS-Acceptance-
Haena-State-Park-Master-Plan.pdf 
 
This written project description describes the current design and location for the 
proposed comfort station and references information from the 2018 Final EIS as 
necessary.  

https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-06-23-KA-FEIS-Haena-State-Park-Master-Plan.pdf
https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-06-23-KA-FEIS-Haena-State-Park-Master-Plan.pdf
https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-07-08-KA-FEIS-Acceptance-Haena-State-Park-Master-Plan.pdf
https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/erp/EA_EIS_Library/2018-07-08-KA-FEIS-Acceptance-Haena-State-Park-Master-Plan.pdf
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j. Hawaiʻi State Constitution Article XII, Section 7 Statement  

To assist the State and its agencies in fulfilling its constitutional obligation as set forth in 
Article XII, Section 7 of the Hawaiʻi State Constitution, the Hawaiʻi Supreme Court 
provided an analytical framework in its ruling on Ka Paʻakai O Ka ʻĀina v. Land Use 
Commission (Ka Paʻakai). Discussion on cultural resources and Native Hawaiian traditional 
customary uses is provided in Section 3.2.2 and the full Ka Paʻakai analysis for the 
proposed project is provided in Exhibit 7. 
 

k. Wetlands Assessment and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Jurisdictional Assessment 
Because the area of the parking lot where the comfort station is proposed is mapped on 
the National Wetlands Inventory as a Freshwater Emergent Wetland (PEM1C), a wetlands 
assessment was prepared by Haley and Aldrich, Inc. (H&A) to seek a jurisdictional 
determination from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). H&A found that based on 
existing information along with the field data they collected, that no jurisdictional 
wetlands or Waters of the United States under the jurisdiction of the Department of the 
Army (33 CFR 328) were found within 50-feet of the parking area at Hāʻena State Park. 
The USACE concurred with that conclusion in its letter dated June 5, 2023. Both are 
included in Exhibit 8. 

1.3 LANDOWNER AND APPLICANT 

The State of Hawai‘i (State) Department of Land and Natural Resources (DLNR), Division of State 
Parks (DSP) is the government agency with control and management authority over the property, 
Government Lands set aside for Hā‘ena State Park. 

State of Hawai‘i  
Department of Land and Natural Resources  
Division of State Parks 
Alan Carpenter, Assistant Administrator 
P.O. Box 621 
Honolulu, Hawaii  96809 
(808) 587-0286 

1.4 APPLICANT 

Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana (Hui) is the Applicant for this application. Exhibit 2 contains the letter 
of authorization showing the agreement between DSP and the Hui. 

Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana 
Pua Chin, Executive Director 
P.O. Box 1225 
Hanalei, HI 96714 
(808) 346-1483 
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1.5 PLANNING CONSULTANT AND AUTHORIZED AGENT 

PBR HAWAII & Associates, Inc. (PBR HAWAII) is Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana’s planning consultant 
and the Authorized Agent for the application. See Exhibit 2 for the letter of authorization. 

PBR HAWAII & Associates, Inc. 
Kimi Yuen, Vice-President 
1001 Bishop Street, Suite 650 
Honolulu, HI 96813 
(808) 521-5631 x24 

1.6 SUMMARY OF PERMITS REQUIRED 

Permit/Approval Responsible Agency 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) Permit State Department of Health (DOH) 
Noise Permit 

Permit Application to Perform Work Upon 
State Highways State Department of Transportation (DOT) 

Special Management Area Use Permit 
Kaua‘i Planning Department Shoreline Setback Determination 

(Completed) 

Building Permit 
Kaua‘i Department of Public Works (DPW) 

Grading Permit 
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2 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

2.1 LOCATION AND SURROUNDING USES 

The proposed project is located in the ahupua‘a of Hā‘ena, Halele‘a Moku on the north shore of 
the Island of Kaua‘i within Hā‘ena State Park (Park). The proposed comfort station and washdown 
area are in the main parking lot serving Hā‘ena State Park just off Kūhiō Highway. The parking lot 
is on the southern edge of the approximately 50.38-acre parcel that makes up the majority of 
Hā‘ena State Park (TMK (4) 5-9-008:001). Figure 1 shows the regional location map and 
surrounding uses. Figure 2 shows the TMK map and site photographs are provided in Figure 9.  

Hā‘ena State Park is surrounded by lands in the Conservation District. Nāpali Coast State 
Wilderness Park occupies the lands to the south and west of the Park. East of the Park, land is 
developed at low densities with single family dwellings along the coast and Limahuli Garden 
mauka of the highway. See the Google Earth aerial view looking south below. Kūhiō Highway 
serves as the only roadway access in or out of the Park.  

 

One of the Park’s main features is Kē‘ē Beach, a popular place for swimming, snorkeling, and 
sunbathing. Fisherman/women also utilize the nearby waters at Hā‘ena. The Park contains 
extensive historical, archaeological, and cultural features which are frequented by cultural 
practitioners. Additionally, within the Park is the trailhead to the Kalalau Trail, which is part of 
the Nāpali Coast State Wilderness Park. Facilities within the Park include a visitor parking lot, a 

LIMAHULI GARDEN 

HĀʻENA STATE PARK 
KĒʻĒ  

 NORTH 
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pedestrian path leading from the parking lot to Kē‘ē Beach (including a boardwalk through the 
lo‘i), and an existing comfort station near Kēʻē.  

2.2 PROPOSED PROJECT 

The proposed comfort station is a part of the the Haʻena State Park Master Plan (Master Plan), 
which was approved by the Board of Land and Natural Resources in 2018 along with a Final 
Environmental Impact Statement that was accepted by Governor Ige on June 25, 2018. The 
Master Plan provides management strategies for the Park to protect and restore its cultural, 
historic, natural, and scenic resources through safe public access, educational opportunities, and 
enhanced community enjoyment. Only a few new structures were proposed in the Master Plan 
to maintain the natural beauty and openness of the area. This new comfort station was proposed 
in the main visitor parking lot to provide a second comfort station in a more convenient location 
and reduce the amount of wastewater generated at the existing Kē‘ē comfort station. The Hā‘ena 
State Park Master Plan is shown in Figure 10. 

The proposed comfort station will be a single-story structure with a men’s restroom including 
one ADA toilet stall, two urinals, and a two-faucet sink basin, and a women’s restroom including 
one ADA toilet stall, two standard toilet stalls, and a two-faucet sink basin. There will also be a 
drinking water filling station in the breezeway between the two restrooms. Underground Fuji 
Clean anaerobic wastewater treatment systems with ultraviolet (UV) disinfection are proposed 
for each restroom with absorption beds located under the existing gravel parking lot (see Exhibit 
4). Wastewater treatment will be to R-2 water quality at a minimum. An ADA-compliant walkway 
will connect the new comfort station to the shuttle stop and park entrance. Two additional ADA-
accessible parking stalls will be built on either side of the comfort station. However, there will be 
an overall loss of fifteen parking stalls in the parking lot due to the proposed improvements. The 
civil engineering plans for the proposed site work is shown in Exhibit 4.  

A small washdown area (five feet by five feet) will also be located by the shuttle stop next to the 
existing drainage basin. As noted earlier, the washdown area was contemplated to be located 
outside of the proposed comfort station, but since the comfort station was moved to the eastern 
side of the parking lot, the washdown station was left by the shuttle stop so that visitors could 
rinse off prior to boarding the shuttle or departing for their cars. See site plan in Exhibit 5. 

2.3 SHORELINE SETBACK DETERMINATION 

Although the project area is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline, well over the 500 feet 
specified in Kaua‘i County Code (KCC) Section 8.27.8(a) requiring a shoreline setback 
determination (SSD), the property on which the project is located abuts the shoreline. A Shoreline 
Setback Application for a Determination of Applicability was submitted to the Planning 
Department on November 14, 2022. On November 23, 2022, the Planning Department confirmed 
the determination of exemption for the project. Exhibit 6 contains the SSD submission to the 
County of Kaua‘i Planning Department, which included the entire parking lot area, and email 
correspondence confirming the determination of exemption.  



Hāʻena State Park Comfort Station 
Special Management Area Use Permit 

 

16 

2.4 COMMUNITY OUTREACH 

The Hui held two community outreach meetings on the proposed project, one on July 7, 2023, 
and the other on July 26, 2023. Large plots of the project plans, artistic renderings, and the draft 
Ka Paʻakai Analysis were all available for public review. Some of the concerns raised included: 
over commercialization of the area to the benefit of tourists and not residents, no State 
enforcement or presence, the need for more signage around the Park and inside restrooms, and 
comments on the design of the facility. The restrooms at Hanalei Pier were noted for comparison 
as the stall sizes are too small, the lack of changing rooms and washing stations, and the overall 
lack of cleanliness. Additional design recommendations included the need for baby changing 
stations for families and a refillable water station, both of which have been incorporated in the 
design. Other comments relating to the existing Park facilities elsewhere included: updating the 
septic system at the Kēʻē restrooms, adding French drains around the shower, and providing 
portable toilets for public use. Those who attended who were originally against the project, left 
with a better understanding of the improvements; others were supportive and thankful for the 
work being done onsite and the reduction of overall visitor impacts, which have allowed residents 
to return to the Park again. 

2.5 VALUATION OF THE PROJECT 

The value of the proposed project will exceed $500,000, thereby triggering the requirement for 
an SMA Use Permit under Hawaiʻi Revised Statues (HRS) Section 205A-22, and Kauaʻi Planning 
Commission Rules Section 1.4.V. 

  





kyuen
Architect
ORIGINAL COMFORT STATION LOCATION

kyuen
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3 SITE ANALYSIS 

3.1 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

This section describes the existing conditions of the physical or natural environment, probable 
impacts of the proposed project on the environment, any potential adverse environmental 
effects that cannot be avoided, and the proposed mitigation measures to minimize any 
potentially negative impacts. 

3.1.1 Climate 

Hā‘ena State Park is located along the northern coast of Kaua‘i. On average, the area receives 
roughly 96±2.2 inches of rain per year (Giambelluca, 2013). According to the closest weather 
collection station in Wainiha, located just east of Hā‘ena State Park, the average annual 
temperature ranges between a high of 79.3 degrees to a low of 63.2 degrees Fahrenheit. 
December through February are generally the coolest months and June through September are 
typically the warmest. Mean annual relative humidity ranges between 61 to 80 percent (NCDC 
2009, 2015). In general, northeasterly trade winds, interrupted by the occasional large-scale 
storm, are present year-round at Hāʻena. Surface winds typically range between 13 to 24 miles 
per hour. There have also been changes in prevailing wind and weather patterns when southerly 
Kona winds or severe weather occurs, such as the flash floods caused by the supercell event in 
April 2018 that led to record rainfall totaling nearly fifty inches in a 24-hour period. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed project is not expected to have an effect on climatic conditions and no mitigation 
measures are anticipated. 

3.1.2 Topography 

The existing topography for the project site slopes diagonally mauka to makai across the parking 
lot with a ground elevation of 84 feet above mean sea level at the eastern side of the parking lot, 
down to 68 or 69 feet above mean sea level at the proposed washdown area with an average 
slope of seven percent across the site (see Figure 11).  

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed comfort station will be built on the eastern end of the existing parking lot, which 
has been previously graded. By being placed in the existing parking lot, the proposed comfort 
station will have a negligible effect on the topography of the area. The proposed structure will 
be one story with a pitched roof, keeping the proposed building lower than the surrounding trees 
that encompass the parking lot. Minimal grading will be needed at the proposed washdown area 
to set the five-foot-by-five-foot pad, which will empty into the adjacent drainage basin. Best 
Management Practices (BMPs) will be implemented to prevent pollution and protect the 
environment. If required, the proposed project will have an erosion and sedimentation control 
plan prepared to address all construction activities. 
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3.1.3 Soils  

The US Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) has mapped 
the following soil map units within the project area, based on the Hawaiʻi Soil Survey, Island of 
Kaua‘i and the NRCS Web Soil Survey (NRCS 2022): HnA: Hanalei silty clay, 0 to 2 percent slopes, 
MLRA 167, and HrB: Hanalei silty clay, deep water table, 0 to 6 percent slopes. Most of the 
project site has HrB soils with the washdown area having HnA soils as shown in Figure 12. The 
parking lot itself consists of compacted gravel to a depth of six inches and rocky silty clay between 
six inches and 48-inches. To the south of the project site are high cliffs consisting of rock outcrop 
(rRO). The borders of the parking lot have been disturbed by grubbing and grading for parking 
lot and swale construction. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed comfort station will involve excavation of the eastern portion of the existing 
parking lot for the underground IWS tanks and absorption beds and finished grades will match 
existing grades within the boundary of the existing parking lot once installed. The ADA-compliant 
path between the proposed comfort station and park entry will also involve the construction of 
concrete paths and ramps as shown in Exhibit 4. The parking lot is in previously disturbed soil and 
involved removal of large boulders and general grading when the parking lot was constructed. 
Existing gravel and wheel stops from the parking lot will be stockpiled during construction and 
reused in the finished gravel parking lot. Therefore, the proposed improvements are not 
anticipated to have significant impacts on soils. However, the Hui and their respective contractors 
will comply with all State and County laws and requirements should any archaeological or historic 
sites be encountered during construction. In the unlikely event that any potential archaeological 
resources or human skeletal remains are encountered during ground disturbing work, all work in 
the immediate vicinity of the discovery will be halted immediately and the State Historic 
Preservation Division (SHPD) will be contacted, as required in HAR §13-275-12. The significance 
of the finding will be assessed, and appropriate mitigation measures will be taken, as necessary. 

3.1.4 Coastal Waters 

The State of Hawaiʻi classifies the ocean waters off the Park as Class AA (State of Hawa`i 
Department of Health, 2014). The objective of Class AA waters is to maintain their natural pristine 
state as nearly as possible with a minimum of pollution or alteration of water quality from any 
human-caused sources or actions (HAR §11-54-3(c)(1)). The proposed project is located 
approximately 680 feet from the shoreline and the effluent will be treated to a minimum R-2 
water quality and include UV disinfection, removing 95 percent of pollutants and is therefore not 
anticipated to impact coastal waters or water quality. The proposed project is being constructed 
to help reduce use of the existing comfort station at Kēʻē Beach and thereby reduce the amount 
of wastewater and effluent produced at that location, which is closer to coastal waters. The 
proposed washdown area is not anticipated to generate substantial amounts of runoff and any 
runoff from it will drain into the existing adjacent drainage basin where there is ample capacity 
to collect, filter, and absorb the runoff, which should not enter coastal waters over 680 feet away. 
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3.1.5 Groundwater, Streams, and Wetlands 

According to the Wetland Assessment prepared by Haley & Aldrich, Inc. (Haley & Aldrich) (Exhibit 
8), the project site is located within the USGS 200700 hydrologic unit; the State of Hawaiʻi 
Commission on Water Resources Management (CWRM) surface water hydrologic unit 2012 
(Limahuli), and the Wainiha groundwater hydrologic unit 20203. The area is not within the State 
of Hawaiʻi designated surface or groundwater water management area. The nearest groundwater 
levels measured by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) at Site number USGS 221318159335901 2-
1333-01 Hāʻena W-66, located on the right bank of Limahuli Stream east of the parking lot at an 
elevation of 85-feet. In the percolation tests performed for the proposed comfort station in 2022, 
the water table was not encountered to a depth of 48 inches in the parking lot.  

Other water resources in the surrounding areas of Hāʻena State Park include Limahuli Stream, 
which flows mauka to makai along the eastern border of the park, and standing water in the two 
wet caves, Wai a Kanaloa and Waiakalapaʻe, and Loko Kēʻē, all of which are outside of the project 
area. There is also an extensive ʻauwai system that irrigated the loʻi up until the mid-twentieth 
century and still exists in parts surrounding the parking lot. (See Figure 10.) 

The Hawaiʻi Stream Assessment (1990) lists Limahuli Stream as a perennial stream that flows to 
the sea year-round and identifies it as an “outstanding aquatic resource” due to the presence of 
native ʻoʻopu. The source of freshwater within Hāʻena State Park begins at the top of the valley 
at 3,300 feet above sea level and reaches the valley floor after plummeting down an 800-foot 
waterfall. Only the lower 1,500 feet of the stream courses through Hāʻena State Park and the 
stream is roughly 450 feet to the east of the project site and not anticipated to be impacted by 
the proposed project. 

The National Wetlands Inventory map (Figure 13) shows portions of the project site classified as 
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland and Freshwater Emergent Wetland habitats (PFO3C and 
PEM1C, respectively). Haley & Aldrich conducted a wetland assessment to determine whether 
wetlands meeting the definition of Waters of the United States (WotUS) under Section 33 Code 
of Federal Regulations (CFR) of the Clean Water Act are located within 50 feet of the existing 
parking lot. Wetlands subject to the authority of the US Department of the Army must possess 
three specific criteria: hydric soils, hydrophytic vegetation, and hydrology. Haley & Aldrich 
concluded that there are no jurisdictional wetlands or WotUS within 50 feet of the existing 
parking lot including the project site. The US Department of the Army agreed with their 
assessment and concluded in their letter dated June 5, 2023 that no permit from the US 
Department of the Army is required (see Exhibit 8).  

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Haley & Aldrich did not observe any subsurface water, flowing, or ponded water, or secondary 
indicators of hydrology at any of their sample sites, which extended 50 feet outside of the parking 
lot boundary. Because of the distance between hydrologic resources and the project site as well as 
the assessment that no jurisdictional wetlands exist at the project site, no significant impact to 
these resources are anticipated with the proposed project. In addition, the effluent from the IWS 
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will be treated to a minimum R-2 water quality and include UV disinfection, removing 95 percent 
of pollutants. It is therefore not anticipated to negatively impact surface water quality or local 
hydrology. 

3.1.6 Flood Hazard and Tsunami Evacuation Zones  

According to the FIRM Panel 1500020030E (9/16/05) prepared by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA), National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), there are several special 
flood hazard areas within Hāʻena State Park. However, the project site is located within Zone X, 
which are areas of minimal flood hazard (outside the 0.2% annual chance floodplain) and outside 
of any special flood hazard zone (Figure 8).  

The project site is located within the tsunami evacuation zone (Figure 14) as is the entire Park 
and much of the North Shore west of Princeville.  

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed project is located within Zone X and therefore impacts due to flood hazards are 
not anticipated. The addition of the proposed comfort station is not anticipated to exacerbate 
flood hazards on the Property as the existing drainage conditions will be restored and the 
surrounding parking lot will remain as a gravel lot. The washdown area will not involve substantial 
grading and will be located adjacent to the existing parking lot outside of the existing drainage 
basin. Exhibit 4 contains the grading plan for the project. For additional discussion regarding 
drainage see Section 3.3.3.  

Because much of the North Shore of Kauaʻi is located within the tsunami evacuation zone, the 
proposed project is not anticipated to impact evacuation conditions due to tsunami. During such 
an emergency, Park visitors would be evacuated to higher ground within the Park rather than out 
along the highway, which is still within the tsunami evacuation zone. 

3.1.7 Sea Level Rise 

The project site is outside the area anticipated to be impacted by 3.2 feet of sea level rise (SLR) 
and coastal erosion according to the Sea Level Rise Exposure Area (SLR-XA) model, which was 
developed in support of illustrating the findings and recommendations of the State of Hawaiʻi 
Sea Level Rise Vulnerability and Adaptation Report. See Figure 15. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Because of its inland location roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline, the proposed project 
is not expected to be impacted or impact SLR. 
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3.1.8 Flora 

There is little vegetation in the existing parking lot (see site photographs in Figure 9), and much 
of the vegetation that is there includes a variety of non-native weeds including wedelia (Wedelia 
trilobata), haole koa (Leucaena leucocephala), and a mix of weedy grasses such as Guinea grass 
(Megathyrsus maximus). The surrounding area includes a few native plants such as the hala 
(Pandanus tectorius) that was planted outside the eastern end of the parking lot as part of the 
parking lot construction and ti (Cordyline fruticosa) within planting areas and the edges of the 
parking lot.  

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed project is not anticipated to impact any native or threatened/endangered plant 
species. The movement of plant or soil material will be minimized to avoid the transfer of any 
invasive pathogens, pests, or plants that could harm native ecosystems and any equipment, 
materials, and personnel will be cleaned of excess soil and debris to minimize the risk of 
spreading invasive species. The hala will be preserved and the ti within the parking lot and at the 
edges of the parking lot will be replanted nearby should any need to be removed for the 
construction. 

3.1.9 Fauna  

Terry and Hart’s January 2009 biological survey for the Park Master Plan and EIS included a survey 
of animals within the Park. Thirteen species of birds were observed during their survey including 
the endangered Koloa Maoli, or native Hawaiian Duck (Anas wyvilliana), two indigenous 
shorebirds (Kōlea, Pacific Golden Plover, Pluvialis fulva and ʻŪlili, Heteroscelus incanus) and Koaʻe 
Kea, the White-tailed Tropicbird (Phaethon lepturus dorotheae), an indigenous seabird. All other 
observed birds were non-native introductions. 

Additional species of seabirds, waterbirds, shorebirds, and forest birds that are federally listed as 
endangered or threatened may use the Park and therefore may be found in the proposed project 
area. The surrounding wetlands may also provide feeding and nesting areas to the indigenous 
ʻAukuʻu or Black-crowned Night-heron (Nycticorax hoactli). Other federally endangered 
waterbirds that would likely use the wetlands are the Aeʻo or Black-necked Stilt (Himantopus 
mexicanus knudseni), ʻAlae keʻokeʻo or Hawaiian Coot (Fulica alae), ʻAlaeʻula or Hawaiian 
Moorhen (Gallinula chloropus sandvicensis), and Nēnē or Hawaiian goose (Branta sandvicensis). 

It is also expected that the federally endangered ʻUaʻu or Hawaiian Petrel (Pterodroma 
phaeopygia sandwichensis), federally threatened ʻAʻo or Newell’s Shearwater (Puffinus 
auricularis newelli) and the ʻAkēʻakē or Band-rumped Storm-petrel (Oceanodroma castro), listed 
by the State of Hawaiʻi as endangered, would fly over Hāʻena State Park and the project site to 
their nests in the mountains. These birds, especially the young, can be affected by exterior 
lighting and become disoriented. 
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Although not sighted during the survey, the endangered ʻŌpeʻapeʻa, or Hawaiian Hoary Bat 
(Lasiurus cinereus semotus), probably utilizes Hāʻena State Park as it has been seen in the Hanalei 
and Princeville areas. 

Terry and Hart detected feral cats (Pōpoki; Felis catus) during their survey and recognized that 
mice (ʻIole liʻiliʻi; Mus spp.) and rats (ʻIole; Rattus spp.) are likely also present. They also 
acknowledged the presence of wild pigs (Puaʻa; Sus s. scrofa) and goats (Kao; Capra h. hircus) that 
are known throughout this part of Kauaʻi. 

Terry and Hart’s survey also identified various skinks, anole, gecko, and bullfrog in the park, and 
acknowledge that there are likely more species of reptiles and amphibians throughout the Park. 
All were alien species and common on Kauaʻi. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed project is not expected to significantly change existing conditions relative to 
impacts to fauna. The project site is devoid of vegetation that would support feeding or nesting 
habitats for endangered or threatened seabirds, waterbirds, and Nēnē. There are also no 
anticipated impacts or potential impacts to indigenous, migratory birds or ʻŌpeʻapeʻa that may 
transit over the Park as there are no permanent exterior lighting or woody species over fifteen 
feet tall within the project site. 

To mitigate potential impacts to these species during construction and after completion of 
construction, nighttime construction will be avoided and all exterior lights will be fully shielded 
(completely opaque), downward facing full cut off fixtures with the lowest light emission possible 
to minimize seabird distraction and disorientation. In addition, no artificial light will be directed 
toward the shoreline and ocean waters. No woody plants greater than fifteen feet tall will be 
removed to avoid impacts to ʻŌpeʻapeʻa and the use of barbed wire fencing will be avoided. In 
the unlikely event that night-time construction would be necessary, any lighting for night-time 
construction will be minimized during fledgling season (September to December). 

If any indigenous bird nests, young birds, or eggs are discovered at the project site, the Hui or its 
contractors will consult the State of Hawaiʻi Department of Land and Natural Resources and U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service to ensure compliance with §13-124-3, HAR. 

3.1.10 Air Quality 

Regional and local climate, together with the amount and type of activity generally determine 
the air quality of a given location. At the project site, winds are predominantly tradewinds, 
blowing from the northeast. 

The main source of air emissions at the Park is vehicle exhaust along Kūhiō Highway and in the 
parking areas. The remaining areas of the Park have relatively good air quality as there is minimal 
development and activities with air emissions. Emissions from such sources are intermittent and 



Hāʻena State Park Comfort Station 
Special Management Area Use Permit 

 

30 

are quickly dispersed by prevailing winds. The State of Hawaiʻi is in attainment with all National 
Ambient Air Quality Standards (Figure 16) (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2023). 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

It is not anticipated that any State or federal air quality standards will be violated during or after 
construction of the proposed comfort station. There are no anticipated long-term negative 
impacts related to air quality for the proposed comfort station. The reduction in parking stalls 
may reduce the number of private vehicles accessing the Park and increase the number of visitors 
arriving and departing on the shuttle. The only potential impacts related to air quality are short-
term direct and indirect impacts related to construction. To minimize fugitive dust impacts during 
construction, all construction activities will comply with all applicable provisions of Title 11, 
Chapter 59, HAR related to Ambient Air Quality Standards and Section 11-60.1-33, HAR related 
to Fugitive Dust. 

3.1.11 Noise 

Existing sources of noise in the Park stem from automobile traffic accessing or departing from 
the Park. Other sources of noise are from the visitors who recreate at the Park and access the 
proposed comfort station. Natural sources of noise include wildlife and birds, the wind rustling 
vegetation, and rain. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Pursuant to Chapter 11-46, Hawaiʻi Administrative Rules, all project activities must comply with 
all community noise controls and seek permits if required from the State Department of Health 
(DOH). Anticipated noise impacts related to the construction of the proposed comfort station will 
be temporary and limited to daytime hours. The use of pile drivers, hoe rams, jack hammers 25 
pounds or heavier, and high-pressure sprayers are not expected to be needed, but if required, 
will be restricted to 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. Construction equipment and 
on-site vehicles or devices requiring exhaust of gas or air must be equipped with mufflers. In 
addition, construction activities must satisfy the DOH’s vehicle noise requirement and will obtain 
a DOH noise permit if necessary.  

The proposed comfort station, related septic system, and washdown area are not anticipated to 
be a significant source of noise once installed and under operation. The Fuji Clean system 
operates at an estimated 45-82 dB and the PV system will be even quieter. The washdown area 
will only generate the sound of water and users while at the station. As all elements of the 
proposed project will be located in the existing parking lot, they are not anticipated to have any 
significant negative noise impact to park users. 
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Figure 16: Non-attainment Counties, Environmental Protection Agency 
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3.2 ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES AND NATIVE 
HAWAIIAN TRADITIONAL RIGHTS AND CUSTOMARY PRACTICES 

3.2.1 Archaeological and Historic Resources 

State Parks, under the guidance of Joseph Souza, a Kauaʻi native, undertook extensive efforts to 
study and document the rich Hāʻena heritage and archaeology starting in the late 1970s (Griffin 
1984). The first survey and testing program began with Griffin et. al. in 1977 in the western 
portion of the park, stretching from the eastern edge of Loko Kēʻē and the outlet of the ʻauwai 
just east of Kaʻīlio Point to the western dunes and back dune areas. In 1978, Dr. Hallett Hammatt 
and his colleagues at the Archaeological Research Center Hawaiʻi, Inc. (ARCH) performed a series 
of five excavations along the Hāʻena State Park dunes to characterize the prehistoric use of the 
area. Based on their findings, they provide a preliminary sequence of human settlement and 
subsistence beginning with a marine oriented occupation at Kēʻē Beach sometime before 1000 
AD. After 1000 AD, occupation expanded at Kēʻē as well as inland utilizing a broader resource 
base and further intensification occurred after 1400 AD with the construction of the agricultural 
fields and loʻi. By 1700–1800, occupation continued but with less emphasis on exploitation of 
marine resources and the density of cultural material in the deposits indicates a possible 
depopulation of the area or a shifting settlement pattern (Hammatt et al. 1978). 

Other surveys, restoration plans, and burial treatment plans followed covering various areas of 
the park (Hammatt and Meeker 1979; Riley and Clark 1979; Yent 1980; Carpenter 1996; Major 
and Carpenter 2001). As a result, archaeological surveys have been conducted throughout most 
of the Park. When combined, this information characterizes the distribution pattern of 
archaeological and historic properties throughout the Park that is illustrated in an archaeological 
sensitivity map produced by a State Park archaeologist to identify areas where future 
development should be avoided due to the known sites and the potential for finding extant 
archaeological sites (see below, Figure 23 from the Final EIS). The areas of highly impacted areas 
due to modern disturbance and development are shaded in red including the existing parking lot, 
two post-contact homes, the Hui’s work area (site of a former dumping area for abandoned 
vehicles that no longer supports cultivation), the Kēʻē comfort station and showers, and the 
highway.  

Hāʻena State Park includes the “Hāʻena Archaeological Complex,” listed in the Hawaiʻi and 
National Register of Historic Places in 1984 (State site #30-02-1600). The “Hāʻena Archaeological 
Complex” was deemed significant because it represents a large, nearly continuous, and mostly 
intact complex of archaeological features dating from the early prehistoric period to the recent 
historic period (Yent 1983).  

Previous archaeological studies show that nearly the entire coastal flat behind the dunes was 
developed as irrigated loʻi terraces which originated in prehistory. However, there is also 
evidence that the loʻi extended to the base of the pali but was disrupted by the construction of 
the highway (Hammatt 1978). The proposed project site is within an area of that modern 
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disturbance and destruction of the loʻi as it was cleared for a parking area off the highway. The 
proposed project site also does not contain any kuleana lands or recorded land commission 
awards. 

 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

The proposed project is not anticipated to adversely affect any archeological sites as it will be 
located within the existing parking lot, which is in a previously disturbed area of the park. 
However, should any historic remains be inadvertently encountered during the construction 
activities, work will cease immediately in the vicinity of the find and the find will be protected. 
The contractor will immediately contact State Parks and the SHPD, which will assess the 
significance of the find and recommend appropriate mitigation measures, if any. 

3.2.2 Cultural Resources and Native Hawaiian Traditional Rights and Customary Practices 

Maria Kaʻimipono Orr prepared a Cultural Impact Assessment (CIA) for the Hāʻena State Park 
Master Plan in 2010 including a detailed overview of the historical and cultural background of 
Hāʻena and Kauaʻi, traditional literature from moʻolelo (stories and legends), oli (chants), mele 
(songs), genealogies, and interviews and surveys of those most familiar with the area. The CIA 
underscores the importance of Hāʻena to Hawaiian culture, describes the ahupuaʻa life-system 
that existed into the 20th century, and highlights individuals’ personal relationships with Hāʻena’s 
resources through their stories and recollections. The CIA is included as an appendix to the Final 
EIS prepared for Park’s Master Plan (PBR Hawaii & Associates, Inc., 2018). 
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The CIA also provided recommendations from the interviews and surveys conducted for the Park 
Master Plan. A couple of the recommendations that are relevant to this specific project are to 
use permeable pavement in the parking lot and protect cultural and historic sites. The first was 
completed with the construction of the current parking lot and the use of gravel for the majority 
of the paving of the lot and the second will be supported by the construction of the proposed 
project as it will help reduce the use of the Kēʻē comfort station and subsequently reduce impacts 
to sensitive cultural resources located near that comfort station in Kēʻē. 

In July 2023, a Ka Paʻakai O Ka ʻĀina analysis was specifically prepared for the proposed project 
by Billy Kinney for Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana and is attached as Exhibit 7. The purpose was to: 
(1) identify valued cultural, historical, or natural resources and their extent within the proposed 
project area and relevant areas within the ahupuaʻa of Hāʻena, (2) assess the extent to which 
those resources will be affected or impaired by the proposed project, (3) identify feasible actions, 
if any, to be taken to reasonably protect Native Hawaiian rights and practices if they are found 
to exist. 

Research methodologies used in the analysis were informed by the Hui’s values of pilina 
(relationships and relationality), mālama (stewardship and care), and ʻāina momona (realization 
of a thriving and productive Hāʻena). The analysis included historical archival research and an 
ethnographic survey of community knowledge and manaʻo which engaged five individuals with 
valued knowledge of the proposed project area. 

The base of Makana, a famous mountain of Hāʻena, lies nearby but outside of the project area. 
It is the site of ̒ ōahi (fire throwing/firebrand) practices unique to Hāʻena and Nā Pali, which utilize 
pāpala wood. No individuals mentioned that pāpala had been grown in the project area. Also 
nearby but outside of the project area are wet caves and loko of high cultural significance, though 
tsunamis in the mid-twentieth century devastated much of the loko infrastructure. Hunting, 
especially pig hunting, gathering, and subsistence fishing practices were also identified by 
multiple individuals as occurring near the project area. However, no individuals mentioned 
hunting, gathering food, or gathering plants for lei in the project area. One individual mentioned 
kūpuna catching ʻoʻopu in an ʻauwai which once ran through the project area, but it has since 
been demolished. All individuals claimed that the development of the proposed project will have 
no impact on current cultural practices. 

Previous environmental reports from 1991 and 2009 designated the proposed project area as a 
“cultivated” and “disturbed” area surrounded by forest vegetation. One individual mentioned 
that oral histories of the project area indicate that it was not actively used for cultivation in the 
last century. In the 1970s, this area was bulldozed and heavily modified during the Taylor Camp 
era, when Elizabeth Taylor’s brother, Howard Taylor, purchased a large portion of the area and 
set up a transient community. Following the establishment of Hāʻena State Park in 1982, this 
disturbed area was utilized as an overflow parking area.  
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Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Access to the Park for Native Hawaiian customary and traditional practices will not change with 
the proposed project. The proposed project will be completely sited within the already disturbed 
area of the existing parking lot to minimize potential impacts to cultural or historic resources. 
One interviewed individual recommended that all impacts of construction be confined to the 
footprint of the existing parking lot, which it will be. The proposed project’s wastewater 
treatment system has a pollutant removal ratio of around 95 percent, ensuring that effluents do 
not negatively impact surrounding natural systems or cultural resources or practices. The 
proposed project will also reduce use of the existing (and only) comfort station in the Park near 
Kēʻē and the Kalalau trailhead, which is in a sensitive environmental and cultural area. 

Based on their findings, the Ka Paʻakai o Ka ʻĀina analysis concludes that: 

Bulldozed and razed, the project area has experienced almost complete erasure – of any 
historical, cultural resources pertinent to cultural practices that we know of. […] Across 
the board, the proposed development seems to move the Hāʻena State Park forward in 
mitigating the impacts of human use on the cultural and natural resources in the Park. In 
other words, there are virtually no valued cultural, historical, or natural resources in the 
project area, therefore, the proposed development will have no effect on and will not 
impair traditional and customary native Hawaiian rights. 

In addition, the Hui will continue to ensure that any cultural and historical resources which may 
be found during construction will continue to be protected. 

3.3 INFRASTRUCTURE 

3.3.1 Water 

Water to the proposed comfort station will be supplied by the County of Kauaʻi Department of 
Water (DOW), which currently provides drinking-quality water to the Park via a four-inch PVC 
pipe that terminates at the Park entrance where the Park has a one-inch meter. Water is gravity-
fed from a 0.1-million-gallon reservoir 1.1 miles away at a ground elevation of 126.5 feet above 
mean sea level. Within the Park, a three-inch high-density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe runs along 
Kūhiō Highway in an east-west direction and serves the existing comfort station at Kēʻē and 
associated shower.  

There is no fire protection water system within the park. If needed, seawater can be airlifted or 
pumped to the site of a fire. The last fire hydrant/standpipe is located outside of the park, roughly 
75 feet away, and is connected to the County’s potable water system.  

Potential Impacts and Proposed Improvements 

The proposed comfort station and washdown area will be connected to the Park’s existing three-
inch waterline in Kūhiō Highway and is not anticipated to significantly increase water demand 
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since the number of visitors to the park will not change. It is anticipated that water use at the 
Kēʻē comfort station will be proportionately reduced by the amount of water used at the 
proposed comfort station at the parking lot as the overall number of Park visitors will not change. 

3.3.2 Wastewater 

The proposed comfort station will include two Fuji Clean anaerobic wastewater treatment 
systems, one for each restroom. The system will include ultraviolet (UV) disinfection that will be 
powered by the rooftop solar system and have a combined capacity to serve up to 600 people 
per day. The septic system will be installed underground, and the two absorption beds will be 
located under the existing parking lot. All ground disturbance to install the system will be limited 
to the eastern end of the existing parking lot. The excavated soil and gravel will be stockpiled 
within the perimeter of the existing parking lot and reused to rebuild and resurface the parking 
lot once complete. 

Potential Impacts and Proposed Improvements 

The proposed Fuji Clean system that will be installed at the proposed comfort station will treat 
the wastewater to a minimum R-2 effluent and remove pollutants at a 95 percent ratio prior to 
being conveyed to the absorption beds, which are in previously disturbed and graded areas of 
the parking lot. As the number of visitors to the Park will not increase compared to current 
conditions, the construction of this second comfort station near the Park entry and parking lot 
will also help reduce the use of the existing comfort station at Kēʻē and thereby reduce the impact 
to sensitive natural and cultural resources located at Kēʻē. The goal is to have the proposed 
comfort station result in at least a 50-percent reduction in wastewater generated at the Kēʻē 
restrooms.  

3.3.3 Drainage 

The existing parking lot was constructed in 2019 following the historic rain bomb of April 2018 
with emergency funds. Existing drainage at the site generally sheet flows towards the large 
constructed swale south of the parking lot and eventually drains toward the loʻi to the west.  

Potential Impacts and Proposed Improvements 

Drainage patterns will remain the same once the proposed project is completed and therefore is 
not anticipated to impact drainage. The existing drainage swale is designed to slow rainwater 
runoff and allow sediment to filter in a series of basins prior to entering the loʻi. The new 
washdown area will drain directly into the large drainage basin at the bottom of the swale and 
flows are anticipated to be small and intermittent and therefore quickly absorbed into the basin. 

3.3.4 Electrical and Telecommunications 

Because the park has no existing electrical service, the proposed project includes a rooftop solar 
photovoltaic (PV) system with battery storage that will power the aerobic aerator system and 
ultraviolet (UV) disinfection for the IWS. The PV system will also generate enough electricity to 
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power the indoor lights at the comfort station and provide power to the attendant shack on the 
highway. There will also be a power outlet in the comfort station for maintenance and a 110-volt 
outlet to power a Starlink high-speed internet system that will help with emergency 
communications in the Park. 

Potential Impacts 

The proposed project will be self-sustaining with regards to electrical generation since there is 
no existing electrical service at the Park. The PV system uses solar energy, which is a naturally 
occurring, locally produced energy source with no greenhouse gas emissions. The battery will 
also allow power to be provided on demand when charged. 

3.3.5 Solid Waste 

Trash receptacles will be provided at the proposed comfort station and State Parks staff will 
continue to provide daily trash removal. The amount of solid waste produced at the Park is not 
anticipated to increase as the number of visitors will not change with the proposed project. The 
new water refilling station will also help reduce the amount of single-use water bottles visitors 
may use at the Park. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Construction waste is anticipated to be minimal for the proposed project as most materials will 
be brought to the site ready to assemble. Any packing materials will be recycled or hauled offsite 
and construction debris that cannot be recycled will be disposed of at the Kekaha Landfill which 
accepts construction and demolition debris. As required by the Department of Public Works, 
construction and demolition debris will be cut into three-foot sections or smaller.  

3.3.6 Traffic and Roadways 

Existing Roadways and Access 

Public vehicular access to Hāʻena State Park is limited to Kūhiō Highway (State Highway 560), 
which runs the length of the Park and terminates at Kēʻē Beach. The highway is owned and 
managed by the State DOT and consists of two paved twelve-foot lanes. Approaching Hāʻena 
State Park, the highway has unimproved shoulders. The highway enters the Park over Limahuli 
stream by a single lane, 15-foot wide by 30-foot-long concrete bridge. Within the Park, the 
highway becomes two lanes again and measures approximately 24 feet in width. The pavement 
structure is asphalt. The highway within the Park has no pedestrian or bicycle amenities. 

Potential Impacts and Mitigation Measures 

Because the proposed project will not change the number of visitors to the park, no long-term 
impact to traffic or area roadways is anticipated by the project. During construction, the entire 
gravel portion of the parking lot will be closed but the shuttle will continue operating and the 
parking stalls on the concrete portion of the parking lot will remain open for parking. If needed, 
additional cars will be allowed to park temporarily along the shoulder of the entry road between 
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the entry station and the yellow gate. Temporary offsite parking will be provided if needed at 
Waipā with shuttle service between the two areas. This will increase shuttle usage by Park 
visitors, which will in turn reduce overall private vehicle traffic to and from the Park during 
construction. To minimize construction-related traffic issues, contractors will be allowed to park 
in the construction zone and the start and end times for construction will be coordinated by the 
Hui to minimize impacts to peak visitor arrivals. Similarly, the delivery of materials will be 
scheduled, outside of peak traffic hours, as practical and feasible. 

3.4 POTENTIAL CUMULATIVE IMPACTS 

3.4.1 Economics and Social Welfare 

The proposed project is not anticipated to have any negative impact related to general economic 
or social welfare as it will not change the number of visitors to the Park, access to the Park, or 
any uses at the Park. Construction jobs will be generated for those who help build the proposed 
project, which will have a positive yet temporary economic impact. The Hui is also committed to 
having the comfort station be fully ADA-accessible and has collaborated with the designers to 
provide ADA parking stalls directly adjacent to the proposed comfort station and an ADA-
compliant path connecting the proposed comfort station to the park entry. The location at the 
existing parking lot will make it a convenient location for those arriving and departing the Park as 
the only existing public restroom is located at the end of the path by Kēʻē about a quarter mile 
inside the Park. 

3.4.2 Commitment for Larger Actions or Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitment of 
Resources 

The proposed project will not require a commitment to larger actions as there are no changes to 
access, use, operations, or number of visitors to the Park. The new comfort station will require 
ongoing maintenance but will reduce the use of the Kēʻē comfort station and thereby reduce the 
impacts to environmental and cultural resources located in that area. There will also be no 
irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources due to the proposed project as it is in an 
already disturbed area of the Park and will be entirely contained within the bounds of the existing 
parking lot. Water resources that will be used at the proposed comfort station would otherwise 
be consumed at the existing Kēʻē comfort station. Similarly, visitors currently use the existing 
Kēʻē shower and comfort station to washdown so the new washdown area by the parking lot will 
provide a new convenient location to do so away from the sensitive environmental and cultural 
resources there so in total, no net increase in water use due to the proposed project is anticipated 
other than for cleaning the new facilities. Power provided at the project will be generated from 
renewable, naturally generated solar energy by the proposed rooftop PV system. 
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4 LAND USE CONFORMANCE AND SMA CONSISTENCY 

The proposed project’s consistency with land use regulations and the County’s SMA Rules and 
Regulations are provided in the following sections.  

4.1 STATE LAND USE DISTRICT 

The proposed project is within the State Land Use Conservation District (Figure 3) and the 
Resource Subzone (Figure 4). State Land Use Law (Chapter 205, HRS) establishes the state land 
use districts and the allowed uses within each one. The Conservation District and more 
specifically the Resource Subzone includes “lands necessary for providing future parkland and 
lands presently used for national, state, county, or private parks” (Section 13-5-13(b)(a), HRS), 
which is consistent with the use of the property as a State park. The proposed project will not 
change the use of the area as a State park and supports its ongoing use as a State park. It will also 
help protect the sensitive natural and cultural resources at Kēʻē by providing a new comfort 
station in an existing parking lot, away from sensitive natural and cultural resources.  

State Parks consultation with DLNR Office of Conservation and Coastal Lands (OCCL) has 
determined that the proposed improvements are consistent with State Park purposes and 
therefore no Conservation District Use Application (CDUA) is required for the proposed project. 

4.2 COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT AND SPECIAL MANAGEMENT 
AREA GUIDELINES  

The Property is located within the SMA (Figure 7) as designated by the State Coastal Zone 
Management Program and is valued over $500,000. Therefore, an SMA Use Permit is required. 
In accordance with the County’s SMA permit requirements, an evaluation of the proposed project 
in relation to the objectives and policies of the State’s Coastal Zone Management Act (Chapter 
205A, HRS) as stated in Section 3.0 of the County SMA Rules and Regulations (Kauaʻi SMA Rules) 
and the Special Management Area Guidelines (Section 205A-26, HRS, as adopted by the Kauaʻi 
Planning Commission under Section 4.0 of the Kauaʻi SMA Rules is required. 

4.2.1 Section 3.0 of the SMA Rules  

According to Section 3.0 of the Kauaʻi SMA Rules, the “…objectives and policies of the coastal 
zone management program are those set forth in Section 205A-22, as amended. These objectives 
and policies shall serve as guidelines in the implementation of the rules in this Chapter.” 

Discussion: The objectives and policies of the coastal zone management program are set forth in 
Section 205A-2, HRS and the proposed project’s relationship to these objectives and policies are 
summarized in Table 1 below. Where the proposed project is supportive of the policy, an “X” is 
marked in the “S” column. Where it is not supportive, the “X” is in the “N/S” column. Where the 
policy is not relevant to the proposed project, the “X” is in the “N/A” column. 
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Table 1: Objectives and Policies of the Coastal Zone Management Act, Chapter 205A, HRS 

COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT, CHAPTER 205A, HRS 
(Key: S = Supportive, N/S = Not Supportive, N/A = Not Applicable) 

S N/S N/A 

RECREATIONAL RESOURCES 
Objective: (A) Provide coastal recreational opportunities accessible to the public. 
Policies: 
(A) Improve coordination and funding of coastal recreational planning and management; and   X 

(B) Provide adequate, accessible, and diverse recreational opportunities in the coastal zone 
management area by: 

   

(i) Protecting coastal resources uniquely suited for recreational activities that cannot be 
provided in other areas; 

X  
 

(ii) Requiring replacement of coastal resources having significant recreational value 
including, but not limited to, surfing sites, fishponds, and sand beaches, when such 
resources will be unavoidably damaged by development; or requiring reasonable 
monetary compensation to the State for recreation when replacement is not feasible 
or desirable; 

  X 

(iii) Providing and managing adequate public access, consistent with conservation of 
natural resources, to and along shorelines with recreational value; 

  X 

(iv) Providing an adequate supply of shoreline parks and other recreational facilities 
suitable for public recreation; 

  X 

(v) Ensuring public recreational uses of county, state, and federally owned or controlled 
shoreline lands and waters having recreational value consistent with public safety 
standards and conservation of natural resources; 

X  
 

(vi) Adopting water quality standards and regulating point and nonpoint sources of 
pollution to protect, and where feasible, restore the recreational value of coastal 
waters; 

X   

(vii) Developing new shoreline recreational opportunities, where appropriate, such as 
artificial lagoons, artificial beaches, and artificial reefs for surfing and fishing; and 

  X 

(viii) Encouraging reasonable dedication of shoreline areas with recreational value for 
public use as part of discretionary approvals or permits by the land use commission, 
board of land and natural resources, and county authorities; and crediting such 
dedication against the requirements of section 46-6. 

  X 

Discussion: The proposed comfort station will be located roughly 680 feet away from the nearest shoreline and in 
the existing Park parking lot. This is anticipated to reduce the amount of wastewater effluent generated at the Kēʻē 
comfort station, which helps to reduce impacts to the sensitive natural and cultural resources located near the Kēʻē 
comfort station, consistent with public safety concerns, protection of natural and cultural resources, and protection 
of coastal and recreational resources. 

HISTORIC RESOURCES 
Objective: (A) Protect, preserve, and, where desirable, restore those natural and manmade historic and prehistoric 
resources in the coastal zone management area that are significant in Hawaiian and American history and culture. 
Policies: 
(A) Identify and analyze significant archaeological resources; X   

(B) Maximize information retention through preservation of remains and artifacts or salvage 
operations; and 

X  
 

(C) Support state goals for protection, restoration, interpretation, and display of historic 
resources. 

X  
 



Hāʻena State Park Comfort Station 
Special Management Area Use Permit 

 

41 

COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT, CHAPTER 205A, HRS 
(Key: S = Supportive, N/S = Not Supportive, N/A = Not Applicable) 

S N/S N/A 

Discussion: Although the ancient loʻi that once extended through the project site has long been cleared (see Section 
3.2.1), the proposed comfort station is anticipated to help improve conditions of other sensitive historic and 
cultural sites that have been documented in previous archaeological surveys near the Kēʻē comfort station by 
providing a new comfort station in a convenient location at the parking lot near the entrance to the Park. This is 
anticipated to reduce use of the Kēʻē comfort station and reduce the amount of effluent generated there and the 
proposed comfort station will have an IWS that will produce R-2 minimum-quality effluent with UV disinfection 
treatment. 

SCENIC AND OPEN SPACE RESOURCES 
Objective: (A) Protect, preserve, and, where desirable, restore or improve the quality of coastal scenic and open 
space resources. 
Policies: 
(A) Identify valued scenic resources in the coastal zone management area; X   

(B) Ensure that new developments are compatible with their visual environment by designing 
and locating such developments to minimize the alteration of natural landforms and 
existing public views to and along the shoreline; 

X   

(C) Preserve, maintain, and, where desirable, improve and restore shoreline open space and 
scenic resources; and 

X   

(D) Encourage those developments that are not coastal dependent to locate in inland areas. X   

Discussion: The proposed project is roughly 680 feet inland from the nearest shoreline and will not impact public 
views along the shoreline. While the proposed comfort station will be a new structure makai of Kūhiō Highway and 
between the nearest coastal roadway and the shoreline, the impact will be minimal because the shoreline is not 
visible from this area due to the thick vegetation and tall trees located between the parking lot and the shoreline. 
No natural landforms will be altered for the construction of the proposed project as it is entirely located within an 
existing parking lot that will be regraded once construction is complete to match the surrounding existing grades. 
No significant grading is required for the washdown area since it will be in an existing flat area adjacent to the 
concrete paving in the parking lot. 

COASTAL ECOSYSTEMS 
Objective: (A) Protect valuable coastal ecosystems, including reefs, from disruption and minimize adverse impacts 
on all coastal ecosystems. 
Policies: 
(A) Exercise an overall conservation ethic, and practice stewardship in the protection, use, 

and development of marine and coastal resources; 
X   

(B) Improve the technical basis for natural resource management; X  
 

(C) Preserve valuable coastal ecosystems, including reefs, of significant biological or 
economic importance; 

 
 X 

(D) Minimize disruption or degradation of coastal water ecosystems by effective regulation of 
stream diversions, channelization, and similar land and water uses, recognizing 
competing water needs; and 

  X 

(E) Promote water quantity and quality planning and management practices that reflect the 
tolerance of fresh water and marine ecosystems and maintain and enhance water quality 
through the development and implementation of point and nonpoint source water 
pollution control measures. 

X   
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COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT, CHAPTER 205A, HRS 
(Key: S = Supportive, N/S = Not Supportive, N/A = Not Applicable) 

S N/S N/A 

Discussion: The proposed project is anticipated to reduce adverse impacts to the coastal ecosystem through 
improved wastewater treatment technology that will produce R-2 effluent or better. Although the Project is not 
directly related to coastal ecosystems, the proposed project will provide a sanitary means to dispose of human 
waste, which helps to minimize nonpoint sources of pollution and impacts to downstream coastal waters. 

ECONOMIC USES 
Objective: (A) Provide public or private facilities and improvements important to the State's economy in suitable 
locations. 
Policies: 
(A) Concentrate coastal dependent development in appropriate areas; X  

 

(B) Ensure that coastal dependent development such as harbors and ports, and coastal 
related development such as visitor industry facilities and energy generating facilities, are 
located, designed, and constructed to minimize adverse social, visual, and environmental 
impacts in the coastal zone management area; and 

X  
 

(C) Direct the location and expansion of coastal dependent developments to areas presently designated and used 
for such developments and permit reasonable long-term growth at such areas, and permit coastal dependent 
development outside of presently designated areas when: 
(i) Use of presently designated locations is not feasible;   X 

(ii) Adverse environmental effects are minimized; and X  
 

(iii) The development is important to the State's economy.   X 

Discussion: The proposed project is located 680 feet inland from the nearest shoreline and in an existing parking 
lot. This will minimize adverse social, visual, and environmental impacts by reducing the amount of effluent 
generated at the Kēʻē comfort station and treating the wastewater to a minimum R-2 water quality. It also will use 
solar PV to generate clean energy to provide power to the comfort station and communications system. 

COASTAL HAZARDS 
Objective: (A) Reduce hazard to life and property from tsunami, storm waves, stream flooding, erosion, subsidence, 
and pollution. 
Policies: 
(A) Develop and communicate adequate information about storm wave, tsunami, flood, 

erosion, subsidence, and point and nonpoint source pollution hazards; 
X   

(B) Control development in areas subject to storm wave, tsunami, flood, erosion, hurricane, 
wind, subsidence, and point and nonpoint source pollution hazards; 

X   

(C) Ensure that developments comply with requirements of the Federal Flood Insurance 
Program; and 

X   

(D) Prevent coastal flooding from inland projects.   X 

Discussion: The proposed project is not anticipated to be impacted by storm waves, tsunami, flooding, erosion, 
subsidence, or pollution hazards. Natural hazards are discussed in Section 3.1. The proposed project will comply 
with the requirements of the Federal Flood Insurance Program and hurricane and wind design requirements. 
Because the project does not involve alterations to any floodways, sloped areas, or shoreline conditions, and the 
construction will meet existing grades and reuse excavated materials from the site, it is not anticipated to have any 
adverse impact or any deleterious effects on such conditions. 
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COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT, CHAPTER 205A, HRS 
(Key: S = Supportive, N/S = Not Supportive, N/A = Not Applicable) 

S N/S N/A 

MANAGING DEVELOPMENT 
Objective: (A) Improve the development review process, communication, and public participation in the 
management of coastal resources and hazards. 
Policies: 
(A) Use, implement, and enforce existing law effectively to the maximum extent possible in 

managing present and future coastal zone development; 
  X 

(B) Facilitate timely processing of applications for development permits and resolve 
overlapping or conflicting permit requirements; and 

  X 

(C) Communicate the potential short and long-term impacts of proposed significant coastal 
developments early in their life cycle and in terms understandable to the public to 
facilitate public participation in the planning and review process. 

X   

Discussion: Via the Hā‘ena State Park Master Plan process and EIS process, which spanned a decade between 2008 
and 2018, community outreach events and public review of the master plan report and EIS documents 
communicated the analysis of potential impacts of the project early in the life cycle of the project as they included 
the proposed comfort station in the visitor parking lot in those plans and documents. The Hui also held community 
open houses specific to the proposed project to further explain the project and gather additional public input 
specific to the proposed comfort station, which in turn informed improvements to the design such as the addition 
of baby changing stations and a refillable water station. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Objective: (A) Stimulate public awareness, education, and participation in coastal management. 
Policies: 
(A) Promote public involvement in coastal zone management processes; X   

(B) Disseminate information on coastal management issues by means of educational 
materials, published reports, staff contact, and public workshops for persons and 
organizations concerned with coastal issues, developments, and government activities; 
and 

  X 

(C) Organize workshops, policy dialogues, and site-specific mediations to respond to coastal 
issues and conflicts. 

  X 

Discussion: As noted above, the Hā‘ena State Park Final EIS (2018) anticipated the proposed comfort station, 
addressed the potential impacts and mitigation measures, and provided an opportunity for input during both the 
EIS Preparation Notice and Draft EIS public comment periods. In addition, two community open houses were held 
specifically for this project in July 2023 to gather additional community input. 

BEACH PROTECTION 
Objective: (A) Protect beaches for public use and recreation. 
Policies: 
(A) Locate new structures inland from the shoreline setback to conserve open space, minimize 

interference with natural shoreline processes, and minimize loss of improvements due to 
erosion; 

X   

(B) Prohibit construction of private erosion-protection structures seaward of the shoreline, 
except when they result in improved aesthetic and engineering solutions to erosion at the 
sites and do not interfere with existing recreational and waterline activities; and 

  X 

(C) Minimize the construction of public erosion-protection structures seaward of the 
shoreline. 

  X 

(D) Prohibit private property owners from creating a public nuisance by inducing or cultivating 
the private property owner’s vegetation in a beach transit corridor; and 

  X 
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COASTAL ZONE MANAGEMENT ACT, CHAPTER 205A, HRS 
(Key: S = Supportive, N/S = Not Supportive, N/A = Not Applicable) 

S N/S N/A 

(E) Prohibit private property owners from creating a public nuisance by allowing the private 
property owner’s unmaintained vegetation to interfere or encroach upon a beach transit 
corridor. 

  X 

Discussion: Since the proposed project is located roughly 680 feet inland from the nearest shoreline, it has no 
relationship to shoreline processes or blocking beach access. It does not include any construction seaward of the 
shoreline or interfere with existing recreational or waterline activities.  

MARINE RESOURCES 
Objective: (A) Promote the protection, use, and development of marine and coastal resources to assure their 
sustainability. 
Policies: 
(A) Ensure that the use and development of marine and coastal resources are ecologically and 

environmentally sound and economically beneficial; 

 
 X 

(B) Coordinate the management of marine and coastal resources and activities to improve 
effectiveness and efficiency; 

  X 

(C) Assert and articulate the interests of the State as a partner with federal agencies in the 
sound management of ocean resources within the United States exclusive economic zone; 

  X 

(D) Promote research, study, and understanding of ocean processes, marine life, and other 
ocean resources in order to acquire and inventory information necessary to understand 
how ocean development activities relate to and impact upon ocean and coastal resources; 
and 

  X 

(E) Encourage research and development of new, innovative technologies for exploring, 
using, or protecting marine and coastal resources. 

  X 

Discussion: Because the proposed project is located roughly 680 feet inland of the nearest shoreline, it does not 
involve marine or coastal resources. It will however reduce the use of the Kēʻē comfort station, which is located 
closer to the shoreline and near sensitive natural and cultural resources by provided a new comfort station inland 
at the existing parking lot. 

 

4.2.2 Section 4.0 the SMA Rules  

According to Section 4.0 of the Kaua‘i SMA Rules, “The following guidelines shall be used by the 
Director and the Planning Commission for the review of developments proposed in the Special 
Management Area:”  

A. All development in the Special Management Area shall be subject to reasonable terms and 
conditions set by the Director or the Planning Commission to insure that:  

(1) Adequate access, by dedication or other means, to publicly owned or used beaches, 
recreation areas, and natural reserves is provided to the extent consistent with sound 
conservation principles;  

Discussion: The proposed project is in a State park and will not change public access 
to it. It will not obstruct or diminish current access to beaches, recreation areas and 
natural reserves. It will be located in the Park’s existing parking lot.  
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(2) Adequate and properly located public recreation areas and wildlife preserves are 
reserved;  

Discussion: The proposed project is located in the existing Park parking lot and is 
expected to have a positive impact on the existing comfort station at Kēʻē Beach, by 
providing additional restroom facilities, thereby reducing demand and effluent 
generation at the existing Kēʻē facility.  

(3) Provisions are made for solid and liquid waste treatment, disposition, and 
management that will minimize adverse effects upon special management area 
resources; and  

Discussion: The proposed project directly supports the above guideline as it involves 
a new comfort station that will have an IWS that will treat wastewater to R-2 quality 
with UV disinfection and generate electricity with solar PV. 

(4) Alterations to existing land forms and vegetation, except crops, and construction of 
structures shall cause minimum adverse effect to water resources and scenic and 
recreational amenities and minimum danger of floods, wind damage, storm surge, 
landslides, erosion, siltation, or failure in the event of earthquake.  

Discussion: The construction of the proposed project is not expected to have an 
adverse effect on water resources and scenic resources and is intended to have a 
positive effect on the park’s recreational amenities by providing a new comfort station 
away from sensitive natural, cultural, and recreational resources. The proposed 
project will be designed to the required codes to protect it from potential wind, 
hurricane, or earthquake damage. It is outside of special flood hazard areas, sloped or 
erosion-prone areas, and is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline. 

B. No development shall be approved unless the Director or the Planning Commission has 
first found that: 

(1) The development will not have any substantial, adverse environmental or ecological 
effect except as such adverse effect is minimized to the extent practicable and clearly 
outweighed by public health, safety, and welfare, or compelling public interest. Such 
adverse effect shall include, but not be limited to, the potential cumulative impact of 
individual developments, each one of which taken in itself might not have a substantial 
adverse effect, and the elimination of planning options; 

Discussion: The proposed project will not change the use or number of visitors at the 
Park. The proposed comfort station was also discussed in the Hā‘ena State Park 
Master Plan Final EIS, along with the cumulative effects of other proposed 
components of the Park master plan improvements. The proposed comfort station 
will improve environmental and ecological effects by providing a new comfort station 
and IWS away from the shoreline and sensitive natural and cultural resources, 
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reducing the use of the Kēʻē comfort station, and will treat the wastewater generated 
to a minimum level of R-2 water quality with UV disinfection in support of public 
health, safety, and welfare at the Park. The proposed project also does not have the 
adverse effect of limiting any planning options as it is located within the existing 
parking lot, which was a previously disturbed area of the Park.  

(2) The development is consistent with the objectives and policies, as enumerated in HRS 
Chapter 205A and as referred to in Section 3.0 above, and the Special Management 
Area guidelines set forth in these Rules and Regulations; and 

Discussion: Please refer to the discussion of the Coastal Zone Management (HRS 
205A) objectives and policies in Section 4.2.1 above and the SMA guidelines in Section 
4.2.2. 

(3) The development is consistent with the County general plan and zoning ordinances. 
Such a finding of consistency does not preclude concurrent processing where a general 
plan or zoning amendment may also be required. 

Discussion: The most recent General Plan (GP) was adopted in March 2018. It 
designated the park as “Parks and Recreation” on the North Shore Land Use Map 
(Figure 5). The proposed project supports the ongoing use and improved 
environmental conditions of the Park. No amendment to the GP is required.  

The North Shore Development Plan (DP) designates Hā‘ena State Park (including its 
facilities) as “Open” (Figure 6). The proposed project is supportive of DP 
recommendation that “basic supportive facilities should be provided at outdoor 
recreation areas selected for widespread public use in order to enhance the 
experience.” No amendment to the DP is required. 

There is no County zoning as the Park falls within the State Conservation Land Use 
District. No zoning amendment is required. 

C. The Director or the Planning Commission shall seek to minimize, where reasonable: 

(1) Dredging, filling or otherwise altering any bay, estuary, salt marsh, river mouth, 
slough, or lagoon.  

Discussion: The proposed project will not involve dredging, filling or otherwise 
altering any bay, estuary, salt marsh, river mouth, slough, or lagoon.  

(2) Any development that would reduce the size of any beach or other area usable for 
public recreation.  
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Discussion: The proposed project is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline, 
located on the site of the existing parking lot, and will not reduce the size of any beach 
or other area usable for public recreation. 

(3) Any development that would reduce or impose restrictions upon public access to tidal 
and submerged lands, beaches, portions of rivers and streams within the Special 
Management Area and the mean high tide line where there is no beach.  

Discussion: The proposed project is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline, 
located on the site of the existing parking lot, and will not reduce or impose 
restrictions upon public access to tidal and submerged lands, beaches, portions of 
rivers and streams within the SMA. 

(4) Any development that would substantially interfere with or detract from the line of 
sight toward the sea from the State Highway nearest the coast, or from existing public 
views to and along the shoreline.  

Discussion: While the proposed project is makai of Kūhiō Highway (between a State 
Highway and the coastline), the impact will be minimal because the ocean and 
shoreline are not visible from the highway in this location because of tall trees and 
thick vegetation surrounding the parking lot. In addition, the project site is lower than 
Kūhiō Highway and next to an adjacent berm. 

(5) Any development that would adversely affect water quality, existing areas of open 
water free of visible structure, existing and potential fisheries and fishing grounds, 
wildlife habitats, estuarine sanctuaries, potential or existing agricultural uses of land.  

Discussion: The proposed project is not expected to adversely affect water quality, 
existing areas of open water free of visible structure, existing and potential fisheries 
and fishing grounds, wildlife habitats, estuarine sanctuaries, potential or existing 
agricultural uses of land as the site is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline and 
within an existing parking lot. The wastewater produced at the proposed comfort 
station will be treated to a minimum of R-2 water quality and will have UV disinfection. 
There is no agricultural use at the current site as it is an existing parking lot and was 
previously disturbed and cleared. The area has been in use as a parking lot for 
decades.  

4.3 KAUAʻI COUNTY GENERAL PLAN 

The General Plan (GP) of the County of Kaua‘i is a policy document that fulfills legal mandates of 
State law and the Charter of the County of Kaua‘i. It is intended to help guide long-range 
development for the enhancement and improvement of life on Kaua‘i, advancement of the 
County’s vision for Kaua‘i, and the establishment of strategies to help achieve that vision 
including recommended land uses. The most recent GP update was adopted in March 2018. It 
designates the project site and Park as “Parks and Recreation” on the North Shore Land Use Map 
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(Figure 5). The GP North Shore Planning District Heritage Resources Map identifies the Park as a 
“State & County Park” and notes that traditional cultivation areas are located within the Park and 
a regulated fishing area and coral reefs are located offshore fronting the Park.  

Discussion: The proposed project does not change the use of the Park as it will be built to support 
the existing Hā‘ena State Park. The County’s GP clearly supports the appropriate management, 
maintenance, staffing, funding, and enforcement of the parks. The GP recognizes the need for 
management measures to balance visitor demand and conservation needs. Further, the Plan 
identifies the need for adequate funding to implement management, interpretation, and 
maintenance of park facilities. The proposed project is partnership between the Hui and State 
Parks and is supportive of sanitation and public health. It will reduce the amount of wastewater 
effluent generated near the shoreline at the existing Kēʻē comfort station by providing a new 
comfort station 680 feet from the shoreline, and thereby reduce the impact to sensitive natural 
and cultural resources near the existing comfort station at Kē‘ē. 

4.4 NORTH SHORE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

The North Shore Development Plan (DP) designates Hā‘ena State Park as “Open” (Figure 6). The 
DP provides a framework for guidelines to direct the physical locations and relationships of major 
improvements, buildings, and landscape within the North Shore Special Planning Area. Relevant 
North Shore Planning Area goals include: 

• Goal A: To preserve the unique natural beauty of the North Shore Planning Area. 
• Goal E: To preserve the wildlife and flora of the North Shore, recognizing man’s 

dependence upon this preservation for his own health and welfare. 
• Goal F: To insure the preservation of the historic-archaeological sites in the North Shore 

Planning Area. 
 

A specific DP recommendation that relates to outdoor recreation and is applicable to the 
proposed comfort station and washdown area states: 

Only basic supportive facilities should be provided at outdoor recreation areas selected for 
widespread public use in order to enhance the experience. 

Discussion: The proposed project addresses the above recommendation of the North Shore DP. 
The proposed project will improve the conditions at the park by providing a second comfort 
station in an existing parking lot, reducing the use of the existing comfort station at Kēʻē, which 
will in turn reduce the impact to sensitive natural and cultural resources in that area. The design 
of the proposed comfort station will use natural materials such as wood and stone that will 
visually relate to the surrounding area. 
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4.5 COUNTY ZONING  

The project site is located within the State Conservation District. Therefore, County zoning does 
not apply.  

4.6 COUNTY CONSTRAINT DISTRICTS 

Article 12, KCC sets forth six Constraint Districts. Constraint Districts were created to specify 
additional performance required when critical or valuable physical, ecologic, or biologic 
characteristics of the environment exist on the same property where particular functions or uses 
may be developed. Among the purposes of the Constraint Districts are to ensure that 
development, modification, or use will not create substantial threats to health, safety, and 
welfare of people, or to the maintenance of established physical, biologic, and ecologic forms 
and systems (see Section 12.1, KCC). 

The proposed project is not located within any County Constraint District. 
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5 ALTERNATIVES 

5.1 NO ACTION 

The no action alternative would maintain current conditions with the only public restroom 
located at Kēʻē near sensitive environmental and cultural resources. This option would allow 
those impacts to continue at current levels and is therefore not appropriate.  

5.2 ORIGINAL MASTER PLAN LOCATION 

The original Master Plan location for the comfort station was in the main visitor parking lot close 
the Park entry on the Kēʻē side of the parking lot. When the Hui started designing the proposed 
comfort station, it became apparent that they would have to demolish the existing concrete 
paving at that end of the parking lot in order to install the absorption beds, which would be 
prohibitively expensive and would disrupt the shuttle service. Locating the absorption beds 
downstream of the comfort station and outside of the parking lot footprint would potentially 
impact the ancient loʻi to the west so that option was eliminated early in the design process.  

5.3 ALTERNATE LOCATIONS  

Other locations around and within the existing parking lot were also considered but were also 
eliminated due to various constraints and concerns. Areas to the south would not be feasible due 
to the existence of the large drainage swale and highway. Areas to the north have sensitive 
cultural sites including a large boulder that will be preserved in place and therefore were 
eliminated. To the east, extensive grading would be required to cut and remove a large amount 
of soil and boulders due to the previous grading done in that area to construct the parking lot. 
Within the parking lot itself, areas in the middle of the parking lot were considered. However, 
because the absorption beds need to be downstream of the proposed comfort station, the 
concrete turnaround would need to be demolished and would impact the shuttle service so was 
therefore eliminated as well.  
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1. What is the proposed construction and/or intended use of the structure or parcel (may attach
additional info)? ________________________________________________________________

2. If this is not the first dwelling unit on the subject property identified on this application, please state
how many dwelling units presently exist:

Submittal Checklist  
Please INITIAL under “Yes” or not applicable “N/A” regarding each of the statements: 

YES NA Staff Verification 
1 All plot plans I have submitted are drawn to scale. 
2 I have ensured all TMK numbers are visible on all plan sheets. 
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dimensions. 
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5 I have ensured kitchens are marked with the 8’ radii required by the 

Planning Department’s Administrative Rules. 
6 Because this application involves a CPR, the plot plan shows all 
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Errors in self-declaration or missing or incomplete information will delay acceptance and processing of your 
application.   
Any purposeful misrepresentations in this application may result in delay, denial, permit revocation, violations, 
fines and even criminal prosecution.   

The owner and/or authorized representative is hereby made aware that the construction, work, use or activity approved in this permit shall be subject to inspection by 
Planning Department personnel. The applicant is advised that inspection may occur prior to or during construction and use to ascertain the activity is conducted in 
compliance with the law.  Further, I am a duly authorized agent or have 100% ownership rights.  
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APPROVED DENIED BY: 
 

DATE: 
 

DIRECTOR’S CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL (staff to initial next to applicable conditions): 

This permit shall expire if no building is issued within one (1) year after the approval date and/or if 
construction does not start within one (1) year of building permit issuance. 
Director’s standard conditions for non-residential agricultural structures (attach) 
Should any archaeological or historic resources be discovered during ground 
disturbing/construction work, all work in the area of the find shall immediately cease and the 
Applicant shall contact the State Department of Land and Natural Resources, Historic Preservation 
Division and the Planning Department to determine mitigation measures. 
Additional Conditions (State): 
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COUNTY OF KAUA‘I 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING 

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT AREA (SMA) 
PERMIT ASSESSMENT

I. Part A

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Applicant:
Address: Phone:

Applicant’s Status:  (Check one) 
Owner of the Property (Holder of at least 100% of the equitable and legal title) 
Lessee of the Property Lessee must have an unexpired and recorded lease of five (5) 

years or more from the date of filing of this application.  If not, 
Owner(s) must provide a Letter of Authorization. 

Authorized Agent Attach Letter of Authorization 
Contact Person: Address: 
Phone:
Email:

PROJECT INFORMATION 
(attach additional sheets if necessary) 

Site Address: Tax Map Key:  
Lot Area:

State Land Use District: County Zoning: 
General Plan 
Designation: 
Nature of Development: 

* NOTE: An Environmental Assessment in accordance with HRS Chapter 343 is
required for actions requiring a Shoreline Setback Variance (SSV).  Please 
contact the Planning Department for further information. 

Valuation of Development: 
(Estimate Attached) 

Date of Application: 

Owner: DLNR State Parks; Applicant: Hui Makaʻāinana o Makana; Agent: PBR Hawaii
1001 Bishop Street, Suite 650
Honolulu, HI 96813

(808) 521-5631 x24

x
Kimi Yuen
(808) 521-5631 x24
kyuen@pbrhawaii.com

1001 Bishop Street, Suite 650
Honolulu, HI 96813

Hā‘ena State Park
Kūhiō Highway, Hā‘ena, HI

5-9-008:001 (portion)
0.75 ac. of 50.38-ac. lot
NoneConservation

Parks and Recreation

Construction of a new comfort station in the existing Hā‘ena State Park
parking lot and related infrastructure. Project will include an ADA-
compliant paved path connecting it to the park entrance, a solar 
photovoltaic system, and an individual wastewater system (IWS). 
A small washdown area will also be located by the shuttle stop next to 
the existing drainage basin. 

over $500,000

x

8/29/2023
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II. Part B

The petitioner shall be responsible for filing the following required information with the 
department before an application is considered complete: 

YES NO 
i. Involves an irrevocable commitment to loss or destruction

1. A written description of the proposed project, location and a statement of
reasons/justification for project.

2. If property abuts a shoreline, a certified shoreline survey conducted by a registered land
surveyor within 6 months of an application shall be submitted, when required by the
Planning Agency.

3. A plot plan of the property, drawn to scale, with all proposed and existing structures and
other pertinent information.  Also, preliminary building sketch plans are to be submitted.

4. Any other plans or information requirements by the Director.
Note: An Environmental Assessment or Environmental Impact Statement that has been
declared adequate under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) or under Chapter
343, HRS, may constitute a valid filing under this section.

5. Project Assessment:

a. Description of the area and environment involved including flora and fauna, and
other features;
The area is an existing unpaved gravel parking lot with no vegetation and therefore no faunal habitat. However,
several endangered seabird species likely fly over the park on their way to nesting sites in the mountains. See the
attached application for more information.

b. Description of the existing land uses of the project site and surrounding areas; The
existing land use is the parking lot for an existing state park. In addition to the state park itself, surrounding areas
include Limahuli Gardens and single family residences to the east of the park, and Makana and the pali to the
south.

c. Description of how the proposed project will affect the area involved and
surrounding areas.  Specifically the assessment should evaluate if the proposal:

x

of any natural or cultural resources, including but not
limited to, historic sites, Special Treatment Districts as
established by the County of Kauai Comprehensive
Zoning ordinance, view planes or scenic corridors as
outlined in the Community Development Plans, and
recreation areas and resources;

Discussion:
The proposed Project will be constructed in the existing Hā‘ena State Park parking lot, which is a
previously disturbed area. The Project will provide a second restroom away from sensitive natural
and cultural resources and reduce wastewater flows at the existing Kē‘ē comfort station, which is
closer to the beach and near cultural sites.
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YES NO 
ii. Curtails the range of beneficial uses of the environment;

YES NO 
iii. Conflicts with the County’s or the State’s long-term

environmental policies or goals;
Discussion:

YES NO 
iv. Substantially affects the economics or social welfare and

activities or the community, County or State;
Discussion:

YES NO 

YES NO 

YES NO 

x

Discussion:
The proposed Project will be located in the existing parking lot for Hā‘ena State Park and will support
improved environmental conditions by providing a second comfort station away from the sensitive
natural and cultural resources in Kēʻē.

x

The proposed Project supports the County's and State's long-term environmental goals by reducing
impacts to natural and cultural resources, producing and using renewable energy, and building in
already disturbed areas of the park.

x

The proposed Project does not change the use of the existing state park but does provide ADA access
to the proposed comfort station and reduces the number of parking stalls, thereby further encouraging
visitors to use the shuttle to access the park and supporting the economics of park operations.

xv. In itself has no significant adverse effect but cumulatively
has considerable effect upon the environment or involves
a commitment for larger actions;
Discussion:
See Section 3.4 of the application.

vi. Substantially affect a rare threatened, or endangered
species of animal or plant, or its habitat;
Discussion:
See Section 3.1.8 and 3.1.9 of the application.

x

vii. Detrimentally affects air or water quality or ambient noise
levels; or
Discussion:
See Section 3.1.10 and 3.1.11 of the application.

- 3 -

x
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YES NO 

YES NO 

YES NO 

d. Evaluation of the proposed development relative to the objective and policies as
contained in Chapter 205A, HRS; and Section 3.0 of the Special Management
Area (SMA) Rules and Regulations: (complete following questionnaire)

RECREATIONAL 
RESOURCES: 

Objective  
Provide coastal recreation opportunities accessible to the public. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question. 

YES NO 
1. Will the proposed development adversely affect coastal resources

viii. Affects an environmentally sensitive area, such as flood
plain, shoreline, tsunami zone, erosion-prone area,
geologically hazardous land, estuary, fresh water or
coastal water;
Discussion:
See Section 3.1 of the application.

ix. May have a major effect on the quality of the environment
or affect the economic or social welfare of the area; and
Discussion:
See Section 3.1, 3.2, and 3.4 of the application.

x. Would possibly be contrary to the policies and guidelines
of the Rules and Regulations, the County’s General Plan,
Development Plans, and Zoning and Subdivision
Ordinances.
Discussion:
See Section 4 of the application.

x

uniquely suited for recreational activities that cannot be provided in
other areas?
Discussion:
The proposed Project is in an existing parking lot and will not affect coastal
recreational resources.

x

x

x
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YES NO 

YES NO 

YES NO 
4. Will the proposed development affect an existing public access to or

YES NO 
5. Will the proposed development provide public access to and/or along

YES NO 
6. Will the proposed development encourage expanded recreational use

x

x

2. Will the project require replacement of coastal resources having
significant recreational value, including but not limited to surfing sites,
sandy beaches and fishing areas, when such resources will be
unavoidably damaged by the proposed development; or requiring
reasonable monetary compensation to the State for recreation when
replacement is not feasible or desirable?
Discussion:
The proposed Project is in an existing parking lot and will not affect coastal recreational
resources.

3. Is the project site near a State or County Park?

Discussion:
The proposed project is in Hā‘ena State Park but completely within an existing parking lot.

along the shoreline?
Discussion:
The proposed project is in an existing parking lot and will not affect public access to the shoreline.

x

the shoreline?

Discussion:
The proposed Project is a comfort station and its related infrastructure, but is within an existing state park that
provides public access to and along the shoreline.

x

of County, State, or federally owned or controlled shoreline lands and
waters having recreational value?
Discussion:
The proposed project supports the existing recreational use of Hā‘ena State Park and will not expand
recreational use of County, State, or federally owned or controlled shoreline lands and waters having
recreational value.

x
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YES NO 
7. Will the development generate point or non-point sources of pollution

HISTORICAL 
RESOURCES: 

Objective  
Protect, preserve, and where desirable, restore those natural and man-made 
historic and pre-historic resources in the Special Management Area that are 
significant in Hawaiian and American history and culture. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question.  

YES NO 
1. Is the project site within a Federal, State and/or County designated

YES NO 
2. Is the project site listed on or nominated to the Hawaii or National

Register of Historic Places?
Discussion:

YES NO 
3. Does the project site include land(s) which have not been previously

YES NO 
4. If an archeological survey has been conducted for the project site, has

the survey been submitted to the State Historic Preservation Office for
review and recommendations?

x

that will affect recreation value of coastal area?

Discussion:
The proposed project does not involve the generation of point or non-point sources of pollution that will
affect the recreational value of the coastal area. For more discussion, see Section 3 of the application.

x
historical/cultural district?
Discussion:
Hāʻena State Park includes the “Hāʻena Archaeological Complex,” which was listed in the Hawaiʻi and 
National Register of Historic Places in 1984 (State site #30-02-1600). However, the proposed project is 
in an area of the complex that was destroyed by previous modern grading and eventual construction of 
the parking lot and is not anticipated to impact historic resources. See Section 3.2 for additional 
discussion.

x

See above.

x
surveyed by an archaeologist?
Discussion:
The project site has been surveyed by several archaeologists and a summary of their findings is
included in the Final EIS for the park. Information specific to the proposed project is included in Section
3.2.1 of the attached application.

x
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YES NO 
5. Has any site survey revealed any information on historic or

archaeological resources? (Please provide a copy or reference of
survey)
Discussion:

YES NO 
6. Is the project site within or near a Hawaiian fishpond?

Discussion:

YES NO 
7. Is the project located within or near a historic settlement area?

(Cemeteries, burials, heiaus, etc.)
Discussion:

SCENIC & OPEN 
SPACE 
RESOURCES: 

Objective  
Protect, preserve, and where desirable, restore or improve the quality of coastal 
scenic and open space resources. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question.  

YES NO 

Discussion: 
State Parks, as a sister division of the Dept. of Land and Natural Resources, has coordinated with SHPD 
throughout the years and prepared several archaeological surveys and follow-up restoration plans and burial 
treatment plans. See additional discussion in Section 3.2.1 of the application and the Final EIS.

x

See Section 3.2.1 of the application.

x

The project site is not within or near a Hawaiian fishpond. See Section 3.2.1 and the Final EIS for more 
information.

x

The proposed project site is within a previously impacted portion of an ancient lo`i system. See Section
3.2.1 of the application for more information.

landmark within the SMA?
Discussion:
The proposed project is within the existing Haʻena State Park parking lot and will not affect valued scenic
resources or landmarks within the SMA. It will be in an area lower than the entry road into the park and the
comfort station will be behind the existing berm. The comfort station will be designed with natural materials
including stone and wood.

1. Does the project site abut or affect a valued scenic resources or  x
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YES NO 
2. Does the proposed development affect existing shoreline open space

and scenic resources?
Discussion:

YES NO 
3. Does the proposed development involve alteration to natural landforms

and existing public views to and along the shoreline?
Discussion:

YES NO 
4. Is the project compatible with the visual environment?

Discussion:

YES NO 
5. Does the proposed action involve the construction of structures visible

YES NO 
6. Is the project site within the Shoreline Setback Area (20 or 40 feet

inland from the shoreline)?
Discussion:

COASTAL 
ECOSYSTEMS: 

Objective  
Protect valuable coastal ecosystems from disruption and minimize adverse 
impacts on all coastal ecosystems. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question.  

x

The proposed project is roughly 680 feet from the shoreline, and is visually separated from the project site by
an existing forest containing invasive species.

x

The proposed project will be entirely constructed within an existing parking lot and does not have public
views to or along the shoreline.

x

The proposed project will be located within an existing parking lot. The comfort station will be
located on the east end of the parking lot that has a berm behind it. It will not impact any scenic
views at the Park.

x
between the nearest coastal roadway and the shoreline?
Discussion:
The proposed project is just north of Kūhiō Highway, which is the nearest coastal roadway and will
therefore be visible from it. However, there are no views to the shoreline from this location due to the
thick vegetation and forest between the highway and the shoreline.

x

The proposed project is roughly 680 feet from the shoreline and therefore outside of the Shoreline 
Setback Area.
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YES NO 
1. Is the project site a habitat for endangered species of flora and fauna?

Discussion:

YES NO 
2. Will the proposed development adversely affect valuable coastal

ecosystems of significant biological or economic importance?
Discussion:

YES NO 
3. Will the proposed involve disruption or degradation of coastal water

ecosystems through stream diversions, channelization, and similar land
and water uses?
Discussion:

YES NO 
4. Will the proposed development include the construction of special

YES NO 
5. Is there a wetland on the project site?

Discussion:

YES NO 
6. Is the project site situated in or abutting a Natural Area Reserve or

Wildlife Refuge or Sanctuary?
Discussion:

x

There are no critical habitats within the project site. See additional discussion in Section 3.1.8 and 
3.1.9 of the attached.

x

The project site is located in an existing parking lot and not located near the coast so will therefore not 
affect valuable coastal ecosystems of significant biological or economic importance.

x

The proposed project does not involve any stream diversions or channelization or any similar land 
and water uses and will therefore not disrupt or degrade coastal water ecosystems through those 
means.  

x
waste treatment facilities, such as injection wells, discharge pipes,
septic tank systems or cesspools?
Discussion:
The proposed project includes a new individual wastewater system for the park, including septic tank
systems and absorption beds. It does not include any injection wells or cesspools.

A wetland assessment and jurisdictional determination was prepared for the project and subsequently
approved by the Army Corps of Engineers that found that there are no jurisdictional wetlands or Waters of the
U.S. at the project site. See Exhibit 8 of the application.

x

x

The project site is entirely within an existing State Park and not located close to a Natural Area 
Reserve or Wildlife Refuge or Sanctuary. 
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ECONOMIC 
USES: 

Objective  
Provide public or private facilities and improvements important to the State’s 
economy in suitable locations. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question.  

YES NO 

YES NO 

YES NO 
3. Does the project site include agricultural lands designated for such use?

Discussion:

YES NO 
4. Does the proposed development relate to commercial fishing or

seafood production?
Discussion:

COASTAL 
HAZARDS: 

Objective  
Reduce hazard to life and property from tsunami, storm waves, stream flooding, 
erosion, and subsidence. 

Check either “Yes” or “No” for each of the following questions.  If your answer below is “Yes” or 
“No” it is necessary to elaborate by providing comments in the “Discussion” section below the 
question. 

x1. Does the project involve a harbor or port?
Discussion:
No, the proposed project is within a State park and is not located near a harbor or
port.

2. Is the proposed development related to or near to an existing major
hotel, multi-family, or condominium project?
Discussion:

x

No, the proposed project is a comfort station within a State park.

No, the proposed project is located within an existing parking lot within an existing State park.

x

x

No, the proposed project is a new comfort station and a small 5'x5' washdown area within an existing
parking lot at Hā‘ena State Park.
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YES NO 
1. Is the project site within a potential tsunami inundated area as depicted

on the National Flood Insurance Rate maps (FIRM)?
Discussion:

YES NO 
2. Is the project site within a potential flood inundation area according to a

FIRM?
Discussion:

YES NO 
3. Does the project comply with the requirements of the Federal Flood

Insurance Program?
Discussion:

YES NO 
4. Has the project site or nearby shoreline areas experienced shoreline

erosion?
Discussion:

YES NO 
5. Have any seawalls/revetments/etc. been constructed or exist in the

immediate vicinity?
Discussion:

x

The project site is within a tsunami evacuation zone as is the entire Hā‘ena State Park and much of the 
North Shore of Kaua`i west of Princeville. 

x

The project site is within Zone X according to the FIRM.

x

The proposed project is within Zone X according to the FIRM and will comply as necessary with 
requirements of the Federal Flood Insurance Program. 

The project site is roughly 680 feet from the nearest shoreline, which has experienced shoreline erosion 
in the past, but the project site is not anticipated to be impacted by shoreline erosion given its distance 
from the shoreline. See Section 3.1.7 of the application for additional discussion.

x

x

There are no shoreline structures such as seawalls, revetments, etc. in the shoreline area of Hā‘ena 
State Park.
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PROJECT 
ASSESSMENT: 

e. Evaluation of the impacts which cannot be avoided and mitigating measures
proposed to minimize that impact:
Discussion:

f. Evaluation of the proposed development relative to Section 4.0 of the SMA
Rules and Regulations in accordance with the following aspects:
i. Substantial adverse environmental or ecological effects;

Discussion:

ii. Consistency or compliance of the proposed development relative to the
goals and objectives of Chapter 205A, HRS; and Section 3.0 of the SMA
Rules and Regulations; and
Discussion:

iii. Consistency or compliance of the proposed development relative to the
County General Plan, Development Plan, and Zoning Ordinances.

Discussion:

[name], [title]  Date

See Section 3 of the application.

See Section 3 of the application.

See Section 4 of the application.

See Section 4 of the application.

Kimi Yuen, Vice President 8/29/2023
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EXISTING SITE AND DEMOLITION PLAN
SCALE: 1"=20'

C-100GRAPHIC SCALEGRAPHIC SCALE
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SCALE: 1"=20'

EXISTING SITE
AND

DEMOLITION
PLAN

DEMOLISH AND REMOVE
CONCRETE CURB

NOTES:

1. COORDINATES ARE BASED OFF OF TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PROVIDED BY ESAKI SURVEYING AND MAPPING, INC.

2. CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE CRUSH ROCK STOCKPILE
WITH DLNR AND/OR HUI MAKA'AINANA O MAKANA
PERSONNEL.

DEMOLISH AND REMOVE
CONCRETE WALKWAY

SAWCUT AND REMOVE
CONCRETE WALKWAY

REMOVE CONCRETE
WHEEL STOP (6)

REMOVE AND STOCKPILE
EXISTING CRUSH ROCK,
SEE NOTE

REMOVE AND STOCKPILE EXISTING
CRUSH ROCK, SEE NOTE

REMOVE AND SALVAGE
CONCRETE WHEEL STOP (26)

EXISTING CONCRETE
DRIVEWAY AND PARKING TO
REMAIN AND BE OPERATIONAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION

DEMOLISH AND REMOVE
CONCRETE CURB

SITE WALL TO BE REMAIN

HALA CLUSTER TO
BE PRESERVED

ROCK TO BE
PRESERVED

LIMITED ACCESS PAVED ROADWAY (KUHIO HIGHWAY)

SHEETS C-101, C-102, C-103

PRESERVE PORTION OF
CONCRETE CURB TO REMAIN

PRESERVE PORTION OF
CONCRETE CURB TO REMAIN

EXISTING RIP RAP
TO BE PRESERVED

OUTLINE SPECIFICATIONS:
EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL
THE CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE EROSION AND SEDIMENT
CONTROL DURING CONSTRUCTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNTY OF
KAUAI, STATE OF HAWAII, AND FEDERAL EPA STANDARDS.  THE EROSION
AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES SHALL PREVENT SEDIMENT LADEN
RUNOFF AND TRACKING OF SOIL FROM THE SITE.  THE SITE SHALL BE
PROPERLY STABILIZED PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

CLEARING AND GRUBBING
AFTER THE APPROPRIATE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MESURES
HAVE BEEN INSTALLED, THE SITE SHALL BE CLEARED AND GRUBBED AS
NECESSARY TO CONSTRUCT THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.  ALL
RUBBISH SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE ON A WEEKLY BASIS.
EXISTING GRAVEL ON-SITE MAY BE RECYCLED PROVIDED ALL SEDIMENT IS
REMOVED BY MEANS OF SORTING AND WASHING.

SITE GRADING
SITE GRADING SHALL BE REQUIRED AS NECESSARY TO PREPARE THE
EXISTING SURFACE FOR THE PARKING, ADA COMPLIANT SIDEWALK AND
RAMP AND NEW COMFORT STATION.  UNSUITABLE MATERIAL SUCH AS
DEBRIS, ROCKS, EXPANSIVE CLAY, OR MUCK SHALL BE REMOVED AND
BACKFILLED WITH SUITABLE MATERIAL.

THE CONTOURS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS ARE FROM FIELD SURVEY
COMPLETED BY LUCAS BRECKENRIDGE AND ASSOCIATES, INC.  IT SHALL BE
THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO PROVIDE A LEVEL SMOOTH
SURFACE WITH UNIFORM CROSS SECTIONS.  THE ADA PARKING STALLS
SHALL BE COMPLIANT WITH ALL STATE AND ADAAG REQUIREMENTS FOR A
2% MAXIMUM SLOPE IN EITHER DIRECTION.  THE SIDEWALK AND RAMP FROM
THE EXISTING ADA PARKING STALLS TO THE COMFORT STATION SHALL
HAVE A MAXIMUM CROSS SLOPE OF 2% AND MAXIMUM LONGITUDINAL
SLOPE OF 8%.  WHERE THE SIDEWALK MEETS THE ACCESS AISLES, THE
SIDEWALK SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 2% IN EITHER DIRECTION.

ALL GRADING WORK SHALL CONFORM TO SOIL RECOMMENDATIONS
PROVIDED BY KOKUA GEOTECH LLC (GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING
EXPLORATION).

SITE CONCRETE WORK
CONCRETE SIDEWALKS, STANDARD AND HEADER CURBS SHALL BE
CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE OF HAWAII DOT
SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 634, PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALKS,
AND SECTION 638, PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER.
CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS B, WITH A MINIMUM COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH
OF 2500 PSI.  ALL CONCRETE SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED ON BASE COURSE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFICATION LISTED ABOVE IN THE ASPAHLT
PAVEMENT SECTION.  CONCRETE WORK SHALL BE CAST IN PLACE USING
WOOD FORMS.

BIOSOCK, OR
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NOTE:
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ESTIMATED EXCAVATION: 65 CY
ESTIMATED EMBANKMENT: 275 CY
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NOTE: EXCAVATION QUANTITIES SHOWN
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PERFORATED PIPE DRAINLINE
AT CONC. SIDEWALK
SEE
DET.

9
C-201

7.90%

7.90%

PERFORATED PIPE DRAINLINE
SEE
DET.

8
C-201

8.00%
MAX.

8.00%
MAX.

8.00%
MAX.

8.00%
MAX.

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

4.31%

BIOSOCK, OR
APPROVED EQUAL
SEE
DET.

1
C-201

PERFORATED PIPE DRAINLINE
SEE
DET.

8
C-201

SITE WALL
TO  REMAIN

PROPERTY LINE, TYP.

NOTE:

1. SEPTIC SYSTEM BY DESIGN CONCEPTS,
SEE ARCH PLANS.
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SCALE: 1"=10'

C-103

SITE STRIPING
PLAN

NOTE:

COORDINATES ARE BASED OFF OF
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY PROVIDED BY ESAKI
SURVEYING AND MAPPING, INC.
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'
33
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00
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ADA PARKING AND ACCESS
AISLE SIGN, TYP.
SEE
DET.
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ADA STALL MARKING, TYP.
SEE
DET.

2
C-202

4" WHITE STRIPING,
45° AT 2' O.C.

STALL LINE FOR VISUAL ONLY

6.00'

HALA TREE TO BE PRESERVED

ROCK TO BE
PRESERVED

SITE WALL
TO  REMAIN

PROPERTY LINE, TYP.
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C-201

SITE DETAILS 1

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE/CRUSHED ROCK TRANSITION 3
C-201

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE CURB WITH SUBDRAIN CONDITION 8
C-201 NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE SIDEWALK AT CRUSH ROCK PARKING 9
C-201

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

4" PERFORATED
PIPE

4" MIN

4"
 M

IN
4"

 M
IN

4" MIN

12
" C

R
U

SH
R

O
C

K

8"
C

R
U

SH
R

O
C

K

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

COMPACTED
SUBBASE

6" BASE
COURSE

30" REBAR

PARKING

6X6-6/6 GALV. WELDED WIRE FABRIC
4" CONC. SIDEWALK

12" HIGH CONC. HEADER
3-#4 CONTINUOUS

CONC
WHEEL
STOP

3'

PARKING

PERFORATED PIPE SECTION

CRUSH ROCK

CRUSH ROCK

2" C
LR

#4 @ 12" O.C. BOTHWAYS

CONCRETE CURB

6"
6"

6"

18
"

2:1 SWALE
CONDITION AT
SOUTH CONCRETE
PARKING STALLS

6" BASE COURSE
6" COMPACTED SUBBASE

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE CURB AND CONCRETE PARKING 4
C-201

FINISH GRADE

12" CRUSHED ROCK
GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

1
1

2" C
LR

#4 @ 12" O.C. BOTHWAYS

12
"

6"

6"
6"

6"

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

#4 CONT.

6" BASE COURSE

7"
6" 1"

12"

R=1/4"

#4 DOWEL @ 24" O.C. EMBEDDED
12" INTO CONCRETE PARKING SLAB

6'

12
" C

R
U

SH
R

O
C

K

8"
C

R
U

SH
R

O
C

K
GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

4" PVC DRAIN
PIPE 3' O.C.
SEE PLAN ABOVE

COMPACTED
SUBBASE

6" BASE
COURSE

30" REBAR

PARKING

CONC
WHEEL
STOP

3'

PARKING

SECTION

CRUSH ROCK

18" HIGH CONC. HEADER WITH DRAIN CONDITION

18
"

6'

6X6-6/6 GALV. WELDED WIRE FABRIC
4" CONC. SIDEWALK

12" HIGH CONC. HEADER
3-#4 CONTINUOUS

1' 3'

10' - 18" HIGH CONC. HEADER

4" DRAIN, TYP.

6'

CONC. HEADER

CONC. PARKING

0.5'0.5'

SEE SECTION BELOW

PLAN

12" HIGH CONC. HEADER WITHOUT DRAIN CONDITION

SECTION

12" HIGH CONC. HEADER

GRAVEL PARKING

0.5'0.5'

3' 3'

CONC. HEADER

6'

SEE SECTION BELOW

PLAN

4" SCREENED SOIL
CONDITION AT
ADA PARKING LOT
LANDSCAPE AREAS 6"1"

12" THICK CRUSH ROCK

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

FILL CONDITION

CUT CONDITION

3:1 MAX SLOPE
(CONDITION VARIES)

1.5'

4"  PERFORATED
DRAIN PIPE

4
C-201

CONCRETE CURB AND
CRUSH ROCK CONDITION
SEE
DET.

2-#4 CONT.
12" O.C.

CONCRETE CURB

12
"

6"

18
"

12" THICK CRUSH ROCK

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC
USE GEOTEX 315ST
OR APPROVED EQUAL

R=1/4"

7"
6" 1"

FILL CONDITION

CUT CONDITION

3:1 MAX SLOPE
(CONDITION VARIES)

4'

CONCRETE CAP

4" GALV. PIPE FILLED  WITH DWS
2500 CONC, PAINTED OSHA
APPROVED SAFETY YELLOW.

4"

1'-6"

DWS 2500 CONC.2'

NOT TO SCALE

BOLLARD 6
C-201

6" MIN
OVERLAP

9" SILT SOCK

PROTECTED AREA

9" SILT SOCK

SECTION A-A

LIMIT OF GRADING

NOTE:
1. COMPOST SHALL NOT CONTAIN BIOSOLIDS AND SHOULD BE
CONSISTENT WITH EPA GUIDELINES.

2. STAKING/ANCHORING NOT REQUIRED

3. TO BE REMOVED AFTER PERMANENT STABILIZATION OF WORK
AREA

9" DIAMETER BIOSOCK
COMPOST FILTER SOCK OR
APPROVED EQUAL, TYP.

PLAN

DIRECTION OF FLOW

SECTION A-A

PROJECT SITE

NOT TO SCALE

BIOSOCK 1
C-201

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE CURB AND CRUSH ROCK CONDITION 5
C-201

30' MIN.

12" MIN
DEPTH

EXISTING GROUND SURFACE
50' MIN.

FILTER FABRIC

3" TO 6" COARSE AGGREGATE

NOT TO SCALE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE 2
C-201

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE CURB DOWEL SECTION 7
C-201

NEW
CONCRETE CURB

6" MAX

EXISTING
CONCRETE CURB

DRILL AND
GROUT DOWEL

3/4"Øx12" LONG SMOOTH
DOWEL, EPOXY INTO
EXISTING CONCRETE CURB

4"

18
"

4"
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NOT TO SCALE

SIGN POST AND SIGNS 1
C-202

ACCESSIBLE
VAN

MINIMUM FINE $500
REQUIRED

LICENSE PLATES
PLACARD OR SPECIAL

PARKING
RESERVED

ACCESS
AISLE

PARKING

DIA.
1'

3'

3"
7'

NOTE:

1. SIGNS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MANUAL ON UNIFORM
TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES FOR STREETS AND HIGHWAYS.

2. PAINT BACK OF SIGN AND POST AS PER BASE COLOR.

3. REFLECTORIZED SIGNS SHALL BE MADE OF ALUMINUM ATTACHED TO
GALVANIZED STEEL POST (NO HOLES AND CAPPED AT TOP OF POST)
WITH STAINLESS STEEL BOLTS, NUTS AND WASHERS.  WASHERS SHALL
BE INSTALLED BETWEEN THE SIGN AND POST TO KEEP THE ALUMINUM
SIGN FROM TOUCHING THE GALVANIZED POST.

2" SQUARE GALV.
STEEL PERFORATED
TUBE POST

ALUMINUM SIGN
AS SHOWN ON PLAN

PARKING SIGN
R7-8 (1'x1'-6")

VAN ACCESSIBLE
SIGN R7-8A (1'x6")

BREAK-AWAY ANCHOR POST
SLEEVE (REMOVABLE TYPE)

TOW-AWAY SIGN
R7-20 (1'x6")

SLOPE TO DRAIN

FINISH GRADE

ACCESS AISLE SIGN
R7-201A (1'x1'-6")

TOW-AWAY SIGN
R7-20 (1'x6")

C-202

SITE DETAILS 2

PARKING CENTERLINE

BLUE
TRAFFIC
PAINT

10
"

2'
-0

"
6"

6"12"
2"

5°'

4"
4"

4"

R1'-
2"

4"

20°'

2"

EQUAL EQUAL 5'-0"

45°'

4"

6"

2'-0"

4"

6"

NOT TO SCALE

ADA STALL AND ACCESS AISLE MARKING 2
C-202

EDGE OF CONCRETE PAVEMENT
4"

1'-6"

1'

6"

1"

1'

6"

2"

8"

1"

2"

1"

1'-6"

4"

2"
2"

3'

4"
6"

1"

2-1" HOLES, DRIVE 2 - #7, 30" LONG REBAR SPIKES

2-#4 REBAR CONTINUOUS

CONC. WHEEL STOP
(PAINT WITH BLUE
TRAFFIC PAINT @
ACCESSIBLE STALLS)

#7 REBAR
PAVEMENT CONDITION: 18" LONG
GRAVEL CONDITION: 30" LONG

45°

45°

SECTION A-A

8% MAX

X X X X X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X

A

PLAN

1'-0"

1-1/2" SCHEDULE 40
GALVANIZED STEEL PIPE

1" SCHEDULE 40
GALVANIZED STEEL PIPE

10'-0" MAX, TYP.

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
SEE
DET.

R=2", TYP.

1-1/2" Ø O.D. ALUMINUM
HANDRAIL, TYP.

POST ANCHOR,
TYP.

VARIES, SEE PLAN 1'-0"1'-0"

34
"

26
"

ELEVATION
PARKING

XXXXXXXXXX

PARKING

CRUSH ROCK

6'

2'-10" HIGH
HANDRAIL

EMBED 8" IN
CONC

12
"

6'
-0

"

5'
-4

"
4"

NOT TO SCALE

ADA HANDRAIL - SIDEWALK CONDITION 5
C-202NOT TO SCALE

ADA HANDRAIL - RAMP CONDITION 4
C-202

NOT TO SCALE

CONCRETE WHEEL STOP 3
C-202

CONCRETE SIDEWALK, TYP.
SEE
DET.

9
C-201

XXXXXXXXXXXX

CRUSH ROCK

2'-10" HIGH HANDRAIL
EMBED 8" IN CONC

12
"

CONCRETE SIDEWALK, TYP.
SEE
DET.

9
C-201

VARIES,
SEE PLAN

ADA RAMP, SEE
STRUCTURAL PLANS

SECTION A-A

A

XXXX

ADA HANDRAIL
SEE
DET.

5
C-202

5'

6"

4" M
AX.

8"
4" MAX.

8% MAX

8% MAX

8% MAX

5'-4"

9
C-201

1" Ø O.D. ALUMINUM HANDRAIL
SUPPORT, TYP. EVENLY SPACED,
OR AT 10' O.C. MAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
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AutoCAD SHX Text
A
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K A U A I

PROJECT LOCATION

HAENA
HANALEI
BAY

KALIHIWAI
BAY KILAUEA

BAY

MOLOAA

ANAHOLA

KEALIA

KAPAA

WAILUA

KAPALA

LIHUE
HANAMAULU BAY

NAWILIWILI HARBOR

LIHUE AIRPORT
PUHI

KOLOA

POIPU

KALAHEO

LAWAI
ELEELE

HANAPEPE

HANAPEPE 
BAY

WAIMEA 
BAY

KEKAHA

WAIMEA

MANA
BARKING 
SANDS

POILHALE

   NAPALI
COAST

KOKEE

11 EXISTING PAVED PARKING STALLS

6 EXISTING PAVED PARKING STALLS

IWS SYSTEM BY

BOARDWALK TO KE'E BEACH

EX
IT

 T
O

 K
UH

IO
 H

W
Y

W
A
LK

W
A
Y

LOX HAWAII

18 GRAVEL PARKING STALLS

13 GRAVEL PARKING STALLS

SHUTTLE 
PICK-UP & 

DROP-OFF 
HALE

KUHIO HIGHWAY

ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY, INCLUDING STAGING, CONSTRUCTION OFFICE, PORT-
O-POTTY, MATERIAL STORAGE OR OTHER TO REMAIN WITH-IN THE OUTLINED AREA 

ATTENDANT SHACK

A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

PV SYSTEM (±8) PANELS WITH BATTERY PACK TO POWER:PV SYSTEM (±8) PANELS WITH BATTERY PACK TO POWER:

LIGHTING FOR BATHROOMS
OUTLET IN STORAGE CLOSET
AEROBIC SYSTEM AERATER AND UV LIGHT
LIGHTING AT ATTENDANT SHACK
110 OUTLET FOR MODEM AND ROUTER 

RUN CONDUIT AND PROVIDE (1) 110 OUTLET
CURB

NEW WASHDOWN 
STATION. CONC. SLAB
W/ HOSE BIB

5' - 0" 5'
 -

 0
"

IWS SYSTEM BY
LOX HAWAII

13 GRAVEL PARKING STALLS

18 GRAVEL PARKING STALLS

P
R

O
P
O

S
ED

 R
A
M

P

PROPOSED RAMP

EXISTING 3" HDPE POTABLE WATER LINE (APPROX. LOCATION)

NEW 1" HDPE WATER LINE

NEW 1" HDPE WATER LINE

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS

CONCRETE

EARTH

LEGEND                                 

P.V. SYSTEM

GRAVEL
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1/16" = 1'-0"
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BUILDING CONSRUCTION SHALL ADHERE TO AND BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE 2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE, THE 2012 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE, THE UNIFORM MECHANICAL CODE, UNIFORM 
PLUMBING CODE, NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE, ALL AS ADOPTED BY THE  COUNTY 
OF KAUAI, ALL OTHER COUNTY OF KAUAI BUILDING, PLUMBING, AND ELECTRICAL 
ORDINANCES AS REQUIRED BY ANY AUTHORITIES HAVING JURDISTICTION OVER THE 
PROJECT. VERIFY WITH ARCHITECT OR STRUCUTRAL ENGINEER. 

SUBJECT PROPERTY
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1. CODE REQUIREMENTS : BUILDING CONSTRUCTION SHALL ADHERE TO AND BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE 2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE, THE UNIFORM BUILDING 
CODE, THE UNIFORM MECHANICAL CODE, UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE, NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE, ALL AS ADOPTED BY THE COUNTY OF KAUAI, ALL OTHER COUNTY OF KAUAI BUILDING, 
PLUMBING, AND ELECTRICAL ORDINANCES, AND ANY AND ALL OTHER APPLICABLE CODES, AND ORDINANCES AS REQUIRED BY ANY AUTHORITIES HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROJECT.
VERIFY WITH ARCHITECT OR STRUCTURAL ENGINEER..

2. THE CONTRACT ARCHITECTURAL AND STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS REPRESENT THE FINISHED STRUCTURE.  THEY DO NOT INDICATE THE METHOD OF CONSTRUCTION.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL NOTES, DIMENSIONS, AND CONDITIONS AT THE SITE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

4. SPECIFIC NOTES AND DETAILS ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER GENERAL STRUCTURAL NOTES AND TYPICAL DETAILS.  WHERE NO SPECIFIC DETAILS, SECTIONS, OR NOTES 
ARE SHOWN, CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO TYPICAL DETAILS, SECTIONS, AND NOTES AND SIMILAR WORK AND SITUATIONS ON THE PROJECT UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  MODIFY TYPICAL 
DETAILS AS DIRECTED BY THE ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER TO MEET SPECIAL CONDITIONS.

5. THE DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN SPECIFICATIONS FOR MATERIALS AND SERVICES SHALL BE LOOKED UPON AS BEING COMPLIMENTARY.  IN GENERAL, WHAT IS CALLED FOR IN ONE, SHALL BE 
ASSUMED AS BEING CALLED FOR IN THE OTHER UNLESS NOTED AND/OR SPECIFIED OTHERWISE.  WHEN ONE IS FOUND TO BE IN CONFLICT WITH THE OTHER, THE DRAWINGS, INCLUDING BUT NOT 
LIMITED TO DETAILS AND NOTES, SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE SPECIFICATIONS.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE ALL MEASURES NECESSARY TO PROTECT THE STRUCTURE DURING CONSTRUCTION INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO PROVIDING ADEQUATE SHORING AND 
TEMPORARY LATERAL BRACING AS REQUIRED FOR ALL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS DURING ALL PHASES OF CONSTRUCTION UNTIL ALL PERMANENT CONNECTIONS HAVE BEEN MADE.  THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION OF ALL SCAFFOLDING, BRACING, SHORING, ETC.  OBSERVATION VISITS TO THE SITE BY THE ARCHITECT AND/OR 
ENGINEER SHALL NOT INCLUDE INSPECTION OF THE ABOVE ITEMS.  THE ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CONTRACTOR'S MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, 
SEQUENCES OR PROCEDURES OF CONSTRUCTION, NOR WILL THE ARCHITECT OR THE ENGINEER BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CONSTRUCTION SITE SAFETY, OR THE SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND 
PROGRAMS INCIDENT THERETO.

7. CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS SHALL BE SPREAD OUT ON FRAMED FLOORS AND ROOFS SO AS NOT TO EXCEED THE DESIGN LOAD.

8. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO IDENTIFY ALL DISCREPANCIES, OMISSIONS, AND/OR CONFLICTS BETWEEN THE VARIOUS ELEMENTS OF THE WORKING DRAWINGS AND/OR 
SPECIFICATIONS.  ANY DISCREPANCIES, OMISSIONS, OR CONFLICTS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, AND/OR OWNER AT THE TIME THEY ARE NOTED AND 
BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH ANY WORK INVOLVED.

9. DIMENSIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED DRAWINGS. WHEN SCALING DRAWINGS, VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS ON DRAWINGS WITH THE ARCHITECT AND/OR THE ENGINEER AND/OR THE OWNER 
PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

10. OBSERVATION VISITS TO THE SITE BY THE ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, OWNER AND/OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE THEREOF  SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED AS AN INSPECTION NOR APPROVAL OF 
CONSTRUCTION.

11. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER OF ANY CONDITIONS THAT MIGHT ENDANGER THE STABILITY OF THE STRUCTURE OR CAUSE VISIBLE 
DISTRESS IN THE STRUCTURE.

12. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE BEST PRACTICES PREVAILING IN THE VARIOUS TRADES COMPRISING THE WORK.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO PERFORM COORDINATION WITH STATE AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND UTILITY COMPANIES.

14. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE BETWEEN SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, ETC., REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL SHOP DRAWINGS AS NECESSARY, VERIFY ROUGH OPENINGS AND ROUGH-IN 
REQUIREMENTS, EQUIPMENT AND FIXTURE LISTS, AND SPECIFICATIONS TO INSURE COMPATIBILITY AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE INTENT OF THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

15. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE TEMPORARY SANITARY TOILET FACILITIES THROUGHOUT THE CONSTRUCTION.  CHEMICAL TOILETS SHALL BE OF AN APPROVED TYPE AND SHALL BE 
SERVICED REGULARLY TO PREVENT CONTAMINATION OF THE AREA.

16.  THE FOLLOWING ENGINEERING AND DESIGN SERVICES ARE NOT AS A PART OF THESE DRAWINGS AND SHALL BE BY OTHERS:  SOILS ENGINEERING, TOPOGRAPHY STUDY AND MAPS, SEPTIC 
SYSTEM DESIGN AND ENGINEERING, SOLAR SYSTEM DESIGN AND ENGINEERING, GRADING AND DRAINAGE DESIGN AND ENGINEERING, SOUND AND VIDEO SYSTEM DESIGN, HOME AUTOMATION 
DESIGN AND ENGINEERING, SECURITY AND ALARM SYSTEM DESIGN AND ENGINEERING, POOL AND SPA DESIGN, AND LANDSCAPE AND WATER FEATURE DESIGN AND ENGINEERING SERVICES.

GENERAL NOTES                                                                                  

SITE CONSTRUCTION                                                                              
1. UNLESS A SOILS INVESTIGATION REPORT BY A LICENSED SOILS ENGINEER IS PROVIDED, THE FOUNDATION DESIGN IS BASED UPON AN ASSUMED AVERAGE SOIL BEARING CAPACITY OF 1500 
PSF.

2. ALL CONDITIONS OF POTENTIAL INSTABILITY OF EMBANKMENTS, CUT, OR FILL SLOPES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE 
ATTENTION OF THE ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER.

3. GRADES NOT SPECIFICALLY SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL BE ASSUMED AS APPROXIMATE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY EXISTING GRADES ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO THE START OF 
THE WORK.

4. MAINTAIN BENCH MARKS, MONUMENTS, AND OTHER SOURCE REFERENCE POINTS FOR THE EXECUTION OF THE WORK.

5. LOCATE ALL UTILITIES AS REQUIRED FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK.

6. RELOCATE ON SITE UTILITIES FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ALL CLEARING AND GRUBBING AS NECESSARY FOR THE REMOVAL OF ORGANIC MATERIAL AT THE BUILDING SITE LOCATION.  CLEAR AREA OF WORK TO A 
MINIMUM DEPTH OF 8", OR AS REQUIRED TO GET TO SUITABLE SUB-SURFACE.

8. SOIL TYPE SHALL BE NON-EXPANSIVE SOIL.  ANY REQUIRED FILL SHALL HAVE 90% COMPACTION AND SHALL BE PLACED IN 8" LIFTS.

9. FILL MATERIAL (IF REQUIRED) SHALL BE SUITABLE IMPORTED OR EXCAVATED MATERIAL FREE OF LUMPS LARGER THAN 6 INCHES, ROCKS LARGER THAN 3 INCHES, AND DEBRIS.

10. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS, EXTERIOR FOOTINGS SHALL BEAR 1'-0" MIN. BELOW FINISHED GRADE FOR SINGLE STORY STRUCTURES AND 1'-6" BELOW FINISHED GRADE 
FOR TWO STORY STRUCTURES.

11. ALL FOOTINGS SHALL BEAR ON COMPACTED, FIRM, UNDISTURBED EARTH BELOW ORGANIC SURFACE SOILS.

12 PLUMBING PIPES, ELECTRICAL CONDUITS, FOUNDATION VENTS, AND OTHER SIMILAR BUILDING COMPONENTS SHALL BE PLACED SO AS NOT TO INTERFERE WITH DIRECT LOAD PATH OF 
COLUMNS AND VERTICAL STRUCTURAL SUPPORTS.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE FINISH GRADING WORK THAT PROVIDES FOR POSITIVE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM AND AROUND BUILDING STRUCTURES, WALKWAYS, PATIOS, LANAIS, ETC.  
GRADING WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE CONTOURS AS INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS AND/OR ADJACENT CONTOURS AND SHALL PROVIDE PROPER DRAINAGE.

14. INSTALL A SEPTIC SYSTEM COMPLYING WITH STATE OF HAWAII DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH REGULATIONS AND APPROVED DRAWINGS.  OTHER THAT WHAT MAY BE SHOWN ON THE SITE PLAN 
DRAWINGS, THE SEPTIC SYSTEM DESIGN AND ENGINEERING IS NOT INCLUDED AS A PART OF THESE DRAWINGS AND SHALL BE BY OTHERS.

EARTHQUAKE ZONE                    SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORY "B"
ALLOWABLE SOIL BEARING         1500 PSF (ASSUMED)
WIND                                       105 MPH, EXPOSURE "C", Kzt = 1.80, Kd = 0.65, Veff = 123 MPH

STEEL                                                                                               

1. ALL STEEL PLATES AND ANGLES SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED AND CONFORM TO ASTM A36. VERIFY AND CONFORM THE USE OF STAINLESS STEEL PLATES AND ANGLES WITH OWNER 
FOR USE AT EXTERIOR LOCATIONS AND SPECIAL CONDITIONS. STAINLESS STEEL PLATES SHALL BE TYPE 316L.

2. ALL STEEL WIDE-FLANGE BEAMS AND COLUMNS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED AND CONFORM TO ASTM A992. ALL STEEL TUBES SHALL BE ASTM A500, GRADE B. ALL STEEL PIPES 
SHALL BE ASTM A53, GRADE B

3. ALL WELDING SHALL CONFORM TO AWS STANDARDS. TOUCH UP ALL WELDS OF GALVANIZED STEEL WITH A ZINC-RICH PRIMER, USE E70 ELECTRODES FOR CARBONSTEEL AND ER-316L 
RODS FOR STAINLESS STEEL.

1. ALL CONCRETE SLABS AND FOOTINGS SHALL BEAR ON FIRM, COMPACTED, UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL.  
ALL SOIL BELOW FOOTINGS AND SLABS SHALL BE COMPACTED TO 90% MINIMUM IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
ASTM D1557.  DESIGN SOIL BEARING PRESSURE = 1500 PSF (ASSUMED).  THE ARCHITECT AND/OR 
ENGINEER ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR SOIL CONDITIONS.
NOTE: IT SHALL BE THE OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITY TO VERIFY THE SOIL BEARING PRESSURE AND TO 
DETERMINE WHETHER UNSUITABLE SOIL CONDITIONS (I.E. EXPANSIVE OR COLLAPSIBLE SOILS, LOOSE FILL, 
ETC.) EXIST.

2. TYPICAL CONCRETE SLABS ON GRADE SHALL BE 4" THICK REINFORCED WITH 6X6-10/10 
ELECTRICALLY WELDED WIRE MESH (WWM) IN CENTER OF SLAB OVER 2" OF SAND FILL OVER 6 MIL. 
POLY VAPOR BARRIER OVER TERMITE TREATED COMPACTED SUBGRADE.

3. UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS, EXTERIOR FOOTINGS SHALL BEAR 1'-0" MIN. BELOW 
FINISHED GRADE FOR SINGLE STORY STRUCTURES AND 1'-6" BELOW FINISHED GRADE FOR TWO STORY 
STRUCTURES.

4. PRIOR TO THE PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE, SOIL SHALL BE TREATED AGAINST SUBTERRANEAN 
TERMITES BY A PEST CONTROL OPERATOR LICENSED BY THE HAWAII STATE PEST CONTROL BOARD.

5. REINFORCING STEEL SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM A615, GRADE 60.  UNLESS OTHERWISE SHOWN, 
REINFORCING STEEL SHOWN  AS CONTINUOUS (CONT.) SHALL BE LAPPED 40 DIAMETERS BUT NOT LESS 
THAN 20" AT ALL SPLICES AND INTERSECTIONS IN CONCRETE AND 48 DIAMETERS IN MASONRY.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE PROPER PLACEMENT OF ALL OPENINGS, SLEEVES, CURBS, 
CONDUITS, BOLTS, INSERTS, ETC., PRIOR TO THE PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL EMBEDDED ITEMS INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO BOLTS, 
ANGLES, STRAPS PLATES, BRACKETS, CONNECTORS, ETC. AS NECESSARY FOR COMPLETE INSTALLATION 
AND CONNECTION OF ALL BUILDING MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, AND COMPONENTS.  ALL EXPOSED METALS 
SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED OR STAINLESS STEEL.  CONFIRM AND VERIFY WITH OWNER.

8. ANCHOR BOLTS: TYPICAL ANCHOR BOLTS AT CONTINUOUS FOOTINGS AND WALLS SHALL BE 
INSTALLED 48" MINIMUM ON CENTER (O.C.), 12" MINIMUM FROM BEGINNING AND ENDS OF WALLS WITH 7" 
MINIMUM EMBEDMENT INTO CONCRETE.  TYPICAL ANCHOR BOLTS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED AND 
CONFORM TO ASTM A36 OR ASTM A307, GRADE A.  EXPANSION BOLTS IN CONCRETE SHALL BE "KWIK 
BOLT-11" PER ICBO REPORT NO. ER-4627 OR EQUAL.  EPOXY BOLTS IN CONCRETE, AND CMU SHALL BE 
THREADED ROD INSTALLED WITH "SET" ADHESIVE SYSTEM BY SIMPSON STRONG-TIE PER ICBO CODE 
REPORT NO ER-5279 FOR CONCRETE AND ER-0265 FOR CMU.

9. CLEAR COVER OF CONCRETE OVER OUTER REINFORCING BARS AND WWM SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS 
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED:
   A. CONCRETE POURED DIRECTLY AGAINST EARTH: 3" CLEAR TO REINFORCEMENT
   B. CONCRETE EXPOSED TO EARTH OR WEATHER WHICH HAS
      BEEN POURED DIRECTLY AGAINST WOOD FORMS: 2" CLEAR FOR ALL BARS UNLESS   
                                                                                                       DETAILED ORSPECIFIED 
OTHERWISE.

   C. SLAB ON GRADE:                       1-1/2" CLEAR AT TOP
   D. SUSPENDED SLAB:                       CENTER OF SLAB

10. CONCRETE SHALL BE REGULAR WEIGHT HARD ROCK TYPE CONFORMING TO ACI318 AND SHALL 
DEVELOP 3000 PSI (COMMERCIAL) AT 28 DAYS.  ALL CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM OF 4.5 SACKS 
CEMENT PER CUBIC YARDS.

11. CONCRETE MASONRY UNITS (CMU) SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C90.

12. MORTAR MIX SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C270, TYPE S, AND ATTAIN A COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 
1800 PSI AT 28 DAYS.

13. GROUT SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C476, AND ATTAIN A COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 2000 PSI AT 28 
DAYS.  GROUT ALL CELLS IN 4' MAXIMUM LIFTS.  GROUT ALL CELLS SOLID UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

14. INSTALL REINFORCEMENT IN CMU AS FOLLOWS: #4 BARS VERTICAL CENTER TO CENTER AS SPECIFIED 
ON THE DRAWINGS AND DETAILS, #4 BAR VERTICAL AT CORNERS, EACH SIDE OF OPENINGS, AND ENDS 
OF WALLS.  INSTALL #4 BARS HORIZONTAL IN KNOCK-OUT BLOCK BOND BEAMS 48" O.C. AND AT TOP OF 
WALLS.

15. ANY CONCRETE AND/OR MASONRY FOUNDATION WALLS RETAINING MORE THAN 4 FEET OF EARTH 
SHALL BE DESIGNED, ENGINEERED AND CONSTRUCTED AS RETAINING WALLS WITH BELOW GRADE 
WATERPROOFING.

DESIGN LOADS

ROOF LIVE LOAD = 20 PSF
ROOF DEAD LOAD = 15 PSF

ASSUMED SOIL BEARING CAPACITY = 1,500 PSF

WIND SPEED = 105 MPH

CONCRETE AND MASONRY                                                                  CARPENTRY                                                                                      
DESIGN CRITERIA:

ALL HEADERS OVER FRAMED OPENINGS AT LOWER FLOOR FRAMING SHALL BE 4X12 UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS.

ALL HEADERS AT EXTERIOR PERIMETER WALLS SHALL BE 4X12 DOUGLAS FIR #1 UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS

HEADER SCHEDULE: (UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS)

SPAN  HEADER MIN. SIZE
UP TO 2'-6"                                                    4X6 DOUGLAS FIR #1
2'-7" TO 6'-0"                                                 4X8 DOUGLAS FIR #1
6'-1" TO 8'-0"                                                 4X10 DOUGLAS FIR #1
GREATER THAN 8'-0"                                       SEE DRAWINGS

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLYING WITH CHAPTER 25 APPENDIX OF THE I.B.C 2006 EDITION FOR ALL FRAMING EXECUTION, AND FOR VERIFICATION OF ALL LOCAL 
DESIGN LOADS.

2. TYPICAL WALL FRAMING: ALL WALL FRAMING TO BE 2X6 STUDS VERTICAL WITH A SINGLE 2X6 BOTTOM PLATE AND DOUBLE 2X6 TOP PLATES UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  WALL FRAMING 
MATERIAL TO  BE DOUGLAS FIR (DF) STANDARD & BETTER.  VERTICAL STUD FRAMING TO BE AT 16" O.C.  LOWER FLOOR PLUMBING WALLS AND WALLS WITH DRYER AND EXHAUST FAN DUCT 
WORK SHALL BE 2X6 FRAMING 16" O.C.  ALL WALL DIMENSIONS ARE FACE OF STUD (F.O.S.) TO FACE OF STUD (F.O.S.) UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

3. ALL DIMENSIONAL STRUCTURAL FRAMING LUMBER SHALL BE WWPA OR WCLIB STAMPED, DOUGLAS-FIR-LARCH, #2/BTR FOR 2X DIMENSIONAL LUMBER, NO.1/BTR FOR 4X, 6X AND LARGER 
POSTS AND BEAMS, STANDARD GRADE FOR STUDS, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS. ALL GLULAMS SHALL BE DOUGLAS FIR-LARCH 24F-V8 COMBINATION WITH STANDARD 
CAMBER UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWING.

4. ALL PLYWOOD SHALL BE APA RATED AND STAMPED SHEATHING WITH AN EXTERIOR OR EXPOSURE DURABILITY CLASSIFICATION.  LAY-UP PLYWOOD WITH LONG DIMENSION PERPENDICULAR TO 
SUPPORTS AND STAGGER JOINTS.  BLOCK ALL UNSUPPORTED EDGES.

         USE             THICKNESS          SPAN INDEX        EDGE NAILING       INTERMEDIATE NAILING
ROOF 5/8" 40/20 10d AT 6" O.C. 10d AT 12" O.C.
FLOOR 3/4" T&G 48/24 10d AT 6" O.C. 10d AT 10" O.C.
WALL 1/2" 32/16 8d AT 6" O.C. 8d AT 12" O.C. 

5. ALL FRAMING LUMBER AND PLYWOOD SHALL BE PRESSURE-PRESERVATIVE TREATED WITH "HI-BOR SBX" OR EQUAL.

6. ALL NAIL SPACING NOT NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS AND DETAILS SHALL COMPLY WITH TABLE 2304.9.1 OF THE I.B.C.  ALL NAILS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED "SMOOTH BOX" COMMON WIRE 
NAILS.  VERIFY AND CONFIRM THE USE OF STAINLESS STEEL NAILS WITH THE OWNER FOR USE AT EXTERIOR LOCATIONS AND SPECIAL CONDITIONS.  

7. THE SIZE AND NUMBER OF NAILS IN JOIST HANGERS, STRAPS, BRACKETS, MISCELLANEOUS FRAMING ANCHORS, ETC. SHALL BE ACCORDING TO THE MANUFACTURER'S LATEST CATALOG.

8. ALL CONNECTOR REFERENCES ARE FROM THE "SIMPSON STRONG-TIE COMPANY INC." WOOD CONSTRUCTION CONNECTORS CATALOG, LATEST PRINTING.  APPROVED EQUALS SHALL HAVE 
MATCHING ICBO RATING.

9. ALL BOLTS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED AND CONFORM TO ASTM A307. ALL LAG SCREWS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED.  VERIFY AND CONFIRM THE USE OF STAINLESS STEEL BOLTS 
AND LAG SCREWS WITH THE OWNER FOR USE AT EXTERIOR LOCATIONS AND SPECIAL CONDITIONS. STAINLESS STEEL BOLTS AND LAG SCREWS SHALL BE TYPE 3 04.  BOLT HOLES SHALL BE 1/16" 
LARGER THAN THE BOLT DIAMETER.  USE STANDARD CUT WASHERS UNDER BOLT HEADS AND NUTS.

10. FOR CLARITY, ALL ROOF, FLOOR, AND WALL OPENINGS MAY NOT BE SHOWN ON THE ARCHITECTURAL AND STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY FRAMING 
REQUIREMENTS (WHERE APPLICABLE) WITH THE PLUMBING, A.C., ELECTRICAL, AND ANY AND ALL OTHER SUBCONTRACTORS FOR EXACT SIZE, NUMBER, AND LOCATIONS OF OPENINGS FOR THE 
PROPER INSTALLATION OF DUCTING, PLUMBING, ELECTRICAL, ETC.  FRAME MEMBERS FOR PASSAGE OF PIPES AND DUCTS TO AVOID CUTTING STRUCTURAL MEMBERS.  DO NOT CUT, NOTCH OR 
BORE FRAMING MEMBERS FOR PASSAGE OF PIPES, DUCTS, CONDUITS, OR OTHER REASONS EXCEPT AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS OR AS SPECIFICALLY APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT 
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER. REINFORCE FRAMING MEMBERS WHERE DAMAGED BY CUTTING.

11. PREFABRICATED WOOD TRUSSES (IF REQUIRED) SHALL BE DESIGNED BY AN ENGINEER REGISTERED AND LICENSED IN THE 
STATE OF HAWAII FOR THE DEAD AND LIVE LOADS STATED ON THE DRAWINGS.  ADDITIONAL TRUSSES SHALL BE SUPPLIED AS REQUIRED TO SUPPORT MECHANICAL OR SPECIAL EQUIPMENT.  SHOP 
DRAWINGS AND CALCULATIONS STAMPED BY THE TRUSS DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE SUBMITTED FIRST TO THE ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL AND SECOND TO THE COUNTY 
OF KAUAI DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS BUILDING DIVISION.

12. FURNISH AND INSTALL ALL NECESSARY FLASHINGS, FLASHINGS TAPES, SEALANTS, CAULKING, ETC. AND SEAL ALL JOINTS SUCH AS PERIMETER OF DOORS AND WINDOW FRAMES, JOINTS BETWEEN 
DISSIMILAR MATERIALS, ETC. TO INSURE THAT JOINTS AND CONNECTIONS ARE COMPLETELY WATERTIGHT AND WEATHERTIGHT.
13. FLOOR ELEVATION LINES: FLOOR LINE ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS REFER TO TOP OF CONCRETE SLAB OR TOP OF PLYWOOD SUBFLOOR.

INSTALLATION AND WORKMANSHIP

14. PRIOR TO PERFORMING ROUGH CARPENTRY WORK, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY INSPECT THE INSTALLED WORK OF OTHER TRADES AND VERIFY THAT ALL SUCH WORK HAS BEEN SO 
INSTALLED AS TO ALLOW ROUGH CARPENTRY TO PRODUCE SURFACES TO THE REQUIRED DESIGN.

15. ALL ROUGH CARPENTRY SHALL PRODUCE JOINTS TRUE, TIGHT AND WELL NAILED WITH ALL MEMBERS ASSEMBLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DRAWINGS AND WITH ALL PERTINENT REGULATIONS.  
CAREFULLY  LAY OUT, CUT, AND FIT ALL FRAMING AND INSTALL PLUMB, LEVEL AND SQUARE.

16. CAREFULLY SELECT ALL STRUCTURAL MEMBERS.  SELECT INDIVIDUAL PIECES  SO THAT KNOTS AND OBVIOUS DEFECTS WILL NOT INTERFERE WITH MAKING PROPER  CONNECTIONS.  LUMBER MAY BE 
REJECTED WHETHER OR NOT IT HAS BEEN INSTALLED, FOR EXCESSIVE WARP, TWIST, BOW, OR CROOK.  LUMBER MAY ALSO BE REJECTED FOR PRESENCE OF MILDEW, FUNGUS, OR MOLD AS WELL AS FOR 
IMPROPER CUTTING OR FITTING.  CUT OUT AND DISCARD ALL DEFECTS WHICH RENDER A PIECE UNABLE TO SERVE ITS INTENDED FUNCTION.

17. IN ADDITION TO FRAMING OPERATIONS NORMAL TO THE FABRICATION AND ERECTION OF THE STRUCTURE AND ITS COMPONENT PARTS, INSTALL ALL SUPPLEMENTARY FRAMING, BLOCKING, AND 
BRACING AND BACKING REQUIRED TO SUPPORT FIXTURES, EQUIPMENT SERVICES, HEAVY TRIM, GRAB BARS, TOILET ACCESSORIES, FURNISHINGS, TERMINATIONS IN GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES, OR 
SIMILAR CONSTRUCTION FOR THE WORK OF OTHER TRADES.  PROVIDE FLUSH BACKING AND CONTINUOUS BLOCKING FOR INSTALLATION OF CABINETS, BATH ACCESSORIES, DOOR STOPS, WARDROBE 
SHELVES AND POLES, AND ANY AND ALL OTHER ITEMS TO BE INSTALLED WITH THE FINISH CARPENTRY AND/OR OTHER TRADES.  BACKING AND BLOCKING FOR CABINETS SHALL BE CONTINUOUS AT THE 
TOP OF ALL BASE CABINETS AND AT THE TOP AND BOTTOM OF ALL WALL CABINETS.

18. INSTALL ALL COLUMNS STRAIGHT AND PLUMB WITH A STRAIGHT EDGE LEVEL.

19. INSTALL ALL HORIZONTAL AND  SLOPED MEMBERS, HORIZONTAL BEAMS, JOISTS, BLOCKING CONTINUOUS WITH CROWN EDGE UP. ANCHOR WITH  BOLTS AND NAILS OR SIMPSON HARDWARE OR AS 
INDICATED ON DRAWINGS. 

20. MAKE ALL BEARINGS FULL UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON DRAWINGS.  FINISH ALL BEARING SURFACES ON WHICH STRUCTURAL MEMBERS ARE TO REST SO AS TO GIVE SURE AND EVEN SUPPORT.  
WHERE FRAMING MEMBERS SLOPE, CUT OR NOTCH THE ENDS AS REQUIRED TO GIVE UNIFORM BEARING SURFACE.

21. EXTERIOR STUD WALLS (UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE ON ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS, STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS, AND NOTES.):  2X4 WOOD STUDS @ 16" O.C..  INSTALL SINGLE BOTTOM PLATE AND 
DOUBLE TOP PLATE.  NAIL STUDS TO PLATE WITH (2) 16D NAILS.  STAGGER JOINTS IN DOUBLE TOP PLATE MINIMUM 48 INCHES AND FACE NAIL DOUBLE PLATE TOGETHER WITH 16D NAILS STAGGERED AT 
12" O.C. AT CORNERS AND INTERSECTIONS LAP AND INTERLOCK PLATES AND NAIL TOGETHER PLATE INTERSECTION WITH (2) 16D NAILS.  FACE NAIL BOTTOM PLATE TO FRAMING BELOW OR TO MUD SILL 
WITH 16D NAILS STAGGERED AT 12" O.C.  BOLT MUD SILL TO CONCRETE FOUNDATIONS OR THICKENED SLABS WITH 1/2" OR 5/8" X 10" ANCHOR BOLTS AT 48 " O.C.  ALL COLUMNS MINIMUM OF  (3) STUDS.  
NAIL MULTIPLE STUD POSTS AND MULTIPLE JOISTS OR HEADERS WITH 16D NAILS @ 12" O.C. STAGGERED.  PROVIDE FULL BLOCKING FOR COLUMNS THROUGH FLOOR JOIST TO SUPPORTS BELOW.  WHERE 
POSSIBLE ALIGN STUDS WITH JOIST OR RAFTER ABOVE.  VERIFY WITH STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES.

22. INTERIOR STUD WALLS (UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES): 2X4 WOOD STUDS @ 16" O.C. INSTALLATION AND NAILING SAME AS FOR EXTERIOR STUD WALLS ABOVE.

23. FLOOR FRAMING: (UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES) 
DOUBLE JOISTS UNDER PARALLELING PARTITIONS.  NAIL JOISTS ENDS TO ALL SUPPORTING WALL PLATES OR BEAMS WITH (2) 16D NAILS PER JOIST.  INSTALL CROSS BRIDGING OR SOLID BLOCKING AT 
MID SPAN OF JOISTS EXCEEDING 10 FOOT CLEAR SPAN.  SOLID BLOCK OVER BEARING WALLS.

24. PLYWOOD SUBFLOOR: (UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS AND NOTES):  APPLY A CONTINUOUS BEAD OF ADHESIVE TO FLOOR FRAMING MEMBERS AND NAIL SHEATHING 
PERPENDICULAR TO FLOOR FRAMING.  STAGGER ALL JOINTS.  USE ONLY ADHESIVES APPROVED BY THE AMERICAN PLYWOOD ASSOCIATION (APA).

25. BLOCKING: PROVIDE CONTINUOUS NOMINAL 2 INCH SOLID WOOD BLOCKING OVER BEARING WALL PLATES AND BEAMS. BLOCKING TO BE FULL DEPTH OF ROOF, CEILING OR FLOOR FRAMING.  
PROVIDE DRILLED BLOCKING AT ROOF FOR CONTINUOUS VENTILATION.  NAIL BLOCKING TO PLATE OR BEAM WITH (2) 16D NAILS AND NAIL BLOCKING TO JOIST WITH (2) 16D EACH SIDE, UNLESS NOTED 
OTHERWISE IN STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS.

26. FIRE BLOCKING: AT WALLS EXCEEDING 10 FEET IN HEIGHT PROVIDE NOMINAL 2 INCH SOLID WOOD BLOCKING FULL WIDTH OF STUD.  AT SOFFITS AND DROPPED CEILINGS AT WALLS EXCEEDING 10 
FEET IN HEIGHT PROVIDE NOMINAL 2 INCH BLOCKING FULL WIDTH OF STUD.

27. ROUGH HARDWARE: SIMPSON STRONG-TIE OR EQUAL ICBO APPROVED. PROVIDE AND INSTALL ALL NECESSARY HARDWARE REQUIRED FOR STRENGTH AND RIGIDITY.  ALL ROUGH FRAMING 
HARDWARE REQUIRED MAY NOT BE CALLED OUT ON DRAWINGS. ALL ROUGH FRAMING HARDWARE AND FASTENERS SHALL BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED AND/OR CORROSION RESISTANT.  VERIFY AND 
CONFIRM THE USE OF STAINLESS STEEL HARDWARE AND FASTENERS WITH THE OWNER FOR USE AT EXTERIOR LOCATIONS AND SPECIAL CONDITIONS. 

28. VENTING: VENT ALL EXTERIOR ENCLOSED CRAWL SPACES, SOFFITS, RAILINGS, ATTIC SPACES, AND ABOVE ROOF INSULATION.  FOUNDATION AREAS UNDER FLOORS SHALL HAVE 1 SQUARE FOOT OF 
VENTILATION FOR EACH 150 SQUARE FEET OF UNDER FLOOR AREA.  IF VENTING IS NOT SHOWN ON DRAWINGS CONSULT WITH ARCHITECT AND/OR ENGINEER.

29. PLYWOOD ROOF SHEATHING:  5/8" THICK PRESSURE TREATED SAW-TEXTURED PLYWOOD SIDING OR SMOOTH AC PLYWOOD AT EXPOSED EAVES UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS.  5/8" 
THICK PRESSURE TREATED CDX PLYWOOD TYPICAL AT ALL AREAS NOT EXPOSED.   

30. SIDING:  AS SHOWN AND INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.  INSTALL ALL EXTERIOR SIDING AND/OR SHEATHING OVER "TYVEK HOUSEWRAP" VAPOR BARRIER OR APPROVED EQUAL.

31. EXTERIOR WOODWORK: INSTALL ALL RUNNING TRIM AS LONG AS POSSIBLE.  NAILED TRIM TO BE SECURELY FASTENED TO SOLID BACKING WITH PROPER FASTENERS.  SET NAIL HEADS THAT ARE TO BE 
FILLED.  SIDE BLIND NAIL ALL T&G BOARDS.  JOINTS IN VERTICAL TRIM TO BE AVOIDED IF POSSIBLE.  MITER CUT JOINTS IN VERTICAL TRIM WITH SLOPE OF CUT ANGLED UP FROM FACE TO PREVENT 
WATER FROM RUNNING INTO JOINT.  ALL JOINTS ARE TO BE TIGHT AND FLUSH.  MITER CUT OUTSIDE CORNER AND INTERMEDIATE JOINTS IN HORIZONTAL TRIM, BUTT JOINTS AT INSIDE CORNERS.  CANT / 
BEVEL CUT TOP OF RAILINGS, POST CABS, AND OTHER HORIZONTAL SURFACES TO PREVENT WATER PONDING.

32. SAW TEXTURED AND ROUGH SAWN WOOD:  LIGHTLY SAND ALL SAW TEXTURED AND ROUGH SAWN WOOD SURFACES.  REMOVE ALL SPLINTERS, BURRS, ETC. LEAVING A NEAT ARCHITECTURAL SURFACE 
READY FOR FINISH.

33. GUARDRAILS: INSTALL GUARDRAILS PER CODE REQUIREMENTS AT OPEN STAIRS, AND UNCLOSED FLOOR AND ROOF OPENINGS, 36" MINIMUM HEIGHT.  INSTALL GUARDRAILS AT OPENINGS IN EXTERIOR 
WALLS, 30" TO 36" IN HEIGHT.  INTERMEDIATE VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL RAILS AND ORNAMENTAL PATTERNS IN GUARDRAILS SHALL BE SPACED SO NO OBJECT 4" IN DIAMETER CAN PASS THROUGH.  
OPENINGS MUST BE LESS THAN 4".

34. STAIR HANDRAILS:  THE TOP OF HANDRAILS SHALL BE PLACED NOT LESS THAN 34" NOR MORE THAN 38" IN A PLUMB LINE ABOVE THE NOSING OF TREADS.  THE HANDGRIP PORTION SHALL NOT BE 
LESS THAN 1-1/4" NOR MORE THAN 2" AND THE SHAPE SHALL PROVIDE AN EQUIVALENT SMOOTH GRIPPING SURFACE WITH NO SHARP CORNERS.  PROVIDE 1-1/2" MINIMUM CLEARANCE BETWEEN WALL AND 
HANDRAIL.  INTERMEDIATE VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL RAILS AND ORNAMENTAL PATTERNS IN GUARDRAILS SHALL BE SPACED SO NO OBJECT 4" IN DIAMETER CAN PASS THROUGH.  OPENINGS MUST BE 
LESS THAN 4".  THE TRIANGULAR OPENINGS FORMED BY THE RISER, TREAD, AND BOTTOM ELEMENT OF THE GUARDRAIL AT THE OPENING SIDE OF A STAIRWAY MAY BE OF SUCH SIZE THAT A SPHERE OF 
6-1/2" IN DIAMETER CANNOT PASS THROUGH.  ( LESS THAN 6-1/2" IN BETWEEN).  EXTERIOR HANDRAILS SHALL BE CONTINUOUS FOR THE FULL LENGTH OF THE STAIRS AND, AT LEAST ONE HANDRAIL SHALL 
EXTEND IN THE DIRECTION OF THE STAIR RUN NOT LESS THAN SIX (6) INCHES BEYOND THE TOP AND BOTTOM RISERS.

35. STAIRWAYS:  STAIRS SHALL HAVE 8" MAXIMUM RISERS (RISE) AND 9" MINIMUM TREADS (RUN).  HEAD CLEARANCE IN A PLUMB LINE FROM THE TREAD NOSING SHALL BE 6'-8" MINIMUM.  FINISHED 
STAIRWAY WIDTH SHALL BE 30" MINIMUM.  HANDRAIL PROJECTION INTO THE REQUIRED MINIMUM WIDTH SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 3-1/2".

36. STAIR FRAMING:  UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS TYPICAL STAIR FRAMING SHALL BE WITH 3-2X12 STAIR STRINGERS.  WHERE STRINGERS ATTACH TO A SIDE WALL, ATTACH A 1X4 TO 
THE BOTTOM SIDE OF THE STRINGER TO ACT AS A SPACER BETWEEN THE STRINGER AND THE WALL TO ALLOW FOR INSTALLATION OF WALL BOARD.  RISERS TO BE 3/4" THICK PLYWOOD.  TREADS TO BE 
3/4" PLYWOOD OR 2X12.  GLUE AND SCREW RISERS AND TREADS TO EACH OTHER AND TO THE STAIR STRINGERS.

37. PROVIDE FOUNDATION AND ATTIC VENTILATION AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL BUILDING CODE.

1. WINDOW AND DOOR SIZES SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS ARE NOMINAL SIZES
.  VERIFY NET SIZES OF ROUGH OPENINGS AND NET SIZES OF WINDOWS AND 
DOORS WITH THE MANUFACTURER AND SUPPLIER.

2. ALL GLASS (EXCEPT AT BATHROOMS) SHALL BE CLEAR UNLESS OTHERWISE 
NOTED AS OBSCURE.  GLASS AT BATHROOMS SHALL BE OBSCURE UNLESS 
NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. AFTER INSTALLING THE WINDOWS AND EXTERIOR DOORS, AND AFTER 
INSTALLING THE EXTERIOR VAPOR BARRIER ("TYVEK HOUSEWRAP" OR 
APPROVED EQUAL), INSTALL "WINDOW WRAP" (OR EQUAL) FLASHING TAPE 
AROUND THE PERIMETERS OF WINDOW AND EXTERIOR DOOR FRAMES TO 
CREATE A WATERPROOF INSTALLATION PRIOR TO THE INSTALLATION OF 
THE EXTERIOR WALL SIDING AND TRIMS AND/OR EXTERIOR WALL FINISHES. 
 "WINDOW WRAP" FLASHING TAPE MANUFACTURED BY MFM BUILDING PRODUCTS 
CORP., COSHOCTON, OHIO.

4. WINDOWS ABOVE THE FIRST FLOOR, AND/OR WINDOWS ON THE FIRST FLOOR
 WITH A FLOOR ELEVATION HIGHER THAN 30" ABOVE FINISH GRADE, WHICH HAVE A SILL HEIGHT LESS THAN 30" ABOVE THE FINISH FLOOR SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH A GUARDRAIL OR OTHER 
BARRIER 30" TO 36" IN HEIGHT TO PREVENT A PERSON FROM FALLING THROUGH THE OPENING.

5. DOORS NOT DIMENSIONALLY LOCATED SHALL BE 3" (2-2X4'S) FROM CORNER/FACE OF STUD.  IN TIGHT SITUATIONS, CENTER ROUGH OPENINGS BETWEEN WALLS AS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS.

6. ALL GLASS IN DOORS TO BE SAFETY GLASS (LABELED TEMPERED AND/OR LAMINATED).

7. FOR EMERGENCY AND ESCAPE ROUTE, EVERY SLEEPING ROOM SHALL HAVE AN EXTERIOR DOOR OR AT LEAST ONE WINDOW WITH A MINIMUM CLEAR NET OPENING OF 5.7 SQ. FT. WITH A 
MINIMUM CLEAR WIDTH DIMENSION OF 20 INCHES, AND A CLEAR HEIGHT DIMENSION OF 24 INCHES, A MAXIMUM SILL HEIGHT OF 44 INCHES ABOVE THE FINISH FLOOR.

8. SEE PLANS FOR:
   A. MAXIMUM GLAZING AREA
   B. GLAZING MANUFACTURER AND MODEL NUMBERS
   C. DOOR AND WINDOW TYPES AND SIZES

9. SAFETY GLAZING SHALL BE IN ALL LOCATIONS PER UNIFORM BUILDING CODE INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:
   A. INGRESS AND EGRESS DOORS
   B. SLIDING GLASS DOORS AND SWINGING GLASS DOORS
   C. SHOWER AND BATHTUB ENCLOSURES
   D. GLAZING WITH THE EDGE WITHIN A 24" RADIUS  ARC OF THE VERTICAL EDGE OF A DOOR IN THE CLOSED POSITION
      AND THE BOTTOM EDGE IS LESS THAN 60" ABOVE THE WALKING SURFACE.
   E. GLAZING GREATER THAN 9 SQUARE FEET THAT IS LESS THAN 18" ABOVE THE FINISHED FLOOR.
   F. GLAZING IN ALL GUARD RAILS.

10. SKYLIGHTS: SCREENS NEED NOT BE PROVIDED WITHIN INDIVIDUAL DWELLING UNITS WHEN FULLY TEMPERED GLASS IS USED AS SINGLE GLAZING OR IN BOTH PANES OF AN INSULATING 
GLASS UNIT WHEN ALL THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE MET:
    A. THE AREA OF EACH PANE (SINGLE GLASS) OR UNIT (INSULATING GLASS) SHALL NOT EXCEED 16 SQUARE FEET.
    B. THE HIGHEST POINT OF THE GLASS SHALL NOT BE MORE THAN 12 FEET ABOVE ANY WALKING SURFACE OR OTHER 
       ACCESSIBLE AREA.
    C. THE NOMINAL THICKNESS OF EACH PANE SHALL NOT ESCEED 3/16 INCH.
SKYLIGHTS NOT MEETING THE ABOVE CONDITIONS SHALL BE INSTALLED ACCORDING TO ALL OTHER REQUIREMENTS OF THE UNIFORM BUILDING CODE AS REQUIRED BY THE COUNTY OF KAUAI, 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, BUILDING DIVISION.

DOORS, WINDOWS, SKYLIGHTS                                    .                        

 MECHANICAL                                                                                     
1. RANGE HOODS, DRYERS, AND BATHROOMS, UTILITY ROOMS, AND LAUNDRY ROOMS WITHOUT NATURAL VENTILATION (WINDOWS) SHALL BE VENTED TO THE OUTSIDE ATMOSPHERE.  
SERVICE ROOM (BATHROOMS, LAUNDRY ROOMS, UTILITY ROOMS) EXHAUST VENTILATION FANS SHALL BE CAPABLE OF 5 AIR EXCHANGES (ROOM VOLUME IN CUBIC FEET) PER HOUR AND 
SHALL BE VENTED DIRECTLY TO THE OUTSIDE.  THE POINT OF DISCHARGE OF EXHAUST AIR TO THE OUTSIDE SHALL BE AT LEAST 3 FEET FROM ANY OPENING INTO THE BUILDING.

2. IF THE WATER HEATER IS A GAS WATER HEATER, PROVIDE VENTING TO THE EXTERIOR ACCORDING TO THE UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE.

3. HEATING AND COOLING APPLIANCES (INCLUDING GAS WATER HEATERS) WHICH GENERATE A GLOW, SPARK, OR FLAME CAPABLE OF IGNITING FLAMMABLE VAPORS SHALL BE INSTALLED 
WITH THE PILOTE AND BURNERS OR HEATING ELEMENTS AND SWITCHES AT LEAST 18" ABOVE THE FLOOR SURFACE IN THE ROOM THEY ARE INSTALLED.

4. CLEAR WIDTH OF ALL WATER CLOSET LOCATIONS SHALL BE 30" MINIMUM.

5. WHEN A WATER HEATER IS LOCATED IN AN ATTIC OR FURRED SPACE WHERE DAMAGE MAY REULT FROM A LEAKING WATER HEATER, A WATERTIGHT PAN OF CORROSION RESISTANT 
MATERIALS SHALL BE INSTALLED BENEATH THE WATER HEATER WITH A MINIMUM THREE-QUARTER (3/4) INCH (19.1 MM) DIAMETER DRAIN TO AN APPROVED LOCATION.

6. WATER HEATERS CONTAINING  A STORAGE TANK FOR HOT WATER SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH AN APPROVED, ADEQUATELY SIZED COMBINATION PRESSURE AND TEMPERATURE RELIEF 
VALVE.  EACH PRESSURE RELIEF VALVE SHALL BE AN APPROVED AUTOMATIC TYPE WITH DRAIN, AND EACH SUCH RELIEF VALVE SHALL BE SET AT A PRESSURE OF NOT MORE THAN ONE 
HUNDRED FIFTY (150) POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH (1035 KPA). NO SHUTOFF VALVE SHALL BE INSTALLED BETWEEN THE RELIEF VALVE AND THE SYSTEMOR IN THE DRAIN LINE.  DRAINS 
SHALL NOT BE SMALLER THAN THE RELIF VALVE OUTLET AND SHAL BE HARD DRAWN COPPER PIPING AND FITTINGS OR OTHER APPROVED MATERIAL AND SHALL EXTEND FROM THE 
VALVE TO THE OUTSIDE OF THE BUILDING WITH THE END OF THE PIPE NOT MORE THAN TWO (2) FEET (610 MM) NOR LESS THAN SIX (6) INCHES (152 MM) ABOVE THE GROUND AND POINTING 
DOWN.

ELECTRICAL                                                                                      

1.  ALL ELECTRICAL WORK SHALL BE PER THE LOCAL BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:

2. WALL SWITCH CONTROLLED LIGHTING OUTLETS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN HABITABLE ROOMS, BATHROOMS, HALLWAYS, STAIRWAYS, ATTACHED GARAGES, AND OUTDOOR DOORWAYS AS 
REQUIRED BY CODE.

3. LIGHTING OUTLETS SHALL BE INSTALLED ATTICS, UNDER-FLOOR SPACES, UTILITY ROOMS, STORAGE, AND BASEMENTS AS REQUIRED BY CODE.

4. WALL RECEPTACLES SHALL BE INSTALLED 6 FEET FROM OPENINGS AND EVERY 12 FEET ALONG WALLS AT KITCHEN, FAMILY ROOM, DINING ROOM, BREAKFAST ROOM, LIVING ROOM, PARLOR, 
LIBRARY, DEN, RUN ROOM, BEDROOM, REC ROOM, AND OTHERS AS REQUIRED BY CODE.

5. INSTALL GFI COUNTERTOP RECEPTACLES WITHIN 6' OF KITCHEN SINK AS REQUIRED BY CODE.

6. ALL 120 VOLT, SINGLE PHASE, 15 & 20 AMPERE RECEPTACLES IN BATHROOMS, GARAGES, AND OUTDOORS SHALL HAVE GROUND FAULT INTERUPTER PROTECTION FOR PERSONEL.

7. PROVIDE AN ENCLOSURE WITH LIGHT FOR WATER HEATER.

8. SERVICES: ALL BUILDINGS OR STRUCTURES SHALL BE SUPPLIED BY ONLY ONE SERVICE.  MULTIPLE SERVICES MAY BE ALLOWED, PROVIDED ALL REQUIREMENTS ARE CONFORMED TO THE 
NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE.

9. UL APPROVED SMOKE DETECTORS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN EACH SLEEPING ROOM AND AT A POINT CENTRALLY LOCATED IN THE HALLWAY OR AREA GIVING ACCESS TO EACH SEPARATE 
SLEEPING AREA.  SMOKE DETECTORS SHALL RECEIVE THEIR PRIMARY POWER FROM THE BUILDING WIRING AND SHALL BE EQUIPPED WITH A BATTERY BACKUP.  THEY SHALL SOUND AN ALARM 
AUDIBLE IN ALL SLEEPING AREAS OF THE DWELLING UNIT IN WHICH THEY ARE LOCATED.

10. NOTES FOR LIGHT FIXTURES IN CLOTHES CLOSETS
LOCATION: A FIXTURE IN A CLOTHES CLOSET SHALL BE PERMITTED TO BE INSTALLED: (1): ON A WALL ABOVE THE CLOSET DOOR, PROVIDED THE CLEARANCE BETWEEN THE FIXTURE AND A 
STORAGE AREA WHERE COMBUSTABLE MATERIAL MAY BE STORED WITHIN THE CLOSET IS NOT LESS THAN 18 INCHES OR (2): ON THE CEILING OVER AN AREA WHICH IS UNOBSTRUCTED TO THE 
FLOOR, MAINTAINING AN 18-INCH CLEARANCE HORIZONTALLY BETWEEN THE FIXTURE AND A STORAGE AREA WHERE COMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL MAY BE STORED WITHIN THE CLOSET.
A FLUSH RECESSED FIXTURE WITH A SOLID LENS OR A CEILING MOUNTED FLUORESCENT FIXTURE SHALL BE PERMITTED TO BE INSTALLED PROVIDED THERE IS A 6-INCH CLEARANCE, HORIZONTALLY, 
BETWEEN THE FIXTURE AND THE STORGE AREA.
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From: Romio Idica
To: Grace Wolff
Cc: Kimi Yuen
Subject: RE: Hā‘ena Comfort Station - Shoreline Setback Determination Submittal
Date: Wednesday, November 23, 2022 10:13:33 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Aloha Grace,
 
The proposed Hā‘ena Comfort station is outside of the 500 foot applicability of the Kaua‘i’s County
Shoreline Ordinance Per sec 8-27-1.  

 

Sec. 8-27.1 Applicability.

This Article shall be applicable to all lands within the County of Kaua‘i where structures and/or
prohibited activities are proposed within five hundred (500) feet of the shoreline.
The site plan shows the development at 680 feet or more away from evidenced shoreline.
 
Please call me with any questions that you may have.
 
 
Mahalo,
 
Romio Idica, CZM Planner
The County of Kaua’i, Department of Planning
4444 Rice Street, Suite A473
Lihue, Kauai 96766
(808) 241-4056
https://www.kauai.gov/Planning
 

       
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This message is covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, Title 18, United
States Code, §§ 2510-2521. This e-mail and any attached files are deemed privileged and confidential, and are intended solely
for the use of the individual(s) or entity to whom this e-mail is addressed. If you are not one of the named recipient(s) or
believe that you have received this message in error, please delete this e-mail and any attached files from all locations in
your computer, server, network, etc., and notify the sender IMMEDIATELY at ridica@kauai.gov. Any other use, re-creation,
dissemination, forwarding or copying of this e-mail and any attached files is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful.
Receipt by anyone other than the named recipient(s) is not a waiver of any attorney-client, work product, or other applicable
privilege. Nothing in this message is intended to constitute an Electronic signature for purposes of the Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act (UETA) or the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act ("E-Sign") unless a specific

mailto:ridica@kauai.gov
mailto:gwolff@pbrhawaii.com
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https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.kauai.gov%2fPlanning&c=E,1,O3E65ComuK7evXRXW-GiJLhn6uJJyaiMrteQUW9Xvzu19Av-QuzPn9-LGnPwygHXpamCt7w4P9zohYXUlLKdqGLTNGHH1wTK0tliv4gmzl6dfxMDtO5Zfxs,&typo=1
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 Abbrevia�ons and Glossary of Hawaiian Terms 

 Abbrevia�ons 

 Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum  BPBM 
 Board of Land and Natural Resources  BLNR 
 Department of Accoun�ng and General 
 Services 

 DAGS 

 Environmental Assessment  EA 
 Kauaʻi Historic Society  KHS 
 Na�onal Wildlife Refuge  NWR 
 Hāʻena State Park  HSP 
 Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana  HMoM or the Hui 
 Land Commission Award  LCA or LCAw 
 Gallons per day  gpd 
 Na�onal Register of Historic Places  NRHP 
 Na�ve Register  NR 
 Na�ve Tes�mony  NT 
 Register Map  RM 
 State Park(s)  SP 
 Department of Land and Natural Resources  DLNR 
 State Historic Preserva�on Division  SHPD 
 United States Geological Survey  USGS 
 University of Hawaiʻi  UH 
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 Glossary of Hawaiian Terms 

 ‘āina  land 
 ahupuaʻa  land division 
 aikāne  friend, companion 
 akua  god, deity 
 aliʻi  royal or chiefly person(s) 

 hālau 
 school, learning-place, tradi�onal 
 structure 

 heʻe  octopus 
 heiau  altar, place of worship 
 honohono  a creeping weed, Commelina diffusa 
 hui  group, collec�ve, organiza�on 
 hula  tradi�onal dance 
 ̒āina momona  vibrant, verdant, abundant land 
 ̒auwai  irriga�on ditch 
 ̒awa  Piper methys�cum 
 ̒ike  knowledge 
 ̒inoa ʻāina  tradi�onal hawaiian place names 
 ̒ōahi  firebranding / fireworks art 
 ̒ohana  family 
 ̒ōhia lehua  Metrosideros polymorpha 
 ̒oʻopu  goby fish 
 ̒ōlelo noʻeau  tradi�onal proverbs and sayings 
 ̒ūniki  ceremonial rites of passage 
 kalo  Colocasia  esculenta  , or taro 
 kamaʻāina  na�ve born person(s) 
 Kānaka Maoli  Na�ve Hawaiian 
 Kāne  hawaiian akua of freshwater, sunlight 
 koali  morning glory plant, Ipomoea spp. 
 kōʻele  cul�vated areas for chiefly use 
 konohiki  resource manager 
 kula  Plain, field, open country, pasture 

 kuleana 
 responsibility, lands awarded to 
 hoaʻāina and makaʻāinana 

 kumu  teacher, instructor, model 
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 Kumulipo  a Hawaiian genealogical chant 
 kūpuna  ancestors, also grandparent 

 Laka 
 hawaiian akua of the forest, hula, 
 water cycle 

 lau  leaf, specifically o�en kalo leaf 
 lauaʻe  type of fragrant fern 
 laukahi  Plantago major 
 lawaiʻa  fisher 
 lei  garland, wreath 
 limu  seaweed or algae 
 Lohiʻau  hawaiian chief from Hāʻena 
 loʻi  flooded/wetland irrigated field 
 loʻi kalo  irrigated wetland field growing kalo 
 loko  pond 
 lūʻau  kalo leaf 
 makai  to/towards the ocean 
 mauka  to/towards the mountain 
 mahiʻai  farmer 

 makaʻāinana 
 people of the land, farmers and 
 fisherpeople, commoners 

 Makana  “gi�”, also mountain in Hāʻena 
 makani  wind(s) 
 mālama  take care, care for, steward 
 malihini  visitor, tourist, outsider 
 manaʻo  thought, idea, belief, opinion 
 mele  song or poe�c text 

 menehune 
 storied class / race of Hawaiʻi 
 inhabitants 

 moʻo  lizard-like water dei�es / protectors 
 moʻokūʻauhau  genealogy 
 moʻolelo  oral history, historic tale, legend 
 moku  district 
 moloa maoli  Hawaiian duck, endemic waterbird 
 oli  chant or chant text 
 pae ʻāina  archipelago 
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 pāpala 
 Charpen�era densiflora, used in ʻōahi 
 prac�ce 

 Pele  hawaiian akua of fire, lava, volcanism 
 piko  navel, navel cord 
 pilau  ro�en, foul, s�nk 
 pilina  rela�ons, rela�onship, rela�onality 
 pono  good, proper, righteous 
 wahi kūpuna  ancestral hawaiian place 
 wahi pana  storied place 
 wai  fresh water 
 wī  short for hīhīwai 
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 Introduc�on 

 The State of Hawaiʻi and its agencies are obligated to preserve and protect the customarily and 
 tradi�onally exercised rights of Na�ve Hawaiians to the extent feasible in accordance with 
 Hawaiʻi State Cons�tu�on (Ar�cle XII, sec�on 7), State Laws (Hawaiʻi Revised Statutes Sec�on 
 1-1 and 7-1), and judicial precedent. The Court has held State agencies to a reasonable 
 standard, that they may not act without independently considering the effect of their ac�ons on 
 Hawaiian tradi�ons and prac�ces. However, to assist the State and its agencies in fulfilling its 
 cons�tu�onal obliga�on as set forth in Ar�cle XII, sec�on 7, the court has provided an analy�cal 
 framework. In accordance with Ka Paʻakai O Ka ʻĀina V. LUC (Ka Paʻakai), the analy�cal 
 framework provides the following: 

 1.  the iden�ty and scope of valued cultural, historical, or natural resources in the 
 pe��on area, including the extent to which tradi�onal and customary na�ve 
 Hawaiian rights are exercised in the pe��on area; 

 2.  the extent to which those resources, including tradi�onal and customary na�ve 
 Hawaiian rights, will be affected or impaired by the proposed ac�on  1  ; and 

 3.  the feasible ac�on, if any, to be taken by the agency to reasonably protect na�ve 
 Hawaiian rights if they are found to exist. 

 The primary purposes of this study are: to account for historical and archival informa�on; 
 iden�fy cultural resources, beliefs, and prac�ces in the Project Area; give voice to community 
 ̒ike (knowledge) and manaʻo (thoughts); and summarize community uses, resources, concerns, 
 and recommenda�ons as they relate to historic proper�es and Na�ve Hawaiian tradi�onal and 
 customary prac�ces within the Project Area; specifically, how the Proposed Ac�on might impact 
 these prac�ces, beliefs, and resources, both in the present and in the future. 

 1  Case law recognizes that Na�ve Hawaiian prac�ces  must be allowed to evolve in contemporary 
 �mes, consistent with the purpose and spirit of the original tradi�onal prac�ce, and to support 
 a living culture. 
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 Guiding Values and Principles 

 Recognizing the significance of Hāʻena State Park and its various unique of wahi pana and wahi 
 kūpuna, it is cri�cally important that we consider the range of nega�ve implica�ons that are 
 produced by lazy research methodologies, poor analysis, inappropriate behavior, clouded 
 perspec�ve, and overall flawed frame of reference. This study spanned a 2-month period from 
 the beginning of April 2023 to the middle of June 2023 and sought to produce work that is 
 engaging, pono, and prac�cal. 

 Image 1. Mount Makana, as seen from project area 

 Inspired by the work and values of the Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana (as Curator of HSP) and the 
 Hāʻena community, while conduc�ng this study the research team incorporated a set of 
 community values to guide research, analysis, behavior, perspec�ve, and overall frame of 
 reference. The guiding values and principles for this analysis and assessment are sourced from 
 the Huiʻs 2022-2025 Strategic Plan  2  and the “Makana”  model, pilina, mālama, ʻāina momona : 

 ●  Pilina  :  Rela�onships and rela�onality  – as it pertains  to the threads connec�ng people 
 and place. The important the work of the Hui and prac�ces of Hāʻena remands  pilina  as 
 a mainstay in the protec�on and perpetua�on of the park’s  cultural resources, prac�ces, 
 history, moʻolelo, mele, and the  wahi kūpuna  within  Hāʻena State Park. 

 2  h�ps://�nyurl.com/huistrat4pg 
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 ●  Mālama  :  Stewardship and care  – the Hui hosts an incredible  regimen of efforts to take 
 care of Hāʻena State Park. Their efforts to mālama the park highlights the restora�on of a 
 living landscape that ensures the empowerment of indigenous families and community, 
 place-based resource management, adap�ve management of human impacts and 
 sensi�ve areas, and promotes co-management with en��es and agencies. 

 ●  ̒Āina Momona  – The vision of a  thriving and produc�ve  Hāʻena (people and place) 
 drives the Hui’s vision of con�nued efforts. This value represents a robust realiza�on of 
 the former values (Pilina and Mālama) ensuring that the structure of the Hui is strong 
 and sustained, that the people and prac�ces & biocultural resources are abundant and 
 thriving, and the Hui is in equitable rela�onships with Hāʻena ʻohana, actors, partners, 
 and visitors. 

 With these values set as the founda�on for this important work, the study team developed and 
 followed a general scope of work and main tasks to guide this Ka Paʻakai Analysis and 
 assessment. The primary purposes of this study are:  to account for historical and archival 
 informa�on; iden�fy cultural resources, beliefs, and prac�ces in the project area; give voice to 
 community ʻike (knowledge)  and manaʻo (thoughts);  and summarize community uses, 
 resources, concerns, and recommenda�ons as they relate to historic proper�es and na�ve 
 Hawaiian tradi�onal and customary prac�ces within the project area  ; specifically,  how the 
 proposed ac�on might impact these prac�ces, beliefs, and resources, both in the present and in 
 the future  . Considering these primary purposes, the  scope of work for this study were: 

 ●  Project Management: Planning and Mee�ngs  – planning  and mee�ngs, and instrument 
 crea�on / implementa�on 

 ●  Ethnohistorical Research Compila�on  – gathering relevant  cultural and historical 
 informa�on on the project site and ac�ons, as well as the surrounding area and 
 resources 

 ●  Community Knowledge and Manaʻo  – gathering informa�on  from topic area experts and 
 knowledgeable cultural prac��oners 

 ●  Report Compila�on  – compiling accompanying figures  and narra�ves, and cra�ing 
 considera�ons for mi�ga�on 

 The author, on behalf of the Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana, has examined a variety of repositories 
 and resources to develop a general descrip�on of the natural, cultural, historical, and historical 
 background of the proposed Comfort Sta�on site and surrounding area. The author has 
 gathered informa�on about the natural landscape by reviewing County, State, and Federal GIS 
 data, atlases, maps, scien�fic reports, reference books and archaeological inves�ga�ons. The 
 author has compiled relevant inoa ʻāina, moʻolelo, oli, and ʻōlelo noʻeau from both Hawaiian 
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 and English language sources in books, newspapers, online databases, and archives. The author 
 has also collected historical accounts of Hāʻena and surrounding areas from primary and 
 secondary sources, including ethnographies, documents and wri�en resources: such as records, 
 journals, newspapers, and previous reports from various state and private collec�ons such as 
 the Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum (“BPBM”) Archives, the State Historic Preserva�on Division 
 (“SHPD”), and the Kauaʻi Historic Society (“KHS”). The author a�empted to gather the 
 appropriate historical land documents and Māhele data from the Buke Māhele, Boundary 
 Commission Records, and the Biennial Report of the Commissioners of Crown Lands, 1894, and 
 retrieved historic maps from the State of Hawaiʻi’s Department of Accoun�ng and General 
 Services (“DAGS”) online database, and family historical accounts. Some of the digital archival 
 repositories to be u�lized will include: Ulukau, AVA Konohiki, Hawaiʻi Office of Planning GIS 
 repository, Papakilo Database, Kīpuka Database, various Hawaiian language newspapers, and 
 others. 

 By implemen�ng these tasks, the author would approach a comprehensive analysis and 
 assessment that captures the essence of the past and that will highlight the ongoing 
 rela�onship between people and place through a con�nua�on of cultural prac�ce as the Hui 
 Makaʻāinana O Makana (HMoM), collabora�ng agencies and its partners, improve the 
 infrastructure of Hāʻena State Park.  This analysis and assessment should ensure na�ve 
 Hawaiian tradi�onal and customary prac�ces and resources are iden�fied within the project 
 area, the associated rights are not violated, and the impacts of the proposed development 
 ac�ons are iden�fied. Finally, any possible impacts to na�ve Hawaiian tradi�onal and customary 
 prac�ces and resources are iden�fied and impact mi�ga�on considera�ons are made. This 
 assessment will ul�mately give the Hui a renewed and unique perspec�ve of the project area, 
 thus providing addi�onal informa�on and considera�ons into the Hui’s already excep�onal 
 repertoire of mālama ʻāina and stewardship within Hāʻena State Park. 

 Methods: Ethnographic Study and Community Knowledge & Manaʻo 

 In addi�on to the historical-archival research outlined in the previous sec�on, a combined 
 ethnography and community knowledge / manaʻo consulta�on was done with kamaʻaina 
 individuals. The purpose of an ethnography, again, would be aimed at iden�fying Historical 
 Cultural, and Natural resources in the project area, and the consulta�on would provide an 
 assessment of associated Na�ve Hawaiian tradi�onal customary prac�ces that may be impacted 
 by the development of the new HSP Comfort Sta�on. Knowledgeable kamaʻāina-prac��oners 
 were iden�fied within the community, and through the Hui’s networks, who would be able to 
 share, assist, and provide valued knowledge and manaʻo to this Ka Kapaʻakai analysis and 
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 assessment. In this study, they will be referred to as “respondents” whereas their true 
 importance stems from their connec�ons to this place, their prac�ce, and knowledge. Table 1 
 gives general informa�on about the individuals who were consulted: 

 Table 1. List of respondents, birthplace, connec�on to HSP, and background / affilia�ons 

 Name  Born  Connec�on to HSP  Background/Affilia�ons 

 Lei Wann  Kauaʻi  Lineal descendant, cultural 
 prac��oner, fisherwoman, limu 
 gatherer, kuleana land holder 

 Limahuli Garden & Preserve 
 (Director) 

 Chipper 
 Wichman 

 Honolulu  ̒Ohana in Hā‘ena for five 
 genera�ons, fisherman, diver, 
 hunter, studied Hāʻena profusely 
 his en�re life, he and his wife 
 have documented over 50 hours 
 of oral histories with kūpuna 
 from this area 

 Established NTBG Limahuli 
 Garden based on ahupuaʻa 
 management, Na�onal 
 Tropical Botanical Garden CEO 
 (just re�red), he and his wife 
 also founded the Hui 
 Maka’āinana o Makana and 
 she remains on their ʻOhana 
 Council (he is currently the 
 Hui Board Secretary) 

 Noah 
 Kaʻaumoana 

 Kauaʻi  Lineal descendant, cultural 
 prac��oner, fisherman, gatherer, 
 grows hawaiian cul�vars of ʻawa 
 and kalo in Hāʻena 

 NTBG Limahuli Garden and 
 Preserve, Hui Makaʻāinana O 
 Makana ʻOhana Council 

 Devin Forrest  Kauaʻi  Kumu hula, Lineal descendant, 
 cultural prac��oner, ʻohana land 
 in Hāʻena 

 Hālau cares for Ke Ahu a Laka, 
 he and his family are general 
 members of the Hui 
 Makaʻāinana O Makana 

 “A�a” Forrest  Kauaʻi  Lineal descendant, cultural 
 prac��oner, fisherman, hunter, 
 ̒ohana land in Hāʻena 

 Kauaʻi Fire Department, Hui 
 Makaʻāinana O Makana board 

 Respondents were contacted via email and invited to share informa�on via a ques�onnaire 
 (Google Form) that included 7 sec�ons, and a total of 16 ques�ons: ques�ons included yes/no, 
 short, and long answers where they were allowed to elaborate if needed. If the respondents 
 preferred, the op�on was provided to schedule and conduct an interview, with the same 
 ques�ons, as a semi-structured in-person, virtual, or phone interview. All five of the 
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 knowledgeable kamaʻāina-prac��oners / respondents chose to fill out the Google Form 
 ques�onnaire, and did so between the dates of 4/21/2023 and 6/16/2023. Ques�onnaires, or 
 interviews, would seek to uncover and expand upon topics rela�ng to: 

 ●  Personal rela�onships to this place personal, historical, or organiza�onal 
 ●  Any moʻokūʻauhau of ʻohana or ʻāina you would like to share 
 ●  Any moʻolelo, ʻinoa ʻāina, oli, hula, mele, tradi�ons, akua, ʻohana, or people associated 

 with this place 
 ●  Cultural protocols and prac�ces specific to this place 
 ●  Gathering prac�ces: mauka (hun�ng), in stream (fishing), lei, and/or lāʻau lapaʻau 
 ●  Considera�ons or concerns regarding the development of HSP Comfort Sta�on on 

 natural resources and/or cultural prac�ces 
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 Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana (HMoM) 

 The Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana (a 501c3 non-profit, na�ve Hawaiian organiza�on) is “dedicated 
 to the perpetua�on and teaching the skills, knowledge, and prac�ces of our kupuna through the 
 interpreta�on, restora�on, care and protec�on of the natural and cultural resources within the 
 Hāʻena State Park”. Since its forma�on in 1999 by lineal descendants of the area, the Hui 
 Makaʻāinana o Makana (the Hui or HMoM) has advocated for HSP to become a park that 
 manages its visitor numbers as a means to care for and protect the natural and cultural 
 resources found within HSP. HMoM has maintained a Curatorship Agreement with the Division 
 of State Parks for the past 20+ years, to restore and maintain 15 acres that include 
 our tradi�onal loʻi and historical sites within the Hāʻena State Park. HMoM works collabora�vely 
 with its neighbor, Limahuli Garden and Preserve of the Na�onal Tropical Botanical Garden who 
 has been implemen�ng an ahupua’a management program in Hāʻena for over 30 years. Through 
 its current curatorship agreement, HMoM has restored 19 loʻi kalo and currently has 16 in 
 produc�on and consistently logged over 10,000 volunteer hours annually as documented in our 
 annual Curatorship report and Federal Form 990. 

 Caring for and stewarding the park, and the project area, requires careful stewardship and 
 though�ul management.  Managing the numbers of visitors is not only important for protec�ng 
 the natural and cultural resources in the park but also for protec�ng the small communi�es of 
 Hāʻena and Wainiha which sit along a small winding two-lane highway connec�ng Hanalei to 
 the end of the road in Hāʻena. In July, 2021, HMoM transi�oned from its formal Curatorship 
 Agreement to a new rela�onship based on a one-year Revocable Permit (RP) that allows HMOM 
 implement and manage a shu�le and reserva�on system along with managing the entry and 
 parking opera�ons in HSP. HMOM manages these ac�vi�es by partnering with two other 
 nonprofit organiza�ons: The Hanalei Ini�a�ve and Waipā Founda�on. The RP has allowed 
 HMOM to demonstrate its management capability and HMOM is now in nego�a�ons with State 
 Parks for a long term lease of HSP which will be the basis of a co-management agreement 
 between HMOM and State Parks. The very successful reserva�on and shu�le system has 
 provided growing benefits to the natural and cultural resources in the area. Addi�onally, all of 
 the revenue generated by the parking and shu�le system is being used to manage and improve 
 the cultural landscape of the Park, makesystem improvements and create community-based 
 economic development envisioned and outlined by HMoMʻs strategic plan the Hāʻena State 
 Park Master Plan, both of which reflect wishes of the surrounding community. 

 The work of HMoM over the past 20 years to restore this sacred area has received interna�onal 
 praise and recogni�on. A�er nearly two decades of community work, Hāʻena became the first 
 CBSFA in Hawaii to have rules approved by the State and signed by the Governor in 2015. In 
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 2019, HMOM received the Equator Prize from the United Na�ons for their work in helping to 
 develop and manage the Hāʻena CBSFA. And, most recently being recognized as a model and 
 example of des�na�on management and regenera�ve tourism for other state parks around 
 Hawaiʻi. The work of stewarding Hāʻena State Park and its natural-cultural resources - as 
 exemplified in these proposed development ac�ons - is a difficult task that is made easier 
 through collabora�ve planning and co-management between the Hui, the community and the 
 State - as one cannot do it alone. 

 Proposed Development Ac�vity 

 Background: Hāʻena State Park Master Plan and Sanita�on Needs 

 Hāʻena State Park (HSP), TMK 5-9-008:001, is a por�on of the ancestral lands of the people of 
 the ahupua’a of Hāʻena. The park currently falls under the jurisdic�on of the State of Hawaiʻi 
 Department of Land and Natural Resources Division of State Parks, while the Hui Makaʻāinana O 
 Makana (the Hui or HMOM) is the HSP curator and holder of a Revocable Permit. Proposed by 
 the Hui, the new HSP Comfort Sta�on would be located on the east end of the exis�ng parking 
 lot area and is proposed in order to sufficiently meet the sanita�on needs of all Hāʻena State 
 Park (HSP) visitors and staff. Currently the only HSP bathrooms are located near the Nā Pali 
 trailhead (a long 4-7 minute walk from where shu�les arrive and depart). Visitors have been 
 observed using the bathroom in the bushes just outside of the parking lot on an ancient 
 agricultural complex. The new HSP Comfort Sta�on (bathrooms) will make appropriate use of 
 already disturbed land and exis�ng space to accommodate park needs and reduce further 
 mistreatment of wahi kūpuna. 

 In May, 2018, the Board of Land and Natural Resources adopted the Master Plan for Hāʻena 
 State Park  3  which included extensive input from the  Hā‘ena community. Reflec�ng over two 
 decades of community input and consulta�on, the master plan included the concept of a 
 comfort sta�on in the parking lot to meet the needs of visitors to the Park. As noted below, the 
 master plan was carefully cra�ed with only minimal physical improvements to the park in order 
 to maintain the natural beauty and openness of the area: 

 “Only a few new structures are proposed including a Welcome Hale that is 
 envisioned as an open tradi�onal Hawaiian hale and located near the improved 
 main parking lot. Interpre�ve and informa�onal signage will be posted at the 

 3  h�ps://dlnr.hawaii.gov/dsp/files/2018/03/Haena-MP-FINAL.pdf 
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 hale and two new restrooms for men and women near the main parking lot will 
 provide a second set of facili�es to reduce wastewater flows at the exis�ng Kē‘ē 
 comfort sta�on, which has sensi�ve cultural sites nearby. The latest proven green 
 wastewater treatment technologies should be installed and the effluent treated 
 so it can be reused wherever possible” (Hāʻena State Park Master Plan 2018) 

 The Exis�ng Comfort Sta�on and Water Treatment 

 Hā‘ena State Park’s first comfort sta�on located near the Nā Pali trailhead and Kē‘ē Beach was 
 built in 1979 by DLNR. That first facility u�lized a six by eight-foot diameter cesspool to contain 
 the untreated effluent coming out of the restrooms. In 2001, the cesspool systems was 
 upgraded to a 2,500-gallon individual wastewater system (IWS) and included a 2,500 gallon 
 sep�c tank and 2,700 leach field in order to comply with the EPA’s closures of large capacity 
 cesspool systems. In 2008, the exis�ng comfort sta�on was demolished and replaced with a 
 new one in the same loca�on. This new comfort sta�on maintains the same number of fixtures 
 as the original: there are three water closets / stalls, one urinal, and two sinks. A mul�ple 
 shower head and spigot outdoor shower is located to the south of the comfort sta�on and 
 runoff water is allowed to drain into the surrounding soils. The comfort sta�on and treatment 
 facility specifica�ons are sized in order to manage around 2,016 gpd daily, which equates to 
 roughly 403 visitors per day. 

 As prescribed by the Hāʻena State Park master plan, and as iden�fied via on-going discussions 
 with collaborators, HMOM is seeking the development of a second restroom facility that would 
 reduce the number of visitors using the exis�ng Kē‘ē comfort sta�on, which is located in a highly 
 sensi�ve environmental and cultural area. The plan also supports the con�nued restora�on of 
 the Agricultural Complex and encourages restora�on of the varied historic, cultural, and natural 
 resources throughout the park and also encourages green building design, integrated water use, 
 reuse, and rainwater catchment, and renewable energy throughout the park. 

 Proposed Ac�vity: Construc�on of New HSP Comfort Sta�on 

 Proposed by HMOM, the new Hāʻena State Park (HSP) Comfort Sta�on would be located on the 
 east end of the exis�ng parking lot area and is proposed in order to sufficiently meet the 
 sanita�on needs of HSP visitors and staff. Currently the only HSP bathrooms are located near 
 the Nā Pali Coast trailhead (a long 4-7 minute walk from where shu�les arrive and depart). 
 Visitors have been observed using the bathroom in the bushes just outside of the parking lot on 
 an ancient agricultural complex. The new HSP Comfort Sta�on (bathrooms) will be located in an 
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 area that was bulldozed in the 1970s and more recently used to construct the exis�ng parking 
 lot area built following the flood in 2018. Using this disturbed area will allow this facility to be 
 built without further mistreatment of this wahi kūpuna. In order to accommodate the footprint 
 of this new facility within the exis�ng parking lot approximately 10 parking stalls will be 
 eliminated thus reducing the parking capacity and total number of parking stalls. The Hui sees 
 this as an important trade off that will help them meet park sanita�on needs, while also 
 preven�ng the need to impact any of the nearby cultural sites. 

 Image 2. Aerial view of project area, highligh�ng “affected” areas: where all proposed ac�vi�es will 
 occur. Image shows proximity to Mixed Forest surroundings and cultural landscape currently in 

 cul�va�on (photography provided by PBR Associates Hawai‘i) 

 Image 3. Conceptual drawing combined with aerial photography of the project area: image displays footprint in 
 rela�on to surrounding parking lot features and includes individual wastewater systems (photography provided by 

 PBR Associates Hawai‘i, design by Design Concepts and Clan Architecture LLC) 
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 The proposed development ac�ons include filling and grading, the construc�on of a new 
 comfort sta�on and individual wastewater system, and necessary ADA compliant pathways and 
 stalls. The bathrooms include trough sink / wash sta�ons (2), urinals (2), toilet stalls (2), ADA 
 toilet stalls (2), wall-mounted water bo�le fill sta�on (1), and a proposed foot washing area (1) 
 near the shu�le wai�ng area. 

 Image 4. A conceptual rendering of proposed comfort sta�on (provided by Design Concepts and Clan 
 Architecture LLC) 
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 Introduc�on to Hāʻena State Park - Hāʻena, Haleleʻa, Kauaʻi 

 Hā‘ena State Park is located within the ahupua‘a of Hā‘ena, in the larger district or moku of 
 Haleleʻa, on the island of Kauaʻi. The moku of Haleleʻa is a large district that encompasses much 
 of Kauaʻi’s northern end: its boundaries are Kauapeʻa Beach, near Kalihiwai, and Hanakāpīʻai. 
 Haleleʻa is roughly translated as “house of joy / happiness”. Haleleʻa’s numerous and boun�ful 
 bays are filled with balls of ʻakule and ʻopelu during the dry months and its famous and plen�ful 
 rains saturate deep, lush valleys and mountains throughout the year – two things which Haleleʻa 
 is well known for. Cited in chants as one of the most beau�ful and storied places in all the 
 Hawaiian islands (Wichman 1998), Haleleʻa’s joyous house extends to and then abruptly ends 
 a�er Hāʻena as livable and traversable flat lands transi�on into the steep sea cliffs and 
 tucked-away valleys of the Nā Pali Moku. 

 Image 5. Descrip�on of the Project Area in rela�on to Kauaʻi Mokupuni and the main Hawaiian Islands, Haleleʻa 
 Moku, Hāʻena Ahupuaʻa & Hāʻena State Park 

 Hā‘ena is the westernmost ahupuaʻa of Haleleʻa Moku, one of seven, and was bordered by 
 Hanakāpīʻai (start of Nā Pali Moku) to the west and Wainiha in the east. A rela�vely small 
 ahupuaʻa in comparison to other ahupuaʻa of Kauaʻi, Hāʻena, was incredibly storied and rich in 
 natural resources. Hāʻena is dominated by two main stream valleys, Mānoa and Limahuli, and 
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 seaward of said valleys are cliffs that quickly taper into flat sandy plains and dunes before 
 turning into shoreline and beach. Hāʻena’s shoreline boasts a reef that extends almost the 
 en�re length of the ahupuaʻa with the excep�on of Mākua’s lagoon and bay, and then a small 
 lagoon at Kēʻē. Hāʻena is one of the major wahi pana and wahi kapu in all of Hawai‘i. A cultural, 
 historical summary of Hāʻena State Park, and the project area, can be found in a later sec�on  4  . 

 Natural Environment and Physical Characteris�cs 

 The following descrip�ons do not speak specifically to the project area but, instead, are 
 synthesized and provided by previous studies and summaries of the broader region of Hāʻena. 
 Terrestrial and geological descrip�ons are included, whereas marine environment descrip�ons 
 are not, given that the loca�on of the project area is further inland, a significant distance from 
 the ocean. 

 Physical Characteris�cs 

 Backed by mountainous valleys, former sea cliffs, the Hāʻena coastal plains are defined 
 by two main steam valleys - Mānoa and Limahuli. The narrow strip of coastal plains were 
 constructed by, both, colluvial and alluvial deposits – riverbed sedimenta�on on top of 
 basalt substrates and gradual downslope accumula�on in the mauka areas. Fronted by 
 calcareous beaches and once boas�ng an extensive sand dune system from Wainiha to 
 Kēʻē, these coastal plains are now residen�al areas. Limahuli Valley, stewarded by The 
 Na�onal Tropical Botanical Garden is just east of HSP – with its westernmost por�ons 
 falling within the boundaries of the SP. Hāʻena State Park is physically defined by this 
 calcareous beach, sand dune, alluvial deposit characteris�cs. Limahuli Stream serves as 
 the eastern boundary of the park. HSP contains two wet caves, Wai a Kanaloa and 
 Waikapalaʻe. Makana, the famous mountain peak of Hāʻena, stands 1,280 feet in height 
 just south of the park and the project area. While mostly calcareous, Hāʻena has a few 
 boulder beaches near Limahuli Stream and at Kēʻē. Kēʻē Beach is located where the 
 coastal flats of Hāʻena end and meets the high cliffs of Nā Pali. 

 Topography 

 Hāʻena State Park lies on a coastal plain, which quickly transi�ons to steep cliffs. The 
 coastal plains and flats, fronted by sand dunes, mean the bulk of the areas within the 
 park are at a 10 to 30 foot eleva�on. Abu�ng that, however, when you go mauka of 

 4  see “Iden�fica�on of Cultural Historical and Natural Resources” sec�on 
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 Kūhiō Highway land rises quickly and steeply because of the cliffs that make up Hāʻena, 
 Mānoa and Limahuli valleys, and the Nā Pali sea cliffs – such as the mountain, Makana. 
 Colluvial deposits ensure that land mauka of the highway is mainly exposed, weathering 
 rock forma�ons and talus boulders that pile up just below the cliffs. 

 Climate 

 Hawaiʻi is some�mes said to be dominated by northeasterly trade winds, however, 
 storm systems born in the north some�mes disrupt that regularity – storm genera�on 
 can happen year round. Annual rainfall of nearby Waiʻaleʻale is about 450 inches per 
 year, but due to orographic effects Hāʻena receives about 50 to 70 inches per year (Blay 
 and Siemers 2004). In the park, it seems to be a bit higher on average than the rest of 
 Hāʻena at about 97±2.5 inches per year (Giambelluca et al 2011). 

 Nearby Wainiha helps to provide clima�c generali�es for this region, because the 
 Western Regional Climate Center (NOAA’s Na�onal Clima�c Data Center, the Regional 
 Climate Centers and State Climate Offices) does not collect such data in Hāʻena – as far 
 as we know. There may be efforts to do so very soon through non-profit and community 
 organizing. Wainiha’s average annual temperatures range between highs of 79.5 and 
 lows of 63.3 degrees Fahrenheit. December through February are the coolest months 
 and Junes through September are the warmest. Mean annual humidity levels range from 
 61% to 80% (NCDC 2009). 

 In Hāʻena, northeast trades make up much of the normal surface winds at 13 to 24 miles 
 per hour. Mountainous terrain influences wind veloci�es and direc�on throughout the 
 day as well. While remaining from the northeast during the day, mountains to the south 
 and west shi� the wind in a southwest direc�on at night. Stronger-than-normal winds 
 are mainly associated with storm systems in the area. Seasonal changes in wind 
 direc�on are observed, as it is in most parts of Hawaiʻi, when southerly “Kona” winds. 

 Geology And Soils 

 Believed to have begun forma�on approximately five million years ago, Kauaʻi was 
 primarily built from the ini�al Nāpali forma�on of the Waimea / Waiʻaleʻale shield 
 volcano between 4.3 and 5.1 million years ago. A second shield volcano, Līhuʻe, could 
 have aided in this forma�on. Specifically though, flows that ran along and came to shape 
 the coast of Hāʻena are from the Nā Pali forma�on and have been dated to be between 
 4.2 and 4.3 million years (Blay and Siemers 2004). It is also evident, for some, that there 
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 was a lack of post-erosional volcanic ac�vity in the Hāʻena region resul�ng in 
 sedimentary processes being the major geological influence affec�ng the Hā‘ena State 
 Park and surrounding region. 

 Si�ng at the western end of the Hā‘ena Coastal Plains, HSP would also be of similar 
 composi�on as the rest of Hāʻena. With a basalt substrate covered by alluvial deposits, 
 and colluvial deposits along its mauka reaches, HSP is fronted by sand dunes and sandy 
 beaches makai. Composed mainly by coral and coralline algae, the reefs of Hāʻena form 
 a sort of “fringe”. Fluctua�ons in sea levels (during the Pleistocene era) resulted in a 
 drop in sea levels and, thus, a lower erosional baseline for reams – which would create 
 Hāʻena’s carved-out valleys and steep grades. Calcareous and alluvial deposits assisted in 
 the crea�on of the dune systems which define and should be HSP’s prominent features. 
 Stemming from the same Pleistoceren era, increases in sea level and wave ac�on carved 
 out exis�ng lava tubes found in the cliff walls of Hāʻena State Park. Modern day 
 cul�va�on of the coastal flats which back the dune system in HSP are possible because 
 of alluvial fill a�er sea levels dropped. The soil types found in HSP are varied, The U.S. 
 Department of Agriculture Soil Conserva�on Services Soil Survey (SCS) notes the sand 
 dunes, beach sand and sandy loams, to marshy, clay, and rocky deposits. The University 
 of Hawai‘i Land Study Bureau (LSB) Detailed Land Classifica�on is some�mes tasked to 
 ra�ng soils. LSB rated the en�re area as “E”, or the lowest produc�vity ra�ng, which is 
 more than likely a reflec�on of the area’s classifica�on as State Land Use Conserva�on 
 District. While both analyze soil suitability according to western cul�va�on prac�ces, The 
 State Department of Agriculture’s Agricultural Lands of Importance to the State of 
 Hawai‘i (ALISH) seems to provide general analysis of soils. The ALISH classifies most of 
 the lo‘i area as “Other Lands” and the area along the dunes as “Prime Lands”. 

 Terrestrial, Vegeta�on and Wetland Zones 

 While disturbed and bulldozed in the 1970s, the 1991 Nagata Report iden�fied the 
 project area as a “Cul�vated Area” surrounded by “Mixed Forest”. A later report, the 
 2009 Scien�fic Consultant Services Geometrician Report classified that area as 
 “Disturbed” and “JP” for “Mixed Forest” dominated by Java Plum. The areas surrounding 
 the project area remain in a state of “Mixed Forest” and while the project area is 
 currently being used as a parking lot, it remains a cul�vated and culturally important 
 area where cultural resources once existed un�l it was bulldozed and disturbed in the 
 1970s. 
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 According to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service’s Na�onal Wetlands Inventory (NWI), 
 HSP’s primary designa�on is PFO3C or palustrine (inland, non-�dal) wetland. This 
 designa�on is described as forested with broad-leaved evergreen vegeta�on and is 
 seasonally flooded. The project area, however, is classified as PEM1C with borders and 
 por�ons that are near or intersect with PFO3C designated areas. PEM1C is a wetland 
 type which are also palustrine (inland), persistently emergent or characterized by 
 hydrophy�c plants, and seasonally flooded. On June 5, 2023, the Honolulu District, U.S. 
 Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), Regulatory Branch made the determina�on that no DA 
 permit was required for the proposed construc�on of the comfort sta�on (DA file 
 number POH-2023-00056) based on their review of the wetlands assessment that 
 HMOM provided (performed by Haley & Aldrich, dated February 13, 2023). The Corps 
 determined that it concurs with the assessment’s conclusion that the site does not 
 contain waters of the U.S., including wetlands or navigable waters of the U.S., as defined 
 by 33 CFR Parts 328 and 329, respec�vely. 

 Water Resources 

 The groundwater resources beneath HSP is generally basal water floa�ng on salt water 
 (UH Department of Geography 1983), but due to the confining layer being unmapped 
 and discon�nuous the groundwater lens is not well understood (Wilson Okamoto 2008). 
 According to the State Commission on Water Resources Management (CWRM) in its 
 Water Resource Protec�on Plan, HSP is located within the Wainiha System / Hanalei 
 Sector and yields an es�mated 24 million gallons per day (Wilson Okamoto 2008). 

 Surface water resources in HSP include Limahuli Stream, the two wet caves, and Loko 
 Kēʻē located just makai of Kūhiō Highway and Wai a Kanaloa wet cave. The project area 
 once included an ʻauwai, that brought water from Limahuli stream down to the loi kalo 
 system. That ʻauwai was bulldozed in the 1970s and the Hui with the help of State Parks 
 put in a 6” HDPE pipe to bring water from Limahuli down to the lo`i restora�on area 
 managed by the Hui. 

 Cultural-Historical Context of HSP and the Project Area 

 Hāʻena State Park (HSP) is rich in history and culture, par�cularly, as it is well documented in 
 moʻolelo, kaʻao, mele, as well as all contemporary narra�ves – inten�onally passed down 
 through oral tradi�ons and text. The presence of the Hui Makaʻāinana O Makana, and the lineal 
 descendants of HSP embodies the transference of all these tradi�ons, histories, narra�ves into 
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 contemporary �mes. This sec�on cons�tutes only a small frac�on of the studies, research, and 
 experiences worth sharing about why Hāʻena is such a legendary and storied place. In reality, 
 the project area is a small defined area and the reach of “vicinity” is used inten�onally  and 
 carefully. This analysis does not include an exhaus�ve inventory of sites and features, stories, 
 songs of Hāʻena, nor of HSP. Ethnography and consulta�ons, as well as previous 
 historical-cultural studies and surveys, informed this sec�on as to keep it inclusive of relevant 
 narra�ves – which, because of proximity and vicinity, may have an impact and / or influence the 
 project area, and its resources, specifically. 

 As he professed in this sec�on's opening quote, Carlos Andrade, recognizes that ʻāina tells the 
 main storyline.  Uncle Carlos was a founding member of the Hui Makaʻāinana and author of 
 “Hāʻena: Through the Eyes of the Ancestors”. His work has built upon the various works and 
 exper�se of the many who came before him - to perpetuate, protect, and teach the stories and 
 tradi�ons of Hāʻena. 

 “Hawaiian tradi�ons pinpoint places as landing spots of ancestral navigators, as 
 loca�ons where the people emerged into the world, or as arenas in which they 
 lived, fought ba�les, engaged in love affairs, and buried the dead. These named 
 places were, and s�ll are, considered sacred by the Hawaiian people. They 
 preserve the memories of many genera�ons, forming a repository, a founda�on 
 for their iden�ty as a people. The ‘āina (the land and the sea) not only provides 
 food, sustaining physical bodies, but also nurtures the social, cultural, and 
 spiritual senses of the Hawaiian people. Visitors, descendants of those who have 
 arrived from other lands and se�led here in the last two hundred years, as well 
 as the descendants of the earliest people who have inhabited this place for more 
 than two millennia—none of these can begin to know the story of Hā‘ena 
 without access to the stories told by the ‘āina” (Andrade 2008) 

 Hāʻena Origins and Early Tradi�ons 

 As many have and would nominate: the common progenesis of this ʻāina that Hawaiians have 
 come to know and perpetuate are the origin stories of Papahānaumoku and Wākea and the 
 Kumulipo – to name a few, and there are many others. The union of Papahānaumoku (Papa, 
 earth mother) and Wākea (sky father) resulted in the birth of the paeʻāina. Kamāwaelualani, 
 which roughly translates as “the separa�on of Lua and the heavens (lani is an epithet for high 
 born person(s) or, in this case, Papa),” is an ancient name for Kauaʻi. The name earmarks the 
 spli�ng of Papa from one of her mates, Lua, and her reunion with Wākea. The Kumulipo, a mele 
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 hoʻolālā aliʻi or a genealogical chant that recounts the crea�on of the Hawaiian world beginning 
 at Pō. The later sec�ons of the Kumulipo recount an aliʻi’s bloodline, however while very 
 important to kānaka maoli, it is not the sole origin story of Hawaiʻi and Hawaiians. And, so too, 
 many archaeological and anthropological accounts of Hawaiʻi and Hawaiians would also have us 
 assume the first “peoples” to arrive in Hāʻena were polynesian voyagers. In Hāʻena there are 
 deep and diverse tradi�ons that exist and are later told by elders of Hāʻena of its earliest 
 inhabitants – the menehune. In Hāʻena tradi�ons, at some point the lives and lineages of 
 latecomers (Hawaiians) and the Menehune begin to converge. In the early 19th century, 
 Kingdom census takers registered 65 persons who self-classified as “Menehune”  5  . 

 Limahuli, Po a ku, and Pōhaku o Kāne 

 Far above Limahuli valley, and to the east, is a rock forma�on men�oned by a respondent in 
 consulta�on for this Ka Paʻakai. Far atop that cliff is rock that can be seen from the project area. 
 Some accounts name this rock Po-a-ku, a Menehune sentenced to death (turned to stone) for 
 thievery. In other tradi�ons, his name is Pōhaku o Kāne, who came to Hāʻena as a sibling trio of 
 traveling stones. His sister and brother are also affixed to the landscape near the shoreline  6  , 
 whereas he repeatedly tried to climb the steep cliffs of Hāʻena. Observing this perseverance and 
 determina�on, the akua Kāne stepped in and li�ed him to the peak where he currently resides. 
 It is said that if he were to leave his post, the waters would rise to inundate Kauaʻi and this 
 ̒ohana pōhaku. Here is an ʻōlelo noʻeau as documented by Mary Kawena Pukui and published in 
 her 1983 collec�on of proverbs and saying, but also perpetuated in Hāʻena, that relates to 
 Limahuli. 

 Nui ka hanu o Limahuli i na lehua o Luluʻupali. 
 Heavily-sighed Limahuli falls over the lehua blossoms of Luluʻupali. 
 (Said of a person in love who sighs over a sweetheart.) 
 [Pukui 1983] 

 Makana, Ka Pali ‘Ōahi o Makana, Ka Poli Lauaʻe 

 Across the valley of Limahuli, directly south of the project area, is the famous mountain named 
 Makana or Ka Pali ʻŌahi o Makana. Makana and its cliff faces, all the way to the base, are 

 6  Tradi�ons of Hāʻena families vary slightly in the telling of this moʻolelo, including differing names of each pōhaku 

 5  Luomala, Menehune of Polynesia. B. P. Museum Bulle�n 203. Honolulu 1951: 12; quoted in Handy, Handy, and 
 Pukui 1972 
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 poe�cally referred to as Ka Poli Lauaʻe. While near, the base of Makana is outside the project 
 area. Ka Poli Lauaʻe (bosom of the lauaʻe fern) but is s�ll men�oned by 3 respondents. Makana 
 is the dominant land feature of Hāʻena, and a mountainous peak and stands 1,280 feet in height 
 just south of the project area. It is the site of a prac�ce and an art unique to Hāʻena and Nā Pali 
 – ʻōahi, or fire throwing / firebrand, was an art and prac�ce perpetuated in recent history. 
 Again, ʻōahi is men�oned by 4 respondents as a prac�ce rela�ng to the areas surrounding the 
 project area. Historically, too, it was done by only a few individuals in Hāʻena who lived near the 
 project area. Here are some ʻōlelo noʻeau, mele, proverbs and sayings perpetuated in Hāʻena, 
 that relate to Makana, ʻōahi, and the lauaʻe. 

 Ka pali ʻōahi o Makana 
 The firebrand-hurling cliff of Makana 
 (Pukui 1983) 

 Ke ahi pāpala welo i Makua. 
 The streaming pāpala firebrand at Makua. 
 (Pukui and Elbert 1986) 

 Ka poli lauaʻe o Makana 
 Makana, whose bosom is adorned with lauaʻe ferns. 
 [Pukui 1983] 

 Ke ipo lauaʻe o Makana 
 The sweet beloved fern of Makana 
 Reference to the famous lauaʻe ferns of Makana, Kauaʻi. 

 Ka Poli Lauaʻe Kaʻu Aloha  composed by Wahinekeouli  Pa ca. 1907 

 Ka poli laua‘e ka‘u aloha 
 A Makana ho‘i e hi‘i mai nei 
 Hi‘ipoi ‘ia e ka Waiama‘u 
 Ka makani kaulana o ka ‘āina! 
 Ua like a like me Kanaloa 
 Me ka wai aniani o Kapala‘e 
 Ma‘ema‘e ia pua o ka hinahina 
 Ia lei makahehi a ka malihini 
 ‘I‘ini ka mana‘o e ‘ike aku 

 I love the laua‘e covered bosom 
 Held in the embrace of Makana 
 Fondly tended to by the Waiama‘u, 
 The famous wind of the land 
 Exactly like Kanaloa’s 
 Is the crystal-clear water of Kapala‘e 
 A�rac�ve is the blossom of the hinahina 
 The lei admired by visitors 
 There is a desire to see 
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 I ka poli kapu o Lohi‘au ipo, 
 Ku‘u ipo i ke kai o Kē‘ē 
 Kai hāwanawana hone i ka poli 
 Poli o Kilioe ka‘u ‘ano‘i ai, 
 Ho‘opulu ‘ia nei e kēhu kai 
 ‘Akahi ho‘i au a ‘ike maka, 
 Nā kupa kaulana o ka ‘āina 
 Ha‘ina ‘ia mai ana ka puana 
 ‘O ka lihilihi o ka poli laua‘e 

 The sacred bosom of the beloved Lohi‘au 
 My sweetheart of the sea of Kē‘ē 
 The sea whose so� whispering thrills the heart 
 The bosom of Kilioe, I am very fond of, 
 Is moistened by the spray of the sea 
 It is the first �me I’ve seen for myself 
 The famous na�ves of the land 
 Tell the refrain, the story is told 
 Land of the laua‘e covered bosom [of Makana] 

 Wai a Kanaloa, Waikapalaʻe, Loko Naia, Loko Kēʻē 

 Men�oned by three respondents, the wet caves of Hāʻena are important and prominent 
 features of HSP. Waiakanaloa is located just mauka of the former highway between the project 
 area and Kēʻē. Waikapalaʻe is tucked away in the cliffside just above Waiakanaloa. Depending on 
 the family, they might be kapu: associated with Pele and moʻo wahine. Especially Waikapalaʻe, 
 that cave is said to be inhabited by a moʻo by the same name. These caves have water, and so 
 too they have water guardians assigned to them. The water of these caves are o�en said to be 
 connected – and it is believed that moʻo use them to travel about. 

 Aside from being the konohiki of various resources and tending the kōʻele, Kekela “created” 
 three loko for different purposes. One respondent men�oned two of those loko as important 
 features within the park, but are not within the project area. Loko Kē‘ē and Loko Naia are 
 located west of the project area, between the cul�vated loʻi kalo areas and Kēʻē beach. 
 According to Carpenter, Loko Naia has been photographed showing kalo growing in it. Tsunamis 
 in 1946 and 1957 devastated the area including the infrastructure of these loko. 

 Kēʻē, Pele & Lohiʻau, Kiliʻoe, and Hula Complex (Ka Ulu a Paoa / Ke Ahu a Laka) 

 As the se�ng of one of the most famous mo‘olelo and the site of the most sacred site for hula 
 prac��oners, Kē‘ē is held in reverence and is of profound cultural importance and significance 
 to Kānaka Maoli. One of the most significant sites in all of Hawaiʻi is the hula complex at Kēʻē 
 named Ka Ulu a Paoa  7  , which includes the Ke Ahu a  Laka. While a far distance from the project 

 7  see Kekahuna 1959 
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 area, it is a highly revered area and was men�oned by one respondent. The en�re site is a 
 sacred complex dedicated to the worship and prac�ces of hula, and ʻaihaʻa, The highest level of 
 the complex is a site named Ke Ahu A Laka. Ka Ulu a Paoa translates to “the inspira�on and 
 growth of Paoa.” Whereas, Paoa comes from the full name, “Kauakahiapaoa,” who was an ali‘i 
 of Hā‘ena and close friend of Lohi‘au. 

 Ka Ulu a Paoa Heiau overlooks Kē‘ē from atop the lower cliffs and is Hā‘ena’s most sacred and 
 significant site. It is where the love affair between Pele and the Hāʻena chief, Lohi‘au, began. 
 Lohiʻau and Kauakahiapaoa were students, some of the first, of this hula “school”. Dedicated to 
 Laka, the pla�orm at the pinnacle of the en�re complex is where hālau from all over the world 
 s�ll see it as a religious duty to visit. Hālau o�en hold their ʻūniki ceremonies there, rites of 
 passage, ensuring that the skill levels and knowledge of hula prac��oners are sa�sfactory 
 before they graduate on to being kumu. 

 Pele originally came to Kē‘ē when she and her family were searching for a new home and safety 
 from her angered sister, Nāmakaokaha‘i. When Pele, and family, finally established themselves 
 at Kīlauea on Hawaiʻi island she was beckoned back to Kauaʻi by drumming. This drumming was 
 none other than Lohiʻau, when she returned to Kauaʻi in her spirit form she found her lover 
 there in Hāʻena at Kēʻē. 

 In some versions of this moʻolelo, Pele a�empts to gain the trust of kamaʻāina through the 
 chan�ng and recoun�ng of storied places that she is familiar too – as to not seem like a mere 
 en�tled or ignorant malihini. In order to prove herself, at different points, she recalls the winds, 
 valleys and locales of the places she visits as if she knows them in�mately. She does this for 
 Kauaʻi, too, gaining the trust and welcome fit for an akua. In a version documented by 
 Ho'oulumāhiehie, and a Hawaiian-language newspaper: Ka Na‘i Aupuni, edited by Joseph M. 
 Poepoe, from June 1, 1906, to November 30, 1906, she recites the wind names of Hāʻena: 

 He Unukupua ka makani lawe leo 
 o Lohi‘auipo i Hā‘ena 

 He Kānaenae ka makani lawe ‘ala 
 a Lohi‘auipo i Hā‘ena, 

 He Kīlauea ka makani kā‘ili aloha 
 a Lohi‘auipo i Hā‘ena, 

 He Leo‘ikū ka makani lawe aloha 
 a Lohi‘auipo i Hā‘ena, 

 He Iponoenoelaua‘e ka makani ki‘i wahine 
 a Lohi‘auipo i Hā‘ena. 
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 Unukupua is the wind taking the voice 
 of Lohi‘au the sweetheart to Hā‘ena. 

 Kānaenae is the wind carrying the fragrance 
 of Lohi‘au the sweetheart in Hā‘ena. 

 Kīlauea is the wind snatching away the love 
 of Lohi‘au the sweetheart in Hā‘ena. 

 Leo‘ikuwā is the wind taking away the love 
 of Lohi‘au the sweetheart in Hā‘ena. 

 Iponoenoelaua‘e is the wind bringing the woman 
 of Lohiʻau the sweetheart to Hāʻena 

 A�er spending many nights and many days with Lohiʻau, she then a�empts to establish herself 
 in Hāʻena again. Again, her search for a home was ruined by her angered sister, Nāmakaokaha‘i, 
 who inundated poten�al home sites with water. Promising to return, she le� him in order to 
 reunite with her physical body at Kīlauea. He waited many days and many moons, and 
 loneliness overcame him. Lohiʻau killed himself. Guarded by the moʻo sisters, Kiliʻoe and Aka, his 
 body was eventually recovered by envoy’s sent to retrieve her lover. Hiʻiaka, Pele’s sister, and 
 her ʻaikane (Wahineʻōmaʻo) smited these moʻo and retrieved Lohiʻau’s body in order to then 
 revive him back to life. Kiliʻoe’s body remains where she fell, an important site as pointed out by 
 a respondent, as a place where Hāʻena families would place the piko of newborns. 

 Hiʻiaka then takes Lohiʻau to Pele in Kilauea, who had already been thrown into a fit of rage and 
 jealousy over Lohiʻau and Hiʻiaka’s growing connec�on. Pele had already burned Hiʻiaka’s 
 cherished ʻōhiʻa lehua grove to embers, now, upon seeing them Pele a�empts to kill them both. 
 A ba�le ensues at Kīlauea, a climac�c narra�ve about how the landscape of Hawaiʻi island was 
 shaped through volcanic episodes. In some Hāʻena tradi�ons, Hiʻiaka and Lohiʻau survive and 
 return to Hāʻena to live. 

 Land Tenure and Land Use Changes in Hāʻena from 1848 to Present 

 In Hāʻena’s story - more specifically its prehistory - the sequence of human se�lement helps us 
 to characterize Hāʻena’s subsistence use by early Hawaiians as studied by Dr. Halle� Hamma� 
 and his colleagues of the Archaeological Research Center Hawaiʻi, Inc (ARCH). Early se�lements 
 at Kēʻē were marine oriented, or subsistence occupa�on around marine environments and 
 resources, happened some�me before 1000 AD and expansion into or intensifica�on of those 
 se�lements occurred a�er 1400 AD. Loʻi and other agricultural features near Kēʻē, that now 
 characterize HSP, were constructed around that same �me. A possible shi� in se�lement trends 
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 or popula�ons were signaled by smaller densi�es of excavated cultural materials and evidence 
 of marine resource exploita�on from the 1700 to 1800 AD period at Kēʻē. 

 In 1824, a�er Kaumualiʻi’s death, many of the lands of Kauaʻi began to shi� along with the 
 associated poli�cal power and control from Kauaʻi chiefs to those of Oʻahu and Maui. Abner 
 Kuho‘oheiheipahu Pākī was awarded the en�re Hā‘ena ahupua‘a as a direct result of the 
 par��ons that followed the 1824 rebellion because of his associa�on with the Kamehameha 
 lines. Pākī, was married to Konia, one of Kamehameha I’s granddaughters, an ali‘i wahine. 
 Bernice Pauahi Bishop, a notable figure, was the daughter of Pākī. As chief, he appointed 
 himself as steward and regulated the produc�on and use of Hāʻena’s various resources, such as 
 ins�tu�ng kapu on heʻe (Carpenter 1996, Silva 1995) and managing the cul�va�on of 12 kōʻele – 
 special agricultural areas reserved for producing the food for the chief’s household. 

 Prior to the rebellion, Kekela, Kamehameha’s widowed sister-in-law was offered to Kauaʻi’s 
 chiefdom as a nego�a�ng piece between the Kamehamehas and Kaumualiʻi. She came to live in 
 Lumahai on Kauaʻi with Kaumualiʻi’s cousin (or son) un�l his death in 1824 – at about the same 
 �me control over these lands were shi�ing and Pākī came to acquire Hāʻena. As the sister of 
 Pākī’s mother, Kekela would eventually take over Pākī’s positon as konohiki of Hāʻena. 

 It was unusual for Kekela to hold this posi�on of authority; although she was a ranking chiefess, 
 she nevertheless was a woman and remains in history as one of the few known female konohiki. 
 Women were rarely given the right to claim lands during this period; widows of bonafide na�ve 
 tenants or female heirs (in absence of a male heir) of long-�me residents of an area would apply 
 for lands, however this was uncommon and infrequent. Na�ve tes�mony recorded that Kekela 
 herself had claimed five parcels in Hāʻena and had resided there in 1839. 

 “Kekela also listed among the usual konohiki responsibili�es, the management of 
 12 ko‘ele whose names she gave as: Paki, Kahookumaka, Oahu, Kapalaa, Akole, 
 Kaluahine, Kailiili, Peekauai, Kalaole, Koi, Kanaele and Keokea. 

 Soon a�er se�ling in Haena, tes�mony reported that she made three loko or 
 ponds within the ahupua‘a. Na�ve tes�mony does not reveal the names, 
 loca�ons, sizes or nature of these ponds or whether these ponds are the loko 
 kalo which she claimed in her own applica�on (see Table 2, LCA 7949).” (Silva 
 1995) 
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 Image 6. Aerial view of project area, combined with imagery of Carpenter (mapping and recording 
 credited to Major and Carpenter 1999/2000) showing LCAw, parcels, and iden�fied agricultural features 

 (photography provided by PBR Associates Hawai‘i) 

 Hui Kūʻai ʻĀina o Hāʻena to Hāʻena State Park 

 A�er the Mahele (1848) and the Kuleana Act (1850), maka ‘āinana recognized that the lands 
 distributed to them by those events were inadequate for a con�nua�on of their lifeways and for 
 their survival. They organized themselves into hui (group, organiza�ons), in order to retain some 
 key tenets and aspects of tradi�onal, ancestral ways of living. These hui were described and 
 categorized by courts of law as “unincorporated voluntary associa�ons” (Andrade 2008). In 
 Hāʻena, the Hui Kūʻai ʻĀina O Hāʻena was successful in organizing themselves to raise the 
 capital, finding the opportunity to purchase or lease parts of an ahupuaʻa that was not awarded 
 to them through the Mahele and the Kuleana Act. Hui such as this one were common in Hawaiʻi 
 up un�l the 1920s, as their efforts started to get bested by a foreign legal system and western 
 idea�on of exclusivity. Kalo cul�va�on of the region began to decline in the 1930s (Carpenter 
 1996). The tsunami in 1946 devastated families and livelihood in the area, then in 1955 a 
 pe��on was filed to par��on the lands of Hāʻena and the Hui Kūʻai ʻĀina O Hāʻena, which would 
 ul�mate dissolve what was le� of this organiza�on who merely wanted to live as their ancestors 
 once did. The lands of Hāʻena would be par��oned in 1967, and by 1975 the project area would 
 fall into degrada�on through misuse. The state would eventually condemn the proper�es in 
 1975 and add it to the Division of State Park’s inventory. Recognizing the growing desire of 
 travelers to experience the Nā Pali coast and the “end of the road” of Kauaʻi’s north shore, the 
 newly created HSP would become a highly coveted des�na�on area. A comfort sta�on was 
 added near the Nā Pali Coast trailhead and a rudimentary parking lot was created. 
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 Image 7. Aerial view of project area, combined with imagery from Nagata 1999 (mapping and recording 
 credited to Major and Carpenter 1999/2000),  showing iden�fied agricultural features, Kūhiō Highway 
 (Route 560) and project area as “bulldozed area” (photography provided by PBR Associates Hawai‘i) 

 Important Sites and Features Near Project Area 

 The following table is a list of iden�fied place names, sites, and important features within the 
 vicinity of the project area, from various sources including: Ethnography and consulta�ons, Land 
 Commission, Awards Book (AB), Boundary Cer�ficate No. (BC), Boundary Commission Tes�mony 
 (BCT), Indices of Awards (IN), Land Commission Foreign Tes�mony (FT), Land Court Applica�on 
 Map 1 (LCA), Land Commission Award (LCAw), Macdonald, Stearns, Cox and Davis Geologic Map 
 (MSCD), Tax Map Key (TMK), United States Geological Survey (USGS), and Community Experts 
 (CE). For such a small defined area, the reach of “vicinity” is used carefully, as to not include the 
 vast inventory of sites and features in the en�re HSP while including sensi�ve historical, cultural, 
 and tradi�onal sites nearby. Ethnography and consulta�ons, as well as previous 
 historical-cultural studies and surveys, informed this list as to keep the list inclusive of relevant 
 sites and features – which, because of proximity and vicinity, may have an impact and / or an 
 influence on the project area, and its resources, specifically. 

 Table 2. List of known place names of important features in the vicinity of the project area 
 Name  Source  Feature Type  Summary / Descrip�on 
 Ka Poli Lauaʻe  Wahinekeouli Pa ca. 

 1907 
 Area  Poe�c reference to Makana and 

 surrounding area, lit. “Lauaʻe 
 covered bosom” 

 31 



 Makana  Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974, 
 Wichman 1998, 
 Interviewee 

 Mountain  Lit. “gi�”. Famous for its ʻōahi 
 prac�ce, fireworks / firethrowing, 
 unique to Hāʻena and Nā Pali. Also 
 known as “Ka pali ʻōahi o 
 Makana”, lit. “Makana, the ʻōahi 
 cliff” 

 Wai a Kanaloa  Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974, 
 Wichman 1998, 
 Interviewee 

 Wet cave  Lit. “the water used / made by / of 
 Kanaloa”. Also known as 
 Waiokanaloa, Waikanaloa 

 Waikapalaʻe  Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974, 
 Wichman 1998, 
 Interviewee 

 Wet cave  Lit. “water of the lace fern”. Also 
 known as Waikapalai, Wai o ka 
 palae/palai 

 Limahuli  Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974, 
 Wichman 1998, 
 Interviewee 

 Valley  Lit. “turned hand” 

 Limahuli 
 Stream 

 Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974, 
 Wichman 1998, 
 Interviewee 

 Stream  Lit. “turned hand” 

 Hauwā  Interviewee  Pond  Now roadside pond in Limahuli 
 stream, also known as “cold 
 pond”, literal meaning unknown 
 but possibly refers to an icey / cold 
 space/boundary 

 Makaua  Pukui, Elbert, 
 Moʻokini 1974 

 Cliff  Lit. “unfriendly” Bounds west side 
 of claim no. 7998 by Haole in 
 Kailiili. 

 LCA 7998  Carpenter 1996 
 Figure 3. 

 LCAw  8  Awardee: Haole, Owner during 
 par��on: County of Kauaʻi 

 LCA 10674  Carpenter 1996 
 Figure 3. 

 LCAw  Awardee: Pea, Owner during 
 par��on: Howard K, Kinney 

 8  LCAs are included in here as features for its varied historical and cultural significance, 10 awards are located in 
 HSP, 3 of which are in or within the vicinity of the project area. 
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 LCA 7949 & 
 5477 Ap. 2 

 Carpenter 1996 
 Figure 3. 

 LCAw  Awardee: Kekela, Owner at at of 
 par��on: John W. Gregg 

 Unnamed 
 feature 

 The Keith 
 Companies 1996, 
 Major & Carpenter 
 2000 

 house site  a tradi�onal house site (Feature 7, 
 Site 1600-7) located just east of 
 project area 

 Unnamed 
 feature 

 The Keith 
 Companies 1996, 
 Major & Carpenter 
 2000 

 house site  a tradi�onal house site (Feature 8, 
 Site 1600-8) located on the 
 northern side HSP parking lot 

 Unnamed 
 feature 

 The Keith 
 Companies 1996, 
 Major & Carpenter 
 2000 

 rock shelter  a rock shelter (Feature 6, Site 
 1600-6) located to the south or 
 project area, across Kūhiō highway 

 Agricultural 
 Complexes 

 The Keith 
 Companies 1996, 
 Major & Carpenter 
 2000 

 Terraced and 
 non-terraced 
 agricultural 
 complexes 

 a series of agricultural complexes 
 (Feature 13, Site 1600-13 & 
 Feature 14, Site 1600-14) located 
 to the north and east of project 
 area 
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 Iden�fica�on of Cultural, Historical, and Natural Resources 

 In order to iden�fy historical, cultural, natural resources, in the project area, and to assess the 
 extent to which tradi�onal and customary rights are or have been exercised in the project area, 
 this sec�on presents a summary of historical-archival informa�on concerning the project area, 
 and at �mes the surrounding or broad regional areas. This sec�on concludes with a summary of 
 findings from community consulta�ons and ethnography done, specifically, for this Ka Paʻakai 
 analysis and assessment. 

 Ethnography: Community Knowledge and Manaʻo 

 Par�cipants detailed important resources and cultural (e.g., subsistence) prac�ces reliant upon 
 them in the project area. Par�cipants iden�fied the type of resource(s) collected, in rela�on to 
 the project area, and the prac�ces and methods associated with those resources or the 
 protocols observed. The most prevalent subsistence prac�ces in the project area men�oned 
 during the interviews include Gathering, farming, lei making, and ʻōahi. Apart from tradi�onal 
 and customary Na�ve Hawaiian prac�ces iden�fied in the ques�ons, because there are 
 boun�ful cultural resources and prac�ces associated with the area in general par�cipants also 
 shared their knowledge, observa�ons, stories, and prac�ces of farming, lei-making, and ʻōahi. 
 Theyʻve been added to the inventory and summary that follows and it is clarified if that 
 resource is present in the project area or not. 

 Table 3. Inventory of tradi�onal and customary prac�ces and resources iden�fied in and around the 
 project area. Grayed rows are prac�ces and resources men�oned in addi�on to Hun�ng, Fishing, and 

 Gathering 

 Tradi�onal Cultural Prac�ce  Cultural Resource 
 Area/Loca�on in 

 HSP 
 Shared by 

 Hun�ng  pigs  adjacent forest,  not 
 in project area 

 Chipper 

 Fishing  limu, fish, ʻoʻopu  nearby ocean, and 
 destroyed ʻauwai, 
 not in project area 

 Lei, Chipper, 
 Noah 

 Gathering (food, medicine, lei)  Limu, lauaʻe, Guava, 
 Mango, Laukahi, 
 Koali 

 nearby ocean, and 
 adjacent areas,  not 
 in project area 

 Lei, Noah, 
 Chipper 

 Farming  kalo, ʻawa  nearby loʻi areas,  not 
 in project area 

 Noah, 
 Chipper 
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 Lei-making  lauaʻe and other 
 foliage 

 adjacent areas,  not 
 in project area 

 Lei 

 ̒ōahi  Pāpala Kēpau  Limahuli Valley 
 NTBG, Makana,  not 
 in project area 

 Lei 

 Dr. Davianna McGregor, a professor at UH Manoa Ethnic Studies, has done extensive 
 ethnographies across the Paeʻāina. She works under the premise that where a resource is 
 present the prac�ce is too. Resource presence is both the poten�al of future prac�ce and the 
 hint of what would have been u�lized by a people so completely dependent and dedicated to 
 their surroundings and locked into the no�on that for one to thrive so too must the other – 
 thus, assuring the con�nua�on of prac�ces. This iden�fica�on of resources also removes the 
 burden of proof for modern prac��oners to assign cultural value to specific places. 

 Hun�ng Prac�ces 

 While pig hun�ng is an important cultural prac�ce for subsistence and mālama ʻāina, all 
 respondents men�oned not hun�ng in the project area. Feral Hawaiian mountain pigs eat 
 massive vegeta�on causing na�ve plant ex�nc�on, soil erosion, and soil compac�on in their 
 tracts. These hun�ng prac�ces perpetuate the protec�on and care for the place. In one 
 respondent's observa�ons, he has seen pigs near the project area – in the mixed forest areas 
 between the project area and north toward the ocean (especially during guava season in late 
 summer). 

 Fishing Prac�ces 

 The use of marine and terrestrial resources is well documented in Hāʻena, to this day, the use of 
 fish for subsistence is an important cultural prac�ce in Hāʻena. Two respondents men�oned not 
 fishing in the project area, while the three others men�oned the important and abundant reef 
 fish and limu of Hāʻena’s nearshore fishery. Freshwater fishing for various resources like hīhīwai 
 and ʻoʻopu is commonplace for Hāʻena’s families: one of the respondents shared how he 
 learned about how kūpuna would catch ʻoʻopu in the ʻauwai that ran through the project area 
 before because demolished. 
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 Gathering (food, medicine, etc) and Lei-making Prac�ces 

 Prior to the par��on of the Hui Kūʻai ʻĀina o Hāʻenaʻs lands in 1967, the project area was 
 covered with mostly guava trees and honohono grass, one respondent shared. He men�oned 
 how the Hashimoto brothers, Tom and Jackie, were farming kalo where the Hui is now restoring 
 the loʻi kalo. As a young person, he would pick mangos and guava in and around the project 
 area. Laukahi and koali, used in Hawaiian medicine, also grew in the area. 

 “Once the par��on of the Huiʻs lands was completed in late 1967, the area 
 began to change. The Hawaiian farmers were evicted and the cows were 
 removed and the large trees started to grow very quickly covering the area. Then 
 in the early 1970s Louie Rego came with his backhoe and scraped an area to use 
 as a stockpile for the gravel and rocks he was using to repair the road for the 
 County or State. That was when the ʻauwai feeding the Hashimoto's loʻi and 
 some of the ancient walls were destroyed and then not long a�er that the 
 hippies came and made Taylor Camp and we stopped going down there to 
 harvest food as it was too pilau.” 

 One respondent also men�oned gathering lauaʻe for lei in the vicinity, but because the parking 
 lot area has changed the landscape forever she now picks lauaʻe from nearby areas. The other 
 respondents all said they do not gather and have not gathered in the area. 

 Farming Prac�ces 

 Respondents (2) men�oned farming as an important cultural prac�ce for subsistence in the 
 vicinity of the project area. One respondent expanded on this, reminding us that oral histories 
 make it apparent that the project area was not being ac�vely used for over 100 years. He 
 men�ons that none of the kūpuna born in the early 1900s remembered seeing this area being 
 farmed, but the Maka, Olanolan, Mahuiki, Chandler, Hashimoto, Fuji, and other ʻohana have 
 farmed kalo in the loʻi complex surrounding the project area prior to the par��oning process 
 was completed in 1967. Another said yes, farming existed, but not in the project and also chose 
 not to elaborate. 

 ̒Ōahi Prac�ce 
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 Famous and linked to Hāʻena the art and prac�ce of ʻōahi is a tradi�on that is incredibly unique 
 and should be protected. Two respondents are lineal descendents of the two individuals who 
 were known to have prac�ced ʻōahi into the 1900s – before it stopped. The art of fire throwing / 
 firebrands are dependent on a cultural resource named Pāpala. It is a wood that is highly 
 threatened and trying to make a comeback. This pāpala isnʻt men�oned to have grown in the 
 project area, but a stock is being perpetuated and propagated in nearby Limahuli valley. Refer to 
 the “Makana, Ka Pali ‘Ōahi o Makana, Ka Poli Lauaʻe” subsec�on for more informa�on on ʻōahi. 

 Image 8. A historical photo, near the project area, taken in the early 1900s showing habita�on, cultural 
 resources and prac�ces. The base of Makana is visible in the background, above a small hale pictured on 

 the right. 
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 Conclusion:  Summary of Community Knowledge and Manaʻo 

 All respondents proclaimed that the development of the HSP Comfort Sta�on in the exis�ng 
 parking lot will have  no impact  on any current cultural  prac�ces. Two respondents 
 communicated their belief that the HSP Comfort Sta�on will improve what is there now and 
 assist in reducing the burden on the exis�ng comfort sta�on near Kēʻē. In the words of one of 
 the respondents, it is a “very posi�ve step forward in mi�ga�ng the impact the visitors to HSP 
 have on the cultural and natural resources in the park.” Effec�vely, confining work and 
 development to the proposed project area, should “contain” human impacts to a manageable 
 space instead of allowing impacts to proliferate to where tradi�onal, customary, cultural 
 prac�ces do occur within this living, cultural landscape. One respondent recommended that the 
 plans and contracts confine all impacts of construc�on to the footprint of the exis�ng parking 
 lot – which will ensure that no nega�ve impacts to surrounding cultural sites take place. And, 
 that all wetland cer�ficates / permits are issued before work begins. 

 Considering the history of the site, and how significantly disturbed, modified and altered the 
 area had been, this proposed development actually seeks to correct many of those traves�es. 
 Since the early 70s, the development of HSP saw the project area as a staging zone and storage 
 for park construc�on materials like gravel, and then it expanded to include overflow parking and 
 an emergency Landing Zone for rescue helicopters. Bulldozed and razed, the project area has 
 experienced almost complete erasure – of any historical, cultural resources per�nent to cultural 
 prac�ces that we know of. 

 One respondent men�ons how the proposed development and its wastewater treatment 
 system is a proven design that produces a consistent effluent quality with a pollutant removal 
 ra�o of around 95%. That high level of treatment will ensure that the proposed Comfort Sta�on 
 will have no nega�ve impact on the surrounding natural systems that support cultural prac�ces 
 outside of the project area, while also suppor�ng and removing some of the burden on the 
 exis�ng comfort sta�on near Kēʻē – which may or may not be opera�ng at maximum capacity 
 already and is known to have been built in a very sensi�ve cultural area. Across the board, the 
 proposed development seems to move the HSP forward in mi�ga�ng the impacts of human use 
 on the cultural and natural resources in the Park. In other words, there are virtually no valued 
 cultural, historical, or natural resources in the project area, therefore, the proposed 
 development will have no effect on and will not impair tradi�onal and customary na�ve 
 Hawaiian rights. 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 

HONOLULU DISTRICT, U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 
REGULATORY OFFICE 

FORT SHAFTER, HAWAII  96858-5440 
 

June 5, 2023 

 

 
SUBJECT:  No Permit Required, Comfort Station Construction, Ha’ena State Park, Wainiha, 
Island of Kaua’i, Hawai’i, DA File No. POH-2023-00056 
 
Hui Maka’ainana o Makana 
Kathleen “Pua” Chin, Executive Director 
P.O. Box 1225 
Hanalei, Hawai’i  96714 
 
Dear Pua: 
 

The Honolulu District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), Regulatory Branch has received 
your request for a determination whether a Department of the Army (DA) permit is required for 
the proposed construction of the comfort station at Ha’ena State Park located in Wainiha, Island 
of Kaua’i, Hawai’i.  Your request has been assigned DA file number POH-2023-00056.  Please 
reference this number in all future correspondence with our office relating to this action. 
 

Based on our review of the wetlands assessment that you provided (performed by Haley & 
Aldrich, dated February 13, 2023) and an internal desktop review, the Corps has determined it 
concurs with the assessment’s conclusion that the site does not contain waters of the U.S., 
including wetlands or navigable waters of the U.S., as defined by 33 CFR Parts 328 and 329, 
respectively.  Therefore, a DA permit under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act and/or Section 
10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 is not required.  Should you require an approved 
jurisdictional determination for this project site, please contact us.   
  
 While a DA permit is not required for your proposed project, you are responsible for 
obtaining all other applicable Federal, state, or local authorizations required by law.   

 
Thank you for your cooperation with the Honolulu District Regulatory Program.  If you have 

any questions related to this determination, please contact me at 808-835-4309 or via e-mail at 
kristi.d.fluker@usace.army.mil.  For additional information about our Regulatory Program, 
please visit our web site at https://www.poh.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory.aspx. 

 
 

Sincerely, 
 

    
Kristi Fluker 
Biologist 

 
 
 
cc: 
John Ford, Hadley & Aldrich  jford@hadleyaldrich.com  

mailto:kristi.d.fluker@usace.army.mil
https://www.poh.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory.aspx
mailto:jford@hadleyaldrich.com


 
 

 

HALEY & ALDRICH, INC. 
6 Waterfront Plaza 
500 Ala Moana Boulevard, Suite 6-250 
Honolulu, HI  96813 
808.587.7747 

   www.haleyaldrich.com 

31 January 2023 
File No. 0207083-000 
 
 
Pua Chin, Executive Director 
Hui Maka`āinana o Makana 
PO Box 1225 
Hanalei, Hawai’i 96714 
 
Subject: Consulting Services for Jurisdictional Wetland Determination at Hāʻena State Park, 

Kauaʻi, Hawai’i 
 
Dear Ms. Chin: 
 
Haley & Aldrich, Inc. (Haley & Aldrich) is pleased to submit this letter report summarizing our 
assessment of wetlands at the parking area within Hāʻena State Park (Park), Hāʻena, Kauaʻi, Hawaiʻi. We 
sincerely appreciate the assistance provided by Mr. Chipper Wichman who joined us on-site and 
provided invaluable background on the construction of the area and relationship to adjacent waterways.   
 
Introduction 
 
Haley & Aldrich conducted a delineation to determine if wetlands regulated under Section 404 of the 
Clean Water Act (CWA) by the Department of the Army U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) (33 CFR 
328) are present within a 50-foot buffer of the proposed construction site for a comfort station and 
septic system within the Park (Figure 1). The proposed comfort station would include men’s and 
women’s restrooms, an underground Fuji clean anaerobic wastewater treatment system and an 
Individual Wastewater System (IWS) system with a minimum R-2 treatment (Figure 2). All the 
improvements will be constructed in previously graded areas of the parking lot and will be Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA)-accessible with direct access to ADA parking stalls.  
 
This letter documents the investigation, best professional judgment, and conclusions of Haley & Aldrich, 
Inc. It is correct and complete to the best of our knowledge. However, all jurisdictional determinations 
should be considered preliminary until a jurisdictional determination has been made by the US Army 
Corps of Engineers. 
 
Site Description 
 
The project site is located within Hāʻena State Park, tax map key (TMK) (4) 5-9-008:001, on the northern 
margin of Kuhio Highway approximately 1,050 feet west of the Limahuli Stream crossing, and 1,300 feet 
east of the Kalalau Trail Head on the North Shore of Kauaʻi. Having both ecological and recreational 
value, Hāʻena State Park is one of most frequented visitor attractions on the island. Elevations in the 
study area range from approximately 50-feet mean sea level (MSL) on the east end of the project area 
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to 20-feet mean sea level on the west edge of the area, with a slope of approximately 6.5 percent. Hui 
Maka`āinana o Makana is planning to make the existing parking area ADA-compliant by leveling the 
parking area and constructing a comfort station and septic system at the head (east side) of the parking 
lot.  

Figure 1. Location of the project site adjacent to Kuhio Highway in Hāʻena State Park, Kauaʻi, HI, showing the 
location of sample sites used to evaluate the vegetation, soils, and hydrology of the area. The dark area at the 

bottom of the figure is the shadow of the pali located just south of Kuhio Highway. Google Earth Image.

The Hāʻena State Park is mapped on the United States Geological Survey (USGS) 2013 7.5-minute Hāʻena 
quadrangle map (NGA Ref No. USGSX24K18882). Much of the Park is encompassed by a traditional 
agricultural complex, which is being restored and managed by Hui Maka‘āinana o Makana (Hui) under a 
curatorship agreement with Hawaiʻi State Parks (PBR Hawaiʻi and Associates, Inc., 2018).  Previous 
archaeological studies show that this area consisted of a network of irrigated taro (kalo) lo‘i terraces 
which originated in prehistory (Handy and Handy 1972).  

Hammatt, et al. (1978) suggested that the lo‘i extended to the base of the pali but ceased to function 
following highway construction. According to Handy and Handy (1972), taro production at Hāʻena 
dropped significantly by 1930, with the Limahuli and Mānoa Valley terraces being abandoned first, 
resulting in large areas near the mouth of Limahuli Stream becoming covered in brush and grasses.  
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Figure 2. Conceptual plan for an individual wastewater septic system located within the existing parking lot at 
Hāʻena State Park, Kauaʻi. 

 In the early 1900s, the parklands appeared to be a treeless plain with only low-lying beach vegetation 
just behind the dunes (Carpenter 1996). Tsunami overtopped this coastal plain in 1946 and again in 
1957, carrying a significant volume of sand inland. This was likely the source of sand found in soils at two 
test pit sites during our survey (Wichman, personal communication). Historically, an ʻauwai carrying 
water diverted from Limahuli Stream for irrigation of kalo loʻi bisected the project area from the 
southeast toward the northwest. The intake on the ʻauwai has been closed for decades. The margin 
between Kuhio Highway and the parking lot was recontoured in 2019 as an ephemeral swale to direct 
floodwaters around the parking lot (Wichman, personal communication). The vegetation, soils, and 
hydrology of the area have been disturbed by decades of disturbance for agriculture and more recent 
grading, filling, and recontouring associated with parking lot expansion. Figure 3 illustrates historic site 
disturbances. According to Carpenter (personal communication), State Parks inherited a dry, useable 
parking area when the park was established in 1978, and area has never been considered a wetland.  
Figure 4 illustrates improvements to the parking lot completed in 2019.  
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Precipitation 

The Rainfall Atlas of Hawaiʻi estimates mean annual rainfall at Hāʻena State Park to be 98 inches 
(http://rainfall.geography.Hawaiʻi.edu/interactivemap.html). At nearby Wainiha, the average annual 
temperature ranges between a high of 79.5 degrees to a low of 63.3 degrees Fahrenheit. While 
December through February are generally the coolest months, June through September are the 
warmest. Mean annual relative humidity ranges between 61 to 80 percent. Surface winds are generally 
around 13 to 24 miles per hour from the northeast. There are some seasonal changes in prevailing wind 
direction in winter with southerly Kona winds (PBR Hawaiʻi and Associates, Inc. 2018). The area can 
experience intense and sometimes prolonged cyclonic storms at any time during the year. Severe flash 
flooding occurred over the north shore of Kauaʻi on the night of April 14-15, 2018, that led to a rainfall 
total of 36.49 inches at nearby Wainiha over a 48-hour period and numerous landslides.  

Vegetation 

Nagata (1991) and Terry and Hart (2009) describe vegetation within the park and the history of 
disturbance by human activities. The dominant plants are listed below with their hydrophytic indicators 
(Lichvar, et al. 2020). The current vegetation at the parking lot was described as “disturbed”, with a large 
variety of non-native weeds and Guinea grass (Megathyrsus maximus) - FAC. They described the 
surrounding areas as “Mixed Forest” with dominant tree species including octopus tree (Schefflera 
actinophylla) - UPL, false kamani (Terminalia cattapa) - FAC, and Chinese banyan (Ficus microcarpa) - 
FACU, hau (Talipariti tiliaceum) - FACW, African tulip (Spathodea campanulata) - FACU, kukui (Aleurites 
moluccana) - FACU, strawberry guava (Psidium cattleianum) - FACU, Java plum (Syzygium cumini) - FAC, 
and guava (Psidium guajava)- FACU. with parking lot and swale construction, classification of the 
vegetation, soils, and hydrology within a major portion of project site is problematic.   

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS 2022) classified the coastal plain between the dunes and the 
highway as a freshwater forested/shrub wetland (PFO3C) (Figure 5). Most if not all the parking lot lies 
outside mapped wetland boundaries and designated floodplains. 

Soils 

The USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) has mapped the following soil map units 
within the study area, based on the Hawaiʻi Soil Survey, Island of Lāna‘i and the NRCS Web Soil Survey 
(NRCS 2022): HnA:  Hanalei silty clay, 0 to 2 percent slopes, MLRA 167, and  HrB: Hanalei silty clay, deep 
water table, 0 to 6 percent slopes. Figure 6 illustrates the distribution of underlying soils within the 
study area. The parking lot itself consists of compacted gravel to a depth of 6-inches and rocky silty clay 
between 6-inches and 48-inches (Noble, 2022). The USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service 
(NRCS) has mapped the following soil map units within the study area, based on the Hawaiʻi Soil Survey, 
Island of Lāna‘i and the NRCS Web Soil Survey (NRCS 2022): HnA:  Hanalei silty clay, 0 to 2 percent 
slopes, MLRA 167, and  HrB: Hanalei silty clay, deep water table, 0 to 6 percent slopes. Figure 5 
illustrates the distribution of underlying soils within the study area. The project site is bordered on the 
south by high cliffs consisting of rock outcrop (rRO), and on the north by sandy beaches (BS) and 
Mokuleia fine sandy loam (Mr). 

http://rainfall.geography.hawaii.edu/interactivemap.html
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Figure 3. A figure excerpted from PBR Hawaiʻi and Associates, Inc. (2018) illustrating the various areas and levels of 
historic disturbance and development with the Hāʻena State Park. Note that the existing parking lot is within an 

area of “modern disturbance/development” highlighted in red.

Figure 4. Oblique aerial image toward the east of the newly completed swale and parking lot construction at 
Hāʻena State Park. Our study area extends outward 50-feet on all sides of the edge of the paved surface. The 

eastern end of the constructed improvements is at 50-feet elevation and the western end is at approximately 20 
feet with a slope of 6.5%.  
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Figure 5. National Wetland Inventory classification of lands in Haena State Park. Dark box illustrates the 
approximate location of sampling area surrounding the parking lot.  

Figure 6. Map of hydric soil distribution surrounding the parking lot at Hāʻena State Park, Kauaʻi. Source: NRCS 
(2022) Web Soil Survey. 
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Soils here are primarily Inceptisols (Deenik and McClellan 2007), formed from alluvium on the 
toeslope of the high cliffs above the Park. HnA and HrB are both listed as hydric soils on the 
current Hydric Soil List (USDA Natural Resource Conservation Service 2022). The borders of the 
parking lot have been disturbed by grubbing and grading for parking lot and swale construction. 

Hydrology 

The study area is located within the USGS 200700 hydrologic unit; the State of Hawaiʻi Commission on 
Water Resources Management (CWRM) surface water hydrologic unit 2012 (Limahuli), and the Wainiha 
groundwater hydrologic unit 20203. The area is not within a State of Hawaiʻi designated surface or 
groundwater water management area. The nearest groundwater levels measured by the U.S. Geological 
Survey (USGS) at Site number USGS 221318159335901 2-1333-01 Hāʻena W-66, located on the right bank 
of Limahuli Stream roughly 1,150-feet southeast of the Hāʻena parking lot at an elevation of 85-feet (Figure 
7). Noble (2022) did not encounter a water table to a depth of 48-inches during his percolation tests 
performed in the parking lot. No subsurface water, flowing, or ponded water, or secondary indicators of 
hydrology were observed at any of the sample sites during this project. However, sample pits 3, 4, and 5 
lay within a constructed swale that is designed to convey ephemeral stormwaters around the parking lot. 
The swale, constructed in 2019, has never carried any flood water since it was built (Wichman, personal 
communication).  

The Flood Hazard Assessment Report states that the project area lies in Zone X: an area determined to 
be outside the 0.2% annual chance floodplain. The FEMA/FIRM 100-Year flood plan map (Figure 7) for 
the project area (1500020030E) shows no Special Flood Hazard Areas, Floodways, or other flood prone 
areas identified within the project area on the FEMA maps. Water diverted from Limahuli Stream is used 
to irrigate Limahuli Gardens and is conveyed to the lo‘i at Hā‘ena State Park by PVC pipe. There are no 
longer any open ʻauwai that bisect the parking lot area. Prior to the construction of the new parking lot 
and flood protection features the old coral-paved parking was inundated at least twice by very heavy rains 
(Wichman, personal communication). In the 2018 event, all the crushed coral washed away.  

Methods 

The purpose of this study to determine whether wetlands meeting the definition of Waters of the United 
States (WotUS), under §33 CFR 328 of the Clean Water Act, are located within 50-feet of the parking area 
perimeter. A wetland subject to the authority of the Department of the Army under the definition of 
Wetlands and Waters of the United States (33 CFR 328) must possess three specific criteria: hydric soils, 
hydrophytic vegetation, and hydrology. Our study protocols followed the Corps of Engineers Wetlands 
Delineation Manual (Environmental Laboratory 1987), the Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers 
Wetland Delineation Manual: Hawaiʻi and Pacific Islands Region (Version 2) (USACE 2012). Haley & Aldrich 
staff compared satellite imagery available on Google Earth Pro with the USGS 7.5-minute topographic 
Hāʻena quadrangle map, and the National Hydrography Dataset to observe topography and visible 
drainage patterns associated with the project area. 
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Figure 7. Ground water levels recorded by the U.S. Geological Survey at Hāʻena.  

 

 
Figure 8. FEMA FIRMETTE Map illustrating the National Flood Hazard Layer ranking for 

the project site as an “Area of Minimal Flood Hazard”. 
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Also, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) NRCS Web Soil Survey (USDA NRCS 2022) and National 
Wetland Inventory (NWI) (USFWS 2023; Cowardin, et al. 1979) were reviewed. We described soil 
characteristics with the aid of Munsell soil color charts (Munsell, 2009). The wetland status of identified 
plants comes from the US Army Corps of Engineers 2020 Wetland Plant List for the State of Hawaiʻi 
(Lichvar, et al. 2020). Sherrod, at al. (2007) illustrate the underlying geology of the area. We referenced 
recent biological surveys Nagata (1991), Guinther and Burr (2008), and Terry and Hart (2009) for 
background on existing vegetation, wetlands, and wildlife. Chipper Wichman provided aerial imagery of 
the parking lot at various times during its improvement. 

Haley & Aldrich biologists John Ford and Taylor Chock conducted field surveys over a four-hour period 
(0900-1300) on January 6, 2023. Weather during the surveys was clear with light wind. We examined 6 
study sites within a project area defined by Hui Maka`āinana o Makana of approximately 1.5 acres within a 
buffer 50-feet around the parking lot margins (Figure 1). This distance represents a minimum setback 
requirement between wetlands and septic systems by the State of Hawaiʻi Department of Health (PBR 
Hawaiʻi and Associates, personal communication). We collected data on vegetation, hydrology and soils 
using Ecobot© software, which collated information in field notes, data forms, and site photographs within 
the 1.5-acre survey area. USACE Wetland Data Forms for the Hawaiʻi and Pacific Islands Region were 
subsequently QA/QC’d using the Ecobot© Desktop Application to insure consistency and accuracy. We 
referred to Erickson and Puttock (2006) as necessary to confirm identification of plant species. Photos of 
each site are in Appendix A. Wetland determination data forms are in Appendix B. We did not find any 
saturated soils, standing, or running water at any of the sample sites.  

Results 

The first soil pit (Hāʻena 1) was placed within the mixed forest 50-feet north of the parking lot in an area of 
octopus tree - UPL, Chinese banyan - FACU, mango - FACU, African tulip trees - FACU, hau - FACW, and 
scattered Java plum - FAC, with an understory and vine strata of pothos (Epipremnum pinnatum) – FAC 
(Photos 1-3). The pit was dug to a depth of 4 inches (21 cm) where we encountered a restrictive layer of 
tree roots, rocks, and gravel.  Surface soils are moist but did not appear saturated and appeared dark with 
a low chroma suggestive of hydric conditions. The soils had no other secondary hydric characteristics. 
There were no secondary indicators of surface or groundwater at this site; however, given the nature of 
the parent soils at this site, we consider these to be hydric. This site did not have a predominance of 
hydrophytic vegetation or indicators of hydrology. 

The second soil pit (Hāʻena 2) was placed within the mixed forest roughly 175 feet towards the northwest 
of Hāʻena 1 (Photos 4-6). The tree stratum at this site was virtually identical to that at Hāʻena 1. Once 
again, the soil pit was dug only to a depth of 7 inches where our spade was refused by tree roots, rocks, 
and gravel.  We did not find saturated soil or free water. The soil here was slightly moist and had no other 
indicators of hydric conditions other than a low chroma. There were no secondary indicators of surface or 
groundwater at this site; however, given the nature of the parent soils at this site, we consider these to be 
hydric. This site did not have a predominance of hydrophytic vegetation or indicators of hydrology. 

A third soil pit (Hāʻena 3) was sited 50-feet from the western end of the parking lot, behind the shuttle 
bus stop in a short, shallow excavated swale (Photos 7-9). Vegetation in the swale was well manicured 
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and low cut to ground level. It was dominated by wedelia (Sphagneticola trilobata) - FAC the sedge 
(Cyperus involucrans) - FACW, partridge pea (Chamaecrista nictitans) - FACU.  Sourbush (Pluchea 
symphytifolia) - UPL, pothos - FAC, hau - FACW, and Java plum - FAC dominated the uncut vegetation on 
the western margin of the swale. Here too we were unable to dig deeper than 3 inches before 
encountering rocks and gravel. No indicators of hydric soils were found other than a relatively low 
chroma. This site had a predominance of hydrophytic vegetation; however, it lacked hydric soils and 
indicators of hydrology.  

Wichman (personal communication) said that the swale was built to convey flood waters away from the 
parking lot; however, he said that it has not carried any flow since its construction in 2019. This 
ephemeral swale (Soil Pits 3, 4, and 5) may be a “non-jurisdictional water” under the definition in 33 
CFR 328.3(b)(3) for ephemeral features including swales, and 33 CFR 328.3(b)(10) stormwater control 
features constructed or excavated in upland or non-jurisdictional waters to convey stormwater runoff. 

A fourth soil pit (Hāʻena 4) was placed in the center of an excavated retention basin that is a companion 
feature of the low swale at Hāʻena 3 (Photos 10-12). The vegetation here had been recently manicured 
and cut to ground level. The ground here is dominated by wedelia - FAC and Desmodium triflorum - FAC. 
The retention basin is bordered by loosely set boulder and cobble riprap that was vegetated by sparsely 
separated ferns and sourbush plants. This site has a predominance of hydrophytic vegetation; however, it 
lacked hydric soils. The site is a constructed retention basin within an ephemeral swale. An irrigation pipe 
carries water to adjacent loʻi to the west of this site has a throw out valve that feeds into the retention 
basin. The valve was closed during our visit.  

A fifth soil pit (Hāʻena 5) was placed in the center cell of a constructed series of small retention basins 
which were designed to carry overflow from Limahuli Stream and Highway 560 around the parking lot 
(Photos 13-15). The ground here is also dominated by wedelia – FAC, plantago (Plantago major), and 
Desmodium triflorum. There was no tree, shrub, or vine stratum here as the area was completely 
manicured to ground level. The soil resembled that seen in the other two pits, with a low chroma but no 
other hydric tendencies. There was no evidence of flooding or standing water at this location and no 
secondary indicators of wetland hydrology. This site was found to have a predominance of hydrophytic 
vegetation; however, it lacked hydric soils. It is a constructed ephemeral swale.   

A sixth soil pit (Hāʻena 6) was sited east of the parking lot at the top of a small hill at an elevation of 
approximately 50 feet. This site was the former location of a designated helicopter landing pad (PBR 
Hawaiʻi and Associates, Inc. 2018) (Photos 16-18). Once again, the vegetation here his mowed to 
ground level and dominated by wedelia - FAC. The eastern edge of the site is bordered by large 
boulders. There is no tree or shrub stratum at the site. Our spade was refused by gravel and rock at a 
depth of 5 inches. Soil here possess a relatively low chroma but has no other indicators of hydric 
conditions. This site has a predominance of hydrophytic vegetation; however, it lacked hydric soils and 
indicators of hydrology. 

Conclusions 

Soil pits 1 and 2 are in a mixed forest (Terry and Hart 2009) dominated by non-native trees and vines. 
Both sites possess hydric soils but lack vegetative and hydrologic indicators of jurisdictional wetlands. 
Sites 3, 4 and 5 are located within an ephemeral swale/flood control feature constructed in 2019 to 
protect the parking lot at Hāʻena State Park from future flood damage. 
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The ephemeral swale (Soil Pits 3, 4, and 5) may be a “non-jurisdictional water” under the definitions in 
33 CFR 328.3(b)(3) for ephemeral features including swales, and 33 CFR 328.3(b)(10) stormwater control 
features constructed or excavated in upland or non-jurisdictional waters to convey stormwater runoff. 
While the underlying soils throughout the project site are classified by the USDA as hydric, shallow soils 
found in four of the six test pits may be mixed with fill material and did not reflect hydric characteristics 
other than having a relatively low chroma. There is a restrictive layer of gravel and rock 3- to 5-inches 
below the surface at each sampling site.  

Our evaluation of existing information along with field data indicates that no jurisdictional wetlands or 
Waters of the United States under the jurisdiction of the Department of the Army (33 CFR 328) are 
found within 50-feet of the paved parking area at Hāʻena State Park. Our findings will need to be verified 
by the Honolulu District U.S. Army Corps of Engineering Regulatory Branch as we believe that the land 
surrounding the parking lot is not regulated under 33 CFR 323-328. A separate "Request for Corps 
Jurisdictional Determination (JD)" form is provided with this report. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at jford@haleyaldrich.com or 808-382-7705 if you have any 
questions or concerns. 

Sincerely yours, 
HALEY & ALDRICH, INC. 

John I. Ford 
Senior Associate 

Attachments: 
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Appendix B: Wetland Determination Data Forms 
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Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 1  

No. Photograph Description 

1 

 

Hāʻena 1: Photo 
showing 
location of 
Hāʻena 1 Soil 
Pit, located 
within mixed 
hau forest. 
Photo taken 
facing north. 

2 

 

Hāʻena 1: Photo 
showing canopy 
of mixed hau 
forest canopy at 
Hāʻena 1 Soil 
Pit. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 2  

No. Photograph Description 

3 

 

Hāʻena 1: Photo 
of groundcover 
at Hāʻena 1 
Mixed Forest 
Soil Pit point. 

4 

 

Hāʻena 2: Photo 
of Hāʻena 2 Soil 
Pit location 
located within 
mixed hau 
forest. Photo 
taken facing 
north.  



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 

3 

No. Photograph Description 

5 Hāʻena 2: Photo 
of Hāʻena 2 Soil 
Pit location 
within mixed 
forest. Photo 
taken facing 
south toward 
the parking lot. 

6 Hāʻena 2: Photo 
of soil at the 
Hāʻena 2 Soil Pit 
mixed forest 
location, 
showing silty 
clay soils. Sand 
here may have 
originated from 
tsunamis in 
1946 and/or 
1957 that 
carried beach 
sand inland for 
a substantial 
distance.  



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 4  

No. Photograph Description 

7 

 

Hāʻena 3: Photo 
showing Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 3 behind 
the shuttle stop 
located within a 
bioswale that 
has not carried 
water since its 
construction in 
2019. Photo 
taken facing 
south. 

8 

 

Hāʻena 3: Photo 
showing Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 3 behind 
the shuttle stop 
showing 
routinely 
cleared 
vegetation.  
Photo taken 
facing north. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 5  

No. Photograph Description 

9 

 

Hāʻena 3: Photo 
of silty clay soil 
at Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 3 behind 
the shuttle stop 
within the 
bioswale. Our 
spade was 
refused at 6 
inches depth by 
gravel and 
rocks. 

10 

 

Hāʻena 4: Soil 
Pit located 
within a 
retention basin 
at the west end 
of the parking 
lot. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 6  

No. Photograph Description 

11 

 

Hāʻena 4: Soil 
Pit located 
within a 
retention basin 
at the west end 
of the parking 
lot. 

12 

 

Hāʻena 4: Photo 
showing silty 
clay at Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 4, within 
the retention 
basin at the 
west end of the 
parking lot. Our 
spade was 
refused at a 
depth of 5 
inches by gravel 
and rock. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 7  

No. Photograph Description 

13 

 

Hāʻena 5: Photo 
showing Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 5 within 
the middle of 
the retention 
basin along the 
south side of 
the parking lot. 
Photo taken 
looking east. 

14 

 

Hāʻena 5: Photo 
showing Soil Pit 
Hāʻena 5 within 
the middle of 
the retention 
basin along the 
south side of 
the parking lot. 
Photo taken 
facing west. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 
 

 8  

No. Photograph Description 

15 

 

Hāʻena 5: Photo 
showing silty 
clay soils at Soil 
Pit Hāʻena 5 
located in the 
middle of the 
retention basin 
on the west side 
of the parking 
lot. Gravel and 
rocks appear at 
the bottom of 
the pit at a 
depth of 3 
inches. 

16 

 

Hāʻena 6: Photo 
taken from the 
Soil Pit Hāʻena 6 
on the elevated 
east end of the 
paved parking 
lot site.  Photo 
taken facing 
south. 



Appendix A: Representative Photographs 

9 

No. Photograph Description 

17 
Hāʻena 6: Photo 
taken from the 
Soil Pit Hāʻena 6 
on the elevated 
east end of the 
paved parking 
lot site.  Photo 
taken facing 
south.  

18 
Hāʻena 6: Photo 
of silty clay at 
Soil Pit site 
taken from the 
elevated east 
end of the 
paved parking 
lot. Our spade 
was refused at a 
depth of 5 
inches by gravel 
and rock.  
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US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):    TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:  NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes              No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 9:30am
Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 1

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Alluvium Undulating

22.2213526 -159.5781954 WGS 84 2
Hanalei Silty Clay (HrB), deep water table PFO3C

✔

✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

30 ft r
Schefflera actinphylla 40 ✔ 1
Ficus microcarpa 20 ✔ FACU
Mangifera indica 15 FACU 2
Spathodea campanulata 15 FACU
Talipariti tiliaceum 10 FACW 50

100%
30 ft r

0 0
10 20
50 150
50 200
0 0

30 ft r 110 370

3.36

30 ft r
Epipremnum pinnatum 50 ✔ FAC

50% ✔



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2     Texture Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 

  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 
Restrictive Layer (if observed): 

Type:  
Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No         

Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)  Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
 Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 

  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)  Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)  FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
 Water Marks (B1) 
 Sediment Deposits (B2) 
 Drift Deposits (B3) 

  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 1

0 3 10YR 2/2 100 10YR 2/2 Silty Clay Depth limited by rocks and tree roots. Low chroma typical of hydric soil. Soils in this layer were moist, but not saturated.

✔

Rocks and roots
3 ✔

Low chroma suggestive of hydric soil. No other indicators in surface soils.

✔

✔

✔ ✔



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):     TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:        NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes              No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 10:00am

Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 2

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Alluvial Undulating

22.2214630 -159.5787666 WGS 84 2
Hanalei Silty Clay (HrB), deep water table PFO3C

✔

✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

30 ft r
Schefflers actinphylla 40 ✔ 1
Ficus microcarpa 20 ✔ FACU
Mangifera indica 15 FACU 2
Spathodea campanulata 15 FACU
Talipariti tiliaceum 10 FACW 50

100%
30 ft r

0 0
10 20
50 150
50 200
0 0

30 ft r 110 370

3.36

30 ft r
Epipremnum pinnatum 50 ✔ FAC

50% ✔



US Army Corps of Engineers        Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2       Texture    Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
  Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
  Black Histic (A3)   Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 
  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
  Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)   Other (Explain in Remarks) 
  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
  Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 
  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Restrictive Layer (if observed): 
     Type:  
     Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No         
Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)   Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
  Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 
  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
  Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
  Water Marks (B1) 
  Sediment Deposits (B2) 
  Drift Deposits (B3) 
  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)   Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 2

0 7 5YR 2.5/2 100 5YR 2.5/2 Silty Clay Depth limited by rocks and tree roots. Soil not saturated. Low chroma typical of hydric soils.

✔

Rocks and roots
7 ✔

Low chroma suggesting hydric soil; however, no evidence of saturation or redox conditions.

✔

✔

✔ ✔



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):    TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:  NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes         No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 10:30am

Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 3

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Bioswale Concave

22.2213163 -159.5790723 WGS 84 2
Hanalei Silty Clay (Hna) None

✔

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

✔ ✔ ✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

Area is excavated swale which has not carried water since construction in 2019.  Vegetation has been mowed to ground level. Soils were significantly disturbed during construction of the parking lot and swale. Shallow 
surface soils have no primary or secondary hydric characteristics other than relatively low chroma. Depth of test pit limited due 3-5 inches due to layer of gravel and rock. This ephemeral swale (Soil Pits 3, 4, and 5) may be 
a "non-jurisdictional water" under the definitions in 33 CFR 328.3(b)(3) for ephemeral features including swales, and 33 CFR 328.3(b)(10) stormwater control features constructed or excavated in upland or non-jurisdictional 
waters to convey stormwater runoff.

30 ft r
Talipariti tiliaceum 30 ✔ FACW 4
Syzygium cumini 10 ✔ FAC

4

100
40%

10 ft r
Pluchea  symphytifolia 2 FAC

0 0
35 70
112 336
5 20

2% 0 0
10 ft r 152 426

Sphagneticola trilobata 90 ✔ FAC
Chamaecrista nictitans 5 FACU 2.80
Cyperus involucratus 5 FACW

✔

100%
10 ft r

Epipremnum pinnatum 10 ✔ FAC

10% ✔

Vegetation is mowed to ground level. Adjacent areas were also included in sample plot to evaluate vegetation. 
Reference was  also made to Terry and Hart (2009) who described the "disturbed" nature of vegetation at the 
parking lot which consisted of primarily UPL and FACU non-native grasses, weeds and shrubs.



US Army Corps of Engineers        Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2       Texture    Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
  Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
  Black Histic (A3)   Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 
  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
  Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)   Other (Explain in Remarks) 
  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
  Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 
  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Restrictive Layer (if observed): 
     Type:  
     Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No         
Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)   Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
  Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 
  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
  Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
  Water Marks (B1) 
  Sediment Deposits (B2) 
  Drift Deposits (B3) 
  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)   Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 3

0 4 2.5Y 2.5/3 100 Silty Clay

Rocks and gravel
4 ✔

Area has been bulldozed and recontoured. No evidence of saturation or redox conditions.

✔

✔

✔ ✔

Point taken behind the shuttle stop within a constructed swale that has not carried water since construction in 2019. Photos of retention basin and swale construction provided in report.



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):    TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:  NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes              No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 11:00am
Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 4

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Drainage Basin Concave

22.2211095 -159.5790636 WGS 84 0
Hanalei Silty Clay (Hna), 0-2%, None

✔

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

✔ ✔ ✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

Constructed to retain floodwaters during creation of parking lot for visitors to the park. Area is the part of an excavated swale which has not carried water since construction in 2019.  Vegetation has been mowed to ground 
level. Soils were significantly disturbed during construction of the parking lot and swale. Shallow surface soils have no primary or secondary hydric characteristics other than relatively low chroma. Depth of test pit limited 
due 3-5 inches due to layer of gravel and rock. This ephemeral swale (Soil Pits 3, 4, and 5) may be a "non-jurisdictional water" under the definitions in 33 CFR 328.3(b)(3) for ephemeral features including swales, and 33 
CFR 328.3(b)(10) stormwater control features constructed or excavated in upland or non-jurisdictional waters to convey stormwater runoff.

30 ft r
2

2

100

10 ft r
Pluchea indica 15 ✔ FAC

0 0
0 0
85 255
0 0

15% 0 0
10 ft r 85 255

Sphagneticola trilobata 70 ✔ FAC
Plantago major FACU 3.00
Chamaesyce prostrata

✔

70%
10 ft r

✔

Vegetation here is mowed to ground level. Wedelia, Pluchea, and ferns are scattered widely around riprap sides of the 
basin. Reference was made to Terry and Hart (2009) who described the "disturbed" nature of vegetation at the parking lot 
which consisted of primarily UPL and FACU non-native grasses, weeds and shrubs.



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2     Texture Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 

  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 
Restrictive Layer (if observed): 

Type:  
Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No        

Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)  Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
 Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 

  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)  Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)  FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
 Water Marks (B1) 
 Sediment Deposits (B2) 
 Drift Deposits (B3) 

  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 4

0 4 2.5YR 2.5/3 100 Sandy Loam

Rocks and gravel
4 ✔

Site is an excavated retention basin that is regularly mowed. It has not held water since its construction in 2019.  NRCS has 
mapped underlying soil as Hanalei silty clay (HnA), 0 to 2 percent slopes, MLRA 167, a hydric soil; however, soils have been 
disturbed by recent grading and our spade was refused just inches in depth due to a layer of rock and gravel.

✔

✔

✔ ✔

Photos of retention basin and swale construction provided in report.

The retention basin has not been flooded since its construction in 2019.



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):    TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:  NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes         No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 11:30am
Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 5

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Toeslope Concave

22.2208404 -159.5785086 WGS 84 2
Hanalei Silty Clay (HrB), 0-2%, deep water table PEM1C

✔

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

✔ ✔ ✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

Bulldozed retention basin that has not been inundated since construction in 2019. Area bulldozed in creation of parking lot for visitors to the park. Lawns is regularly manicured. This 
ephemeral swale (Soil Pits 3, 4, and 5) may be a "non-jurisdictional water" under the definitions in 33 CFR 328.3(b)(3) for ephemeral features including swales, and 33 CFR 328.3(b)(10) 
stormwater control features constructed or excavated in upland or non-jurisdictional waters to convey stormwater runoff.

30 ft r
2

2

100

10 ft r

0 0
0 0
90 270
5 20
0 0

10 ft r 95 290
Sphagneticola trilobata 60 ✔ FAC
Desmodium triflorum 30 ✔ FAC 3.05
Plantago major 5 FACU

✔

95%
10 ft r

✔

Vegetation here is mowed to ground level. Reference was made to Terry and Hart (2009) 
who described the "disturbed" nature of vegetation at the parking lot which consisted of 
primarily UPL and FACU non-native grasses, weeds and shrubs.
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SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2     Texture Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 

  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 
Restrictive Layer (if observed): 

Type:  
Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No        

Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)  Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
 Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 

  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)  Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)  FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
 Water Marks (B1) 
 Sediment Deposits (B2) 
 Drift Deposits (B3) 

  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 5

0 4 5YR 3/3 100 Sandy Loam Disturbed by excavation. Well aerated.

Gravel and rocks
4 ✔

NRCS maps soils here as Hanalei Silty Clay (HrB), 0-2%, deep water table (hydric). Site has been bulldozed to 
create a series of small retention basins to capture flood flows from Limahuli Stream; however, it has not been 
inundated since its construction in 2019. Depth of test pit limited to just inches by a layer of rock and gravel.

✔

✔

✔ ✔

Photos of retention basin and swale construction provided in report.

Excavated swale not inundated since construction in 2019.



US Army Corps of Engineers  Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region –Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Hawai‘i and Pacific Islands Region 

Project/Site:   City:           Sampling Date:   Time:  

Applicant/Owner:   State/Terr/Comlth.:  Island:            Sampling Point: 

Investigator(s):    TMK/Parcel: 

Landform (hillslope, coastal plain, etc.):   Local relief (concave, convex, none):  

Lat:                                                                        Long:   Datum:   Slope (%): 

Soil Map Unit Name:  NWI classification:  

Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes   No               (If no, explain in Remarks.)  

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   significantly disturbed?            Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes      No 

Are Vegetation            , Soil  , or Hydrology   naturally problematic?             (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes    No   
Hydric Soil Present?  Yes    No  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes    No  

Is the Sampled Area 
within a Wetland?      Yes     No  

Remarks: 

VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 
Absolute    Dominant  Indicator 

Tree Stratum   (Plot size:  )         % Cover    Species?    Status   
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum  (Plot size:     ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  

 = Total Cover 
Herb Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.  
6.
7.  
8.  

 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum  (Plot size:  ) 
1.
2.  

 = Total Cover 

Dominance Test worksheet: 
Number of Dominant Species   
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A) 

Total Number of Dominant   
Species Across All Strata:   (B) 

Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC:  (A/B) 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
       Total % Cover of:            Multiply by: 
OBL species  x 1 = 
FACW species  x 2 = 
FAC species    x 3 = 
FACU species  x 4 = 
UPL species    x 5 = 
Column Totals:   (A) (B)

         Prevalence Index  = B/A =   
Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

  1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
  2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
  3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 
  Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain in 

          Remarks or in the delineation report) 

1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present?                 Yes         No 

Remarks: 

Haena Wetland Mapping Haena 2023-01-06 12:00pm

Hui Maka'ainana o Makana Hawaii Kauai Haena 6

John Ford and Taylor Chock (4) 5-9-008:001
Toeslope Convex

22.2208582 -159.5779027 WGS 84 0
Hanalei Silty Clay (Hrb), 0-2 %, deep water table None

✔

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

✔ ✔ ✔

✔

✔ ✔
✔

Area bulldozed in creation of parking lot for visitors to the park. Lawns is regularly manicured.

30 ft r
1

1

100

10 ft r

0 0
0 0
80 240
0 0
0 0

10 ft r 80 240
Sphagneticola trilobata 80 ✔ FAC

3.00

✔

80%
10 ft r

✔

Vegetation here is mowed to ground level. Reference was made to Terry and Hart (2009) 
who described the "disturbed" vegetation at the parking lot.
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SOIL Sampling Point:  

Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.) 
 Depth  Matrix Redox Features 
 (inches)          Color (moist)         %          Color (moist)         %         Type1       Loc2     Texture Remarks 

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, MS=Masked Sand Grains. 2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix. 
Hydric Soil Indicators: Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 

  Histosol (A1)   Sandy Redox (S5)   Stratified Layers (A5) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)   Dark Surface (S7)   Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)   Red Parent Material (F21) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)   Depleted Matrix (F3)   Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Muck Presence (A8)   Redox Dark Surface (F6)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

  Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)   Depleted Dark Surface (F7)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)   Redox Depressions (F8)                    3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology 

  Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) must be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 
Restrictive Layer (if observed): 

Type:  
Depth (inches):  Hydric Soil Present?     Yes            No        

Remarks: 

HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators:  (Explain observations in Remarks, if needed.)
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)           Secondary Indicators (minimum of two required) 

  Aquatic Fauna (B13)  Surface Soil Cracks (B6) 
 Tilapia Nests (B17)   Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) 

  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Oxidized Rhizospheres on Living Roots (C3)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 

  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)  Salt Deposits (C5) 
  Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)   Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
  Thin Muck Surface (C7)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 
  Fiddler Crab Burrows (C10) (Guam, CNMI,   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

         and American Samoa)  FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

  Surface Water (A1) 
  High Water Table (A2) 
  Saturation (A3) 
 Water Marks (B1) 
 Sediment Deposits (B2) 
 Drift Deposits (B3) 

  Algal Mat or Crust (B4) 
  Iron Deposits (B5) 
  Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery 
(B7)   Water-Stained Leaves (B9)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 

Field Observations: 
Surface Water Present? Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Water Table Present?  Yes             No     Depth (inches):
Saturation Present?    Yes             No     Depth (inches):
(includes capillary fringe) 

Wetland Hydrology Present?    Yes                 No             

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

__

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Haena 6

0 5 5YR 3/3 100 Sandy Loam Area was excavated and recontoured in 2019 for parking lot construction.

Gravel and rocks
5 ✔

Surface soil is underlain with rock and gravel. Sample site is located at the top of a slope 
above parking lot. NRCS has mapped the area as Hanalei Silty Clay (HrB), 0-2%, deep water 
table (hydric).

✔

✔

✔ ✔

Area is located on high ground roughly 10 feet above the elevation of the parking lot.



































Farm Worker Housing 

Summery for amendment to farm worker housing 

In January 28th, 2020 the planning commission approved the permit to build a small 
farm worker house of 1200 sq ft. Class IV Zoning permit Z-IV-2020-7, use permit U-
2020-6 Tax Map Key: 4-4-9-009: 012, Unit 071 Anahola, HI. Farm worker housing 
can consist of a total of 1800 sq ft. One 1800 sq ft house or one 1200 sq ft house and 
a 600 sq ft house, or three 600 sq ft houses. I chose to build a 1200 sq ft house for to 
be eligible for the entire 1800 sq ft house you need to have a certain amount of farm 
income. At the time I was only eligible for the 1200 sq ft house. I am now 
submitting two years of taxes to demonstrate that I now qualify to build the 
additional 600 sq ft house. I am requesting an amendment to this existing project. 
The farm is still dedicated to agricultural use, we have been busy planting, 
harvesting and providing the community with. food. 

I am including the entire farm worker housing application that was submitted in 
2020 for your information and reference. It is a lengthy application that goes over 
in great detail the entire farming operation and demonstrates the need for farm 
worker housing. The proposed 600sq ft house is compliant with all land use 
designations and regulations of the county and state. Farm Worker housing is in 
compliance with the updated Kauai General Plan in spirit and in literal wording. 
Farm worker housing helps with the economy by strengthening agriculture, 
providing food security and desperately needed affordable housing. Farm worker 
housing is a win-win for the county of Kauai and the people of Kauai. Farm worker 
housing helps the farmers feed the people of Kauai healthy organic and nutritious 
food, while building a strong and sustainable community. 

Mahalo, 
Joseph Schwartz 

H.1.
October 10, 2023
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